UNIVERSITY OF STRATHCLYDE Department of Electronic and Electrical Engineering

Enhancing Transient Performance of Microgeneration-dense Low Voltage Distribution Networks

By Abdullah EMHEMED

A thesis presented in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2010

This thesis is the result of the author's original research. It has been composed by the author and has not been previously submitted for examination which has led to the award of a degree.

The copyright of this thesis belongs to the author under the terms of the United Kingdom Copyright Acts as qualified by the University of Strathclyde Regulation 3.50. Due acknowledgment must always be made of the use of any material contained, or derived from this thesis.

Acknowledgement

Millions of thanks to my great supervisor Professor Graeme Burt will not be enough for his incredible support and encouragement by providing very significant academic guidance and resources for my work as well as his social support which was the soul that helped me to conduct this research. I also would like to thank my great mother and father and my big and small family my wife and my son Abdusalam who all supported me during my study. I would like to say thank you to all my colleagues for their friendship and providing a good cooperative work environment

I would also like to thank Dr Abdullah Othman who has always been as a good supporter to me and after god he was the reason that brought me to the UK. I still remember his words to me in 2002 "you would be a doctor one day just be patient and keep working hard and you would reach your goals". Thanks to Mr Salem and Ibrahim Emhemed and Yousef Mohamed who have always been as good brothers and given me great support during my under and post-graduate degrees. Thanks to my uncle Abdullah for his significant support to my family in Libya during my stay in the UK.

I extend my gratitude to Dr Ivana who has helped me with this research and to the Libyan Cultural Affairs in London for supporting me during this research. In particular I would like to thank Mr Hammed Massoud the previous head of the Libyan Cultural Affairs in London and Dr Saad Menna the current head of the Libyan Cultural Affairs in London very much for their help to support this work.

ABSRACT

In addition to other measures such as energy saving, the adoption of microgeneration driven by renewable and low carbon energy resources is expected to have the potential to reduce losses associated with producing and delivering electricity, combat climate change and fuel poverty, and improve the overall system performance. However, incorporating a substantial volume of microgeneration within a system that is not designed for such a paradigm could lead to conflicts in the operating strategies of the new and existing centralised generation technologies. So it becomes vital for such substantial amounts of microgeneration among other decentralised resources to be controlled in the way that local constraints are mitigated and their aggregated response supports the wider system. In addition, the characteristic behaviour of connected microgeneration requires to be understood under different system conditions to ascertain measures of risk and resilience, and to ensure the benefits of microgeneration to be delivered.

Therefore, this thesis provides three main valuable contributions to future attainment of sustainable power systems. Firstly, a new conceptual control structure for a system incorporating a high penetration of microgeneration and dynamic load is developed. Secondly, the resilience level of the host distribution network as well as the resilience levels of microgeneration during large transient disturbances is evaluated and quantified. Thirdly, a technical solution that can support enhanced transient stability of a large penetration of LV connected microgeneration is introduced and demonstrated.

A control system structure concept based on "a cell concept" is introduced to manage the spread of heavy volumes of distributed energy resources (DERs) including microgeneration such that the useful features of DER units in support of the wider system can be exploited, and the threats to system performance presented by significant connection of passive and unpredictable DERs can be mitigated. The structure also provides simpler and better coordinated communication with DERs by allowing the inputs from DERs and groups of cells to be transferred as collective actions when it moves from a local to a wider system level. The anticipated transient performance problems surrounding the integration of microgeneration on a large basis within a typical urban distribution network are addressed. Three areas of studies are tackled; the increased fault level due to the presence of microgeneration, the collective impact of LV connected microgeneration on traditional LV protection performance, and the system fault ride through capabilities of LV connected microgeneration interfaced by different technologies. The possible local impacts of unnecessary disconnection of large amount of microgeneration on the performance of the host distribution network are also quantified.

The thesis proposes a network solution based on using resistive-type superconducting fault current limiters (RSFCLs) to prevent the impact of local transient disturbances from expanding and enhance the fault ride through capabilities of a high penetration of microgeneration connected to low voltage distribution networks. A new mathematical approach is developed within the thesis to identify at which condition RSFCL can be used as a significant device to maintain the transient stability of large numbers of LV connected microgeneration. The approach is based on equation solution to determine the minimum required value of the resistive element of RSFCL to maintain microgeneration transient stability, and at the same time additional headroom against switchgear short-circuit ratings is provided. Remote disturbances or a failure to clear remote faults quickly are shown to no longer result in complete unnecessary disconnection of substantial amounts of microgeneration.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgement

Contents

Abstract

List of symbols	I
List of abbreviations	II
List of figures	III
Lis of tables	X

Chapter one: Introduction

1.1	Background	.1
1.2	Summary of the thesis main contributions	.8
1.3	Thesis layout	. 10
1.4	List of Publications	.12
1.5	Chapter References	.14

Chapter two: Moving towards decentralised power systems

2.1	Intro	duction	17
2.2	Trad	litional power systems	17
	2.2.1	Characteristics of traditional power system	19
	2.2.2	Challenges and issues facing traditional power systems	
2.3	Futu	re changes in electric power systems	27
	2.3.1	Distributed Generation	27
	2.3.2	Local demand and deployment of smart meter	
	2.3.3	Transport sector	
	2.3.4	Policy objectives	
	2.3.5	Future looking network scenarios	
	2.3.6	Potential impacts of future changes in current power systems	
	2.3.7	Different visions of future decentralised power systems	
2.4	HDF	PS Cell concept	45
	2.4.1	HDPS Cell definition	46
	2.4.2	HDPS Cell objectives	

	2.4.3	Control structure of cells
2.5	Pote	ntial technical impacts of LV-connected microgeneration53
	2.5.1	Fault level issues
	2.5.2	Protection issues
	2.5.3	Microgeneration transient stability issue
2.6	Com	puter simulation programme used for thesis studies63
2.7	Test	network selection
2.8	Chap	oter summary
2.9	Chap	oter References
Cha	pter th	ree: Fault level analysis of distribution networks incorporated with a
	_	high penetration of LV connected microgeneration
3.1		duction
3.2		ors impacting distribution networks fault levels
3.3	Test	network and modelling approach
	3.3.1	The grid source model
	3.3.2	33/11kV primary distribution substation
	3.3.3	Medium voltages distribution network feeders
	3.3.4	11/0.4kV secondary substation
	3.3.5	Low voltages distribution network feeders
	3.3.6	The demand model87
3.4	Simu	lation of LV connected Microgeneration
3.5	Faul	t level studies
	3.5.1	Fault level at the secondary of the LV substation (0.4kV)
	3.5.2	Fault level at the secondary of the MV substation (11kV bus)101
3.6	Chap	oter summary106
3.7	Chap	oter References 109
Cab	ntor f	were The impact of a high ponetration of LV connected microgeneration
Can	ipter 10	our: The impact of a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration
A 1	T 4	on the protection performance of LV distribution networks
4.1	intro	duction

4.2 Requirements of Electric Power System Protection Schemes......111

4.3	Prote	ection of low voltage distribution networks	
	4.3.1	Principles of fuse operation	114
	4.3.2	Fuse-fuse co-ordination	115
4.4	LV	protection issues due to a high penetration of LV	connected
	micr	rogeneration	116
	4.4.1	Reduction in the reach	118
	4.4.2	Unnecessary tripping due to reverse fault current	
4.5	Case	e study	119
	4.5.1	Fuse model	119
	4.5.2	Protection studies	122
4.6	Chap	pter summary	
4.7	7 Chapter references		

Capter five: Transient Performance Analysis of LV Connected Microgeneration

5.1	Introduction		
5.2	2 Transient stability of a traditional power system overview		
5.3	Microgeneration transient stability issue		
5.4	4 Transient models		
	5.4.1	Test Network	145
	5.4.2	Demand model	146
	5.4.3	Microgenerators Model	148
5.5	Tran	sient studies	157
	5.5.1	Fault studies	157
	5.5.2	Simultaneous microgeneration disconnection and reconnection studies	179
5.6	Chap	pter summary	187
5.7	7 Chapter References		

Chaj	pter six: Analysis of Transient Performance Enhancement of LV Connected
	Microgeneration by Using Resistive-Type Fault Current Limiters
6.1	Introduction193
6.2	Supporting transient performance of LV distribution networks incorporating a
	high penetration of microgeneration

6.2.1 Examples of measures for transient performance improvement195
6.2.2 Using SFCL for improving the transient performance of active
distribution networks
6.3 The principles of RSFCL supporting microgeneration fault ride through 199
6.4 Practical locations of RSFCL in the distribution networks
6.5 Theoretical analysis of microgeneration transient stability enhancement using
RSFCL
6.6 RSFCL application for distribution systems transient
6.7 RSFCL Model
6.8 Transient studies
6.8.1 RSFCL Response during fault on MV circuit
6.8.2 Impact of RSFCL on LV-Connected Microgeneration Transient
Stability
6.8.3 The significance of Rfclmin value on the transient stability of LV
connected microgeneration
6.8.4 Evaluation of the proposed analytical method to calculate $R_{fcl \min}$ 231
6.9 Balancing the benefits of using RSFCLs and the added cost
6.10 Chapter summary
6.11 Chapter References
Chapter seven: Conclusions and future work
7.1 Conclusions
7.2 Future work
Appendix A: The parameters of 28kVA 3-phase synchronous generator
Appendix B: Transient model details of single-phase induction machine
Appendix C: Transient parameters of single-phase induction machines 262
Appendix D: Steady state model of single-phase induction machines
Appendix E: Steady state and transient parameters of single-phase induction
machines with different ratings
Appendix F: Derivative of the mathematical approach to identify the values of R_{fclmin} 266

List of symbols

List of symbols	
I_{mf}	The peak value of the ac short circuit current
I_{ms}	The steady state fault current
α	The initial system voltage angle
θ'	The impedance angle prior to the short circuit
$\theta_{\mathbf{v}}$	The short circuit impedance angle
X_{l} R	The reactance between the sources and the fault point The resistance between the sources and the fault point
π τ	The decay time constant of the DC component
Ċ	The voltage correction factor
X_d	The transient impedance
X_{d}	The steady state impedance
Z_s	Equivalent short circuit impedance
R_s	Resistance of the grid source
X_{s}	Reactance of the grid source
P_L	The load real power
P_o	The rated real power per phase
V_L	The load voltage
V_o	The rated load voltage (RMS, L-G)
a	The voltage index for real power
K_{pf}	The frequency index for real power
$Q_{\scriptscriptstyle L}$	The equivalent load reactive power
\mathcal{Q}_o	The rated reactive power per phase
b	The voltage index for reactive power
K_{qf}	The frequency index for reactive power
Δf	The frequency deviation $(f - f_o)$
f	The measured frequency
f_o	The reference frequency (i.e. 50Hz)
ω_r	The asynchronous machine rotor angular velocity (rad/s)
\mathcal{O}_s	The stator angular velocity (rad/s)
S	The per unit slip speed of a asynchronous machine rotor
Ψ	The flux linking of the winding indicated by subscript
R_s	The stator phase resistance of asynchronous machine
р	The differential operator d/dt

V_{s}	The single phase ac source
R_m, R_a	The main and auxiliary resistances
X_m, X_a	The main and auxiliary reactances
i _m	The current in the main winding
i _a	The current in the auxiliary windings
N N	The ratio of the number of the auxiliary/main turns
V_{ds}, V_{dr}	d-axis stator and rotor voltages
V_{qs}, V_{qr}	q-axis stator and rotor voltages
R_{ms}, R_{as}	main winding and auxiliary winding stator resistance
R_{ms}, R_{as} R_{mr}, R_{ar}	main winding and auxiliary winding rotor resistance
$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{ds}, \boldsymbol{\psi}_{dr}$	d-axis stator and rotor flux linkage components
$oldsymbol{\psi}_{qs}$, $oldsymbol{\psi}_{qr}$	q-axis stator and rotor flux linkage components
ω_r	electrical angular velocity
P	The air density
A V	The area swept by the propellers The average wind speed
v Rfcl	The FCL resistance
Vs	The system RMS voltage
ΔT	The maximum permissible temperature rise
Δt	The fault duration
ρ , <i>th</i> , and <i>w</i>	The resistivity, thickness and width of the superconductor
Ср	The effective specific heat of the superconductor
Vg	The grid voltage
Vth Rg, Xg	The retained voltage at the microgeneration terminals The resistance and the reactance of the grid source
Rg, Xg Rfcl	The developed resistance of the fault current limiter
R_{fclmin}	The minimum value of the resistance element of RSFCL
T_e	The developed electrical machine torque
T_m	The mechanical torque
S _{cr}	Maximum slip (i.e. critical slip)
X_m	The machine magnetization reactance
$T_d^{"}$	Sub-transient time constant
$T_{d}^{'}$	Transient time constant
T_a	The periodic time constant
$T_s^{"}$	The sub-transient stator time constant
σ	The total leakage coeffieceint
$T_r^{"}$	The sub-transient rotor time constant

AC	Advisory Council of the technology platform for the
	electricity Networks of the future in Europe
BERR	Department for Business Enterprise & Regulatory Reform
CHP	Combined Heat and Power
DECC	The UK Department of Energy and Climate Change
DTI	the Department of Trade and Industry of the UK
DG	Distributed Generation
DOE	Department of Energy of US
DSM	Demand side management
DLTDS	Distribution long term development statement
ETP	the European Technology Platform
EC	European Commission
EHV	Extremely High Voltage
EIA	the Energy Information Administration US
ETS	Emissions Trading Schemes
ETP	European Technology Platform Smart Grids
FCL	Fault Current Limiter
FiT	Feed-in Tariffs
GSP	Grid Supply Point
GHG	Greenhouse gas
HDPS	Highly Distributed Power Systems
HV	High Voltage
IEC	the International Electrotechnical Commission
IEA	International Energy Agency
IPRI	the Electric Power Research Institute
LV	Low voltage
MV	Medium Voltage
OC	Over Current
PV	Photovoltaic
PCC	the Point of Common Coupling
RSFCL	Resistive Superconducting Fault Current Limiter
RPS	The Renewable Portfolio Standards
RMU	Ring Main Units
RES	Renewable Energy Sources
SFCL	Superconducting Fault Current Limiter
TSO	Transmission System Operator
UKGDS	UK generic distribution system

List of figures

Figure 2- 1: Traditional power system networks
Figure 2- 2: Cascading tripping in US/Canada transmission lines systems in 2003
[2.24]
Figure 2- 3: Frequency profile during Italy 2003 blackout [2.26]25
Figure 2- 4: Frequency response following loss of generation during May 27th 2008
UK partial blackout [2.28]
Figure 2- 5: Moving towards HDPS
Figure 2- 6: 60kV Danish Cell with main cell controller [2.67]46
Figure 2- 7: Cell structure examples for urban networks
Figure 2- 8: Structure of control levels of HDPS cell concept
Figure 3- 1: An asymmetrical fault profile
Figure 3- 2: Fault current sources
Figure 3- 3: Short circuit contribution from synchronous and induction machine
machines during 3-phase bolted fault [3.14]82
Figure 3- 4: A typical HV-LV urban distribution network
Figure 3- 5: Detailed LV cell (Cell A)
Figure 3- 6: Detailed 0.4kV feeder
Figure 3- 7: Fault contribution from LV connected microgeneration to 3-phase-to
earth fault at the beginning of the LV feeder
Figure 3- 8: Aggregated microgeneration connected to the LV secondary substation.90
Figure 3- 9: Test urban network example
Figure 3- 10: The fault level at 0.4kV bus with and without the connection of
domestic size microgeneration
Figure 3- 11: The fault level at 0.4kV bus with and without the connection of 16.5kVA
commercial size microgeneration
Figure 3- 12: The fault level at 0.4kV bus with and without the connection of
30kVA commercial size microgeneration
Figure 3- 13: The fault level at 11kV bus with and without the connection of
different penetration of domestic size microgeneration102
Figure 3- 14: The fault level at 11kV bus with and without the connection of
16.5kVA commercial size microgeneration104

Figure 3- 15: The fault level at 11kV bus with and without the connection of
30kVA commercial size microgeneration
Figure 4- 1: Low voltage feeder protected by two fuses
Figure 4-2 : Time/current characteristics of two fuses protecting the same feeder116
Figure 4- 3: Impact of LV connected microgeneration on the reach of the main LV
feeder protection
Figure 4- 4: Impact of the LV connected microgeneration on LV protection
performance during a fault on adjacent feeder
Figure 4- 5: PSCAD/EMTDC developed fuse model120
Figure 4- 6: Low voltage fuse specification [4.12]121
Figure 4- 7: Withstand capacity of most common fuses used for LV protection
[4.12]
Figure 4- 8: Faulted LV distribution network feeder integrated with a high
penetration of microgeneration123
Figure 4- 9: Downstream fault current cleared by upstream fuse
Figure 4- 10: Downstream fault current with the impact of 100% penetration of
microgeneration
Figure 4- 11: reverse fault current provided by local microgeneration to feed an
adjacent fault126
Figure 4- 12: The fault contribution from the grid and from an LV feeder connected
microgeneration126
Figure 4- 13: Test LV distribution system with two LV feeders configuration 127
Figure 4- 13: Test LV distribution system with two LV feeders configuration 127 Figure 4- 14: RMS value of the reverse fault current provided by LV feeder
Figure 4- 14: RMS value of the reverse fault current provided by LV feeder
Figure 4- 14: RMS value of the reverse fault current provided by LV feeder connected microgeneration
Figure 4- 14: RMS value of the reverse fault current provided by LV feeder connected microgeneration
Figure 4- 14: RMS value of the reverse fault current provided by LV feeder connected microgeneration
Figure 4- 14: RMS value of the reverse fault current provided by LV feeder connected microgeneration
Figure 4- 14: RMS value of the reverse fault current provided by LV feeder connected microgeneration
Figure 4- 14: RMS value of the reverse fault current provided by LV feeder connected microgeneration

Figure 5- 8: q-axis (main windings)154
Figure 5- 9: d-axis (auxiliary windings)
Figure 5- 10: (a) PSCAD single-phase induction machine model
156
Figure 5- 11: The transient performance of 28kVA three-phase synch machine
during local three-phase fault (a) machine angle, (b) shaft speed & (c)
terminal voltage159
Figure 5- 12: The transient performance of 28kVA three-phase synch machine
during an adjacent three-phase fault (a) machine angle, (b) shaft speed
& (c) terminal voltage161
Figure 5- 13: The transient performance of 28kVA three-phase synch machine
during MV transformer terminal fault - (a) machine angle, (b) shaft
speed & (c) terminal voltage163
Figure 5- 14: The transient performance of 28kVA three-phase synch machine
during remote MV fault - (a) machine angle & (b) terminal voltage 164
Figure 5- 15: The transient performance of 1kVA single-phase induction generator
during and after a local fault: the real output power during stable and
unstable operation after the fault166
Figure 5- 16: The electromagnetic developed torque of 1kVA single-phase
induction generator during stable and unstable operation
Figure 5- 17: 1kVA single-phase induction generator rotor performance: (a) the
machine slip during stable and unstable operation & (b) the machine
speed during stable and unstable operation
Figure 5- 18: The real and reactive output power of 1.5kVA single-phase induction
generator during stable and unstable operation
Figure 5- 19: The electromagnetic developed torque of 1.5kVA single-phase
induction generator during stable and unstable operation
Figure 5- 20: 1.5kVA single-phase induction generator rotor performance: (a) the
machine slip during stable and unstable operation & (b) the machine
speed during stable and unstable operation
Figure 5- 21: The machine terminal voltage response during adjacent fault170

- Figure 5- 28: The single-phase induction generator rotor stable and unstable performance during the fault at MV bus: (a) the 1kVA machine slip response & (b) the 1.5kVA machine slip response......176

- Figure 5- 32: The single-phase induction generator rotor stable and unstable performance during the fault at remote location on MV circuit: (a) the 1kVA machine slip response & (b) the 1kVA machine speed response. 178

Figure	5- 33:	The	RMS	voltage	unbalance	at the	PCC	between	phase	C and o	other
	t	wo pl	hases	A and B							181

Figure	5-	35:	The	impact	of	simu	ltaneou	s r	econ	nection	of	large	amo	unt	of
		mi	croge	eneration	to	one	phase	of	the	voltage	pe	rforma	ince	at	LV
		su	bstati	on: (a) th	ne ir	npact	on the	RM	S vo	ltages					183

- Figure 6-1: SFCL is in series with grid-connected distributed generator...... 201
- Figure 6- 2: SFCL in series with the substation transformer......201

- Figure 6-7: The equivalent circuit of the faulted network with inclusion of RSFCL..207

- Figure 6-10: The impact of RSFCL on the stability margin of induction generator... 211

Figure 6- 11: Simplified circuit diagram of an induction machine connected to the
grid213
Figure 6- 12: Test network 2 incorporated with RSFCL 218
Figure 6- 13: Resistive-type superconducting fault current limiter model
Figure 6- 14: The Resistive SFCL characteristics during the fault [6.30]220
Figure 6- 15: Fault currents with and without the inclusion of RSFCL 221
Figure 6- 16: The transient performance of grid-excited 1.5kVA 1-phase induction
generator with and without using RSFCL
Figure 6- 17: Different Resistance time curves of RSFCL during fault
condition
Figure 6- 18: The terminal voltages of grid-excited 1.5kVA 1-phase induction
generator impacted by remote fault on MV circuit
Figure 6- 19: The transient performance of grid-excited 1.5kVA 1-phase induction
generator with and without using RSFCL
Figure 6- 20: The transient performance of grid-excited 1kVA 1-phase induction
generator with and without using RSFCL: (a) the real power output, &
(b) the slip of the machine
Figure 6- 21: The transient performance of grid-excited 700W 1-phase induction
generator with and without using RSFCL:
Figure 6- 22: The transient performance of grid-excited 1.1kW 1-phase induction
generator with and without using RSFCL
Figure 6- 23: RSFCL added to two systems with different characteristics
Figure 6- 24: The impact of different source impedances of different distribution
networks on the value of $R_{fcl\min}$
Figure 6-25: The impact of the changes in the parameters Xs & Xr on the R_{fclmin} 235

List of tables

Table 1: The global carbon reduction targets
Table 2: Comparison between traditional grid and the modern grid vision in the
U.S. [2.61]
Table 3: Parameters represent grid source
Table 4: Parameters of a standard 33/11kV transformer
Table 5: Parameters of 11kV cable
Table 6: Parameters of 11/0.4kV transformer
Table 7: Parameters of 0.4kV cables
Table 8: Performance data of 16.5 and 30kVA three-phase generators [3.20]
Table 9: The contribution from domestic size LV connected microgeneration with
different penetration to the fault level for 3-phase fault at 0.4kV bus94
Table 10: The contribution from 16.5kVA commercial size LV connected
microgeneration with different penetration to the fault level for a 3-phase
fault at 0.4kV bus
Table 11: The contribution from 30kVA commercial size LV connected
microgeneration with different penetration to the fault level for a 3-phase
fault at 0.4kV bus
Table 12: The contribution from domestic size LV connected microgeneration with
different penetration to the fault level for 3-phase fault at 11kV bus102
Table 13: The contribution from 16.5kVA commercial size LV connected
microgeneration with different penetration to 3-phase fault at 11kV bus103
Table 14: The contribution from 30kVA commercial size LV connected
microgeneration with different penetration to the fault level for a 3-phase
fault at 11kV bus
Table 15: Protection issues caused by a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration
Table 16: Different RSFCL locations added to MV distribution networks
Table 17: The required value of R_{fclmin} of RSFCL for transient stability of each
machine to be maintained
Table 18: Actual values of different source impedances of different 11kV substation
and the calculated values of the R_{fclmin}

Table 19: The impact of the change in the stator resistance on the value of $R_{fclmin} \dots 234$
Table 20: The impact of the change in the stator reactance on the value of $R_{fcl \min} \dots 234$
Table 21: The minimum required values of $R_{fc/min}$ to maintain the stability of LV
connected 1-phase induction microgenerators
Table 22: The impedances and time constants parameters of 28kVA 3-phase
synchronous generator
Table 23: AC1A Exciter Parameters257Table 24: Woodward governor parameters257
Table 24: Woodward governor parameters
Table 25: Tranient stability data of 1kVA and 5kVA single-phase induction
machines
Table 26: Steady state data of numbers of single-phase induction generators with
different ratings used for calculating $R_{fcl \min}$ from equation (51)
Table 27: Transient data of numbers of single-phase induction generators with

different ratings used with transient simulation studies to identify $R_{fcl \min}$ 265

Chapter One: Introduction

1.1 Background

Traditional power systems are undergoing a significant transformation and face numbers of issues such as; the possible rapid increase in the global demand where the demand is expected to reach 60% increase in the next 30 years compared to the current demand [1.1], the international growing awareness of the environmental impacts due to large-scale thermal generating plants, and the international concern over the limitation of global primary energy sources. It is expected that the remaining recoverable oil resources for example will represent only 60 years of production according to the World Energy Technology Outlook- 2050 [1.1][1.2]. In addition to these issues, there is also an increasing attention on reliability and security of power systems to minimise the frequent of the recent major blackouts occurred at different parts of the world in the last decade while dealing with aging infrastructure [1.3][1.4][1.5].

To deal with such challenges, traditional power systems would expect to experience numbers of changes. The major aspects that may influence the shape of the changes are: the connection of renewable and low carbon sources to the existing power systems, and the deployment of efficiency measures within the systems for saving energy. For example, it is expected that a wider usage of renewable and low carbon energy generation can be integrated at distribution networks and at electricity use points in order to reduce the reliance upon the large power plants, providing more reserve capacity, and potentially reducing carbon emission and providing some ancillary services that can support the system. Also the level of improving the efficiency across all power system sectors including production, transmission, distribution, and consumption may be required so losses can be reduced and saving in energy can be obtained [1.1].

In addition, at consumers' points, the change in the load response from only passive to more active, the connection of small scale embedded resources such as microgeneration, and carbon-lean transportation could limit the energy waste and provide a significant efficiency improvement [1.6]. Also the heat generated by decentralised electricity production can be used for space and water heating [1.6]. The potential exists for plug-in Electric Vehicles to offer spinning reserves and some other ancillary services [1.7].

Significant international attention has been given to setting targets to provide a significant amount of the electricity generation from renewable and highly efficient energy sources. For example, the UK and other European governments have set a demanding target to provide considerable amount of their electricity consumption from such forms of energy sources [1.8][1.9]. In addition the renewable portfolio standards (RPS) which is provided by the US Environmental Protection Agency have established requirements for electric utilities and other retail electric providers to serve a specified minimum percentage or absolute amount of customer consumption with eligible sources of renewable electricity [1.10].

The EU has set a target to make the share of renewable energy sources (RES) to provide EU electricity to reach 20% of energy in 2020 and 60% by 2050, and this was already adopted by the EU's climate change legislation in December 2008 [1.11][1.12]. Alongside the EU, the UK government has set mid and long-term national targets which aim to cut CO2 emissions by 26% by 2020 and up to 80% by 2050 compared to 1990 levels, and renewable and low carbon energy sources are expected to significantly contribute to meet these targets [1.13][1.14]. According to the UK Renewable Energy Strategy report which was published in July 2009 by the UK Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) [1.15], the UK needs to meet 15% of its total energy by RES by 2020 to meet the country 2020 target of carbon reduction. For long term, the study commissioned by the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) of the UK from the Energy Saving Trust has suggested that 30-40% of the UK's electricity demands should be met through microgeneration technologies connected to distribution networks by 2050 to meet the UK's 2050 target [1.16].

However, existing distribution power systems are designed and viewed as a passive portion of the grid system with very limited automation and controllability especially at lower voltages. So far, their main task has been to deliver the available electricity from the generation and transmission systems to the electricity users without expecting any reverse power flow and participation from the users to the system operation. Therefore, increasing the volume of connected microgeneration and increased deployment of energy efficiency measures which can be called distributed energy resources (DERs) to curb carbon emissions and conserve energy resources, will change the reaction of the distribution systems to the wider system, and hence impact the operational structure of the traditional power systems. The system generation capacity will comprise of centralised generation and high densities of distributed generation including microgeneration. A new picture of many active loads supplied by many sources (i.e. including centralised and decentralised generation) will emerge, in contrast to the traditional systems with many passive loads supplied by few sources.

New decentralised generation such as microgeneration which are normally consumer-led rather than centrally planned, may lead to conflicts in the operating strategies of the new and existing centralised generation technologies. For example, exporting power from the distribution to the transmission system may result in the transmission system operators having less control of generation dispatch when the export is taking place. Therefore, it becomes vital for substantial amounts of microgeneration among other decentralised resources to be controlled in the way they will benefit the consumers and their aggregated response will support the wider system. This may require a rethink of a new system structure and operation strategies that would facilitate the transition from the conventional power systems to more efficient highly distributed power systems which are composed of many sources supplying many active loads.

There are numbers of visions that have been developed recently to describe the future changes in power systems, and facilitate the transformation to more decentralised power systems that can perform better. One example is the "IntelliGrid" vision which has been created by the Electric Power Research Institute's (EPRI's) for future North America power grids to support the 21st century economy in the state with extreme benefits in reliability, capacity, and advanced customer services [1.17]. Another example is the "SmartGrid" vision which is developed by European Commission - Smart Grids

Technology Platform for the Europe future electricity networks for year 2020 and beyond [1.18]. These visions are based on the characteristics of a future power grid and what the grid should accommodate and offer to meet the future policy objectives. At the moment the visions do not adequately provide recommendations for a physical system structure that can clearly show how the future changes (i.e. DERs) can be fitted in distribution networks, and the controls of the networks can be structured in the way that the benefits from local generation and active demand can be maximised. Therefore, one issue that has not been addressed is the requirement for a flexible system structure concept that facilitates the utilisation of local generation and controllable demand to provide both benefits for consumers and system operation.

In addition, there is an issue of understanding the performance of a system incorporating a large population of DERs including microgeneration under different system conditions to ascertain measures of risk and resilience. A number of previous studies have investigated the technical issues surrounding the connection of a large number of microgenerators in small areas of distribution networks. The studies such as those reported in [1.19] and [1.20], amongst others as in [1.21] and [1.22] were primarily aimed at addressing steady or pseudo-steady-state conditions. The transient performance of distribution systems incorporated with a large penetration of LV connected microgeneration under fault conditions has not received much attention as its important merits.

During fault conditions both microgeneration and the host distribution network are under stress and each of them has a different impact on the performance of the other. A high penetration of LV connected microgeneration may impact the host network by providing a new source of short-circuit current. The source will contribute to the network fault level, and if the network short-circuit rating which normally consists of three categories with different time scales; sub-transient, transient, and steady state is exceeded, then damage to the network equipments may result. In addition, the impact of the new source of short-circuit current may impact the main performance criteria of the host network protection schemes, where traditional schemes have been designed with no consideration of adding generation at distribution level, and the fault source is always considered as upstream to the fault. If the protection main criteria are impacted due to microgeneration integration, then lower reliability, lower sensitivity, and even reduction in power quality by lowering the protection selectivity may result [1.23]. Therefore, understanding the influence of a high density of LV connected microgeneration on the host network performance under fault conditions is vital.

The protection performance of the host distribution network during fault conditions (i.e. how fast the fault would be cleared) will influence significantly the capability of microgeneration to remain connected following system transient disturbances. System transient disturbances can be caused by different events such as losing large amount of generation or loads, or due to a fault on the system. All these events may impact the transient stability of the system, but disturbances caused by faults are normally more severe compared to the others where the affected areas will experiences large voltage dips. Transient stability issues at distribution level were formerly insignificant before microgeneration began to be connected at low voltages. The connection of a large number of microgenerators to LV systems may alter their transient behaviour. This may become a significant issue because of the following reasons; one is the nature of the microgeneration with very small inertia and poor inherent damping compared to large machines. This in turn will increase highly the sensitivity of the microgeneration to faults on the system including remote faults. The other reason is the performance of the host distribution networks which may not support the fault ride through capabilities of microgeneration. For example, protection schemes at distribution level are normally based on coordinating the operating times of the protective devices, where downstream elements will respond to faults faster than upstream. So for some remote faults, upstream protection devices may clear the faults within a time not small enough to support the transient stability of microgeneration at downstream.

Therefore, this thesis offers two main valuable areas of contributions to support future achievement of sustainable power systems: one is the proposal of a conceptual system structure which can facilitate the active utilisation of local distributed energy resources by which the overall system operation can be improved and local system constraints are mitigated. The other is a technical work that provides an understanding of how such a

system with a high penetration of microgeneration will behave under fault conditions and what can be done to improve the performance of such a system under transient disturbance caused by a fault on the hosted system. Within the technical work the resilience level of the host distribution network as well as the resilience levels of LV connected microgeneration during large transient disturbance is quantified. Furthermore, a network focused technical solution that can support enhanced transient stability of a large penetration of LV connected microgeneration is introduced and demonstrated.

The thesis proposes a "cell" concept as one of the solutions that can help to manage the spread of heavy volumes of distributed energy resources (DERs) including microgeneration such that benefits are maximised and the host system is supported under different operating conditions. The cell concept that has been developed in this thesis is different from the Danish cell that has been introduced, and based on the value of islanding and black start of active distribution networks [1.24]. The benefits of a system structure based on the cell concept developed in this thesis can be divided into two main facets. One is the possibility of exploiting the useful features of DER units in support of the wider system. This could help mitigate the threats to system performance presented by negative impacts caused by significant connection of DERs such as the impact on the local system voltage profile, the system fault level, and the system protection performance. The other is simpler and better coordinated communication with DERs by building the system in hierarchical structure and allowing the inputs from DERs and groups of cells to be transferred as collective actions when it moves from the consumer level to wider system level.

In addition, to achieve safe operation and in order to avoid stressing the network, the thesis studies the sources of the technical problems that could emerge when typical distribution networks are incorporated with large numbers of small scale microgeneration and the system is operating under fault conditions. Based on the output of the studies practical means to mitigate the problems are introduced in the thesis. Two areas of studies are considered in the thesis from two different angles. One studies the potential impact of integrating a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration on the performance of the host distribution network during transient fault conditions. This

includes the contribution to the fault level of the host distribution networks made by integrated microgeneration, and the impact on the performance of traditional LV protection schemes. The other angle is by understanding the impact of the performance of the host distribution network on the transient performance of the connected microgeneration when the system is under the stress of faults. The possible local impacts of losing large amount of microgeneration on the performance of the host distribution networks are also investigated.

In order to cope with problems surrounding the local distribution system under fault conditions with the presence of a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration, and prevent the local disturbances from expanding, the thesis proposes the use of resistive-type superconducting fault current limiters (RSFCL) as a remedial measure that provides useful inputs for both the network performance and the microgeneration units during large transient disturbances. One input is mitigating the problems associated to the microgeneration transient stability issue, and the other is as a measure that can manage the fault level contribution made by microgeneration, and it helps avoiding the alternative costly solutions such as upgrading equipment or reconfiguring distribution networks.

Existing RSFCLs are designed mainly for fault current limitation purposes of a system with one source (i.e. mains) of fault currents without giving any consideration to the limiters capability to improve the system transient performance from the design perspective [1.25][1.26]. Therefore, the thesis in addition to other contributions develops a new analytical mathematical approach that can identify at which condition RSFCL can provide both additional headroom against distribution system switchgears short-circuit, and improved resilience level of a large penetration of LV connected microgeneration. The approach can be used to determine the minimum required value of the resistive element of RSFCL by which the transient stability of LV connected microgeneration can be maintained regardless the fault critical clearance time of the machines as an added function of RSFCL to its main function (i.e. limiting fault current).

The approach is validated by conducting informative transient studies by using detailed models of a small microwind turbine interfaced directly within residential dwellings by a

single-phase induction generator, a transient model of RSFCL, and a typical LV distribution network with residential loads. The obtained results from the approach are considered acceptable, and the advantages of the analytical method outstrip the observed disadvantages.

1.2 Summary of the thesis main contributions

- A new system control structure based on a cell concept that can provide a flexible physical structure for managing a system incorporating a high penetration of microgeneration and dynamic loads in response to numbers of particular objectives such that benefits are maximised and the host system is supported under different operating conditions is proposed. The concept is based on a hierarchical structure that can form the host distribution networks as aggregated or further subdivided in order to exploit the useful features of DERs in support of the wider system, and mitigate local constraints. In addition, the cell concept gives an indication of who can control the grid at different voltage levels based on the cells hierarchical boundaries. The proposed cell concept functions are driven by numbers of allocated objectives that can provide numbers of useful contributions for delivering the "Smart Grid" objectives, where other alternative concepts with limited objectives such as "Danish Cell" is driven only by the value of islanding and black start operation [1.24].
- The impact of microgeneration performance on a local performance of a typical LV distribution network during fault conditions is assessed, and the level of the problems is evaluated. The increase in the fault level of a typical UK urban distribution network example due to the connection of a different penetration of LV connected microgeneration is quantified. Also at which locations of an urban MV/LV distribution network and at which penetration of microgeneration the increased fault level may become a problem is identified. Furthermore, the influence of a high population of LV connected microgeneration on the main low voltage protection schemes criteria is quantified. This considers the impact of microgeneration presence on the correct operation of LV protection (i.e.

reliability, when to operate and when not to operate), and the LV protection graded setting (coordination or selectivity).

- The conditions under which circumstances that LV connected microgeneration will be unnecessarily tripped in response to realistic distribution network faults and when they can survive disturbances based on detailed transient models and informative transient studies are specified. The inherent capability and response of grid-connected microgenerators to maintain stability during and after clearing of both transient local and remote faults on the host system is quantified against different fault locations, typical fault clearance times and generator/prime mover technologies. The impacts of simultaneous unnecessary disconnection and deliberate reconnection of substantial amount of LV connected microgeneration interfaced by rotating machines on the host distribution systems performance are outlined. This can widen the knowledge and be considered as an added input to numbers of studies were primarily aimed at addressing steady conditions and did not explore the transient response to be expected from microgeneration.
- A technical solution by using the transient characteristics of a resistive-type superconducting fault current limiter (RSFCL) to enhance the transient stability of a large penetration of LV connected microgeneration and at the same time providing an additional headroom for distribution system fault level is introduced. This would help to improve the resilience level of active distribution networks and hence help to remove the barriers against the spread of microgeneration in the future. A new analytical approach that has a perceptible feasibility for identifying the minimum required resistance that needs to be reached by a resistive-type superconducting fault current limiter (RSFCL) to ensure the improvement of transient stability of LV connected microgeneration is introduced and validated. The approach is based on equation solution rather than on trial-and-error simulation studies, and therefore no longer dependent on digital transient simulation programs and detailed microgeneration transient models to identify the required characteristics of RSFCL to improve microgeneration ride through faults. Solution speed is therefore significantly

improved, reducing time required for each investigation. The approach can also give an indication about the suitable RSFCL for different distribution systems based on the system parameters.

1.3 Thesis layout

Chapter two outlines major challenges and issues that are facing the current electric power systems. The major expected changes in future power systems from energy perspective are also discussed. A number of forward looking scenarios those considering the implementation of a high penetration of microgeneration in the future are also discussed within the chapter in order to project future changes in power systems. Within chapter two, a new system structure concept based on a cell concept is developed as means of delivering the objectives of decentralised future power systems. In addition, in order to understand the behavioural characteristics of active distribution networks and based on literatures, the most emerging technical issues due the presence of a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration during fault conditions that require further investigation are clearly outlined.

Chapter three investigates the factors that are more likely to influence the prospective fault level of a typical distribution network incorporating a high penetration of microgeneration. Based on these factors, detailed studies are conducted to test the impact of LV connected microgeneration with different penetration on fault levels of a typical urban distribution network. Two sizes of microgeneration with different penetration are included; domestic and commercial sizes. An aggregated model of different penetration of microgeneration with a careful consideration of the impact of the impedances of the cables between microgenerators connection points which have an impact on fault contribution is developed and used for the fault level investigations.

In chapter four the microgeneration integration impacts on LV protection performance are investigated in detail by using a typical MV/LV distribution network accommodating 100% penetration of microgeneration with respect to the local loads. The studies are conducted in terms of the influence on two emerging areas. One is the reduction in the reach that can be caused by a large penetration of microgeneration which can impact the

sensitivity of the low voltage protection schemes. The other is the impact of the reverse fault current provided by LV connected microgeneration on the low voltage protection performance, which can lead to incorrect operation of low voltage protection that can be result due to the impact on the selectivity of the protection.

Chapter five contains the issues surrounding the transient stability of microgeneration using small rotating AC machines in response to representative network transients. An introduction to the transient stability issue is given, followed by outlining why microgeneration transient stability is an important area to consider. A set of microgenerators transient models with different generator/prime mover technologies is developed to be used as part of the transient studies. The impact of different fault locations, typical fault clearance times, and generator/prime mover technologies on the ability of microgenerators to maintain stability when the system is subject to different local and remote faults is investigated in details. In addition, in order to examine the consequence of transient instability of microgenerators due to the simultaneous disconnection and reconnection of a large number of microgenerators within a small area of LV distribution network are also evaluated in the chapter.

Chapter six investigates the advantages of the usage of the transient characteristics of RSFCL as a remedial measure to improve the transient performance of large amount of LV connected microgeneration. The main operation principles of RSFCL are also given. In addition, a new analytical method that can maintain large amount of single-phase grid-excited induction microgenerators regardless the machines critical fault clearance times is introduced, and the effectiveness of the method is tested. The test is accomplished by determining the minimum required resistance parameter of RSFCL device that ensures the microgeneration fault ride through capabilities by using the proposed analytical approach which is based on equation solution. The results are validated by detailed transient stability studies conducted by digital simulation programs including detailed microgeneration transient models.

The conclusions and future work based on the work presented in the thesis are drawn in chapter seven.

1.4 List of Publications

The following papers were published during the course of this research:

- 1 A.S. Emhemed, R. M. Tumilty, N. Sing, G. M. Burt, & J. McDonald, "Analysis of Transient Stability Enhancement of LV Connected Induction Microgenerators by Using Resistive-Type Fault Current Limiters", IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, Vol. 25, No.2, pp. 885-895, May 2010.
- 2 **A.S. Emhemed**, R.M. Tumilty, and G.M. Burt, "Supporting transient stability in future highly distributed power systems", PAC World Conference, Dublin, 21-24 June 2010.
- 3 A.S. Emhemed, R. M. Tumilty, N. Sing, B. M. Burt, & J. McDonald, "Improving the Transient Performance of a High Penetration of LV Connected Microgeneration", IEEE/PES General Meeting, 2009 IEEE, Calgary, Canada, 26-30 July 2009.
- 4 A.S. Emhemed, R. M. Tumilty, G. Burt, & S. Galloway, N. Sing, "Improving the Transient Performance of LV Connected Microgeneration within Highly Distributed Power Systems (HDPS)", 1st International Conference on Sustainable Power Generation and Supply, Nanjing, China. April 2009.
- 5 Emhemed, A.S.; Tumilty, R.M.; Burt, G.M.; McDonald, "Transient performance analysis of low voltage connected microgeneration"; Power and Energy Society General Meeting - Conversion and Delivery of Electrical Energy in the 21st Century, 2008 IEEE 20-24 July 2008.
- 6 Emhemed, A.S.; Tumilty, R.M.; Burt, G.M.; McDonald, J.R, "Transient performance analysis of single-phase induction generators for microgeneration applications", 4th IET Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives, York, UK. PEMD 2008, pp. 345 – 349, 2-4 April 2008.
- 7 **A.S. Emhemed**, R.M. Tumilty, O. Anaya-Lara, G.M. Burt, J.R. McDonald, "Impacts of high penetration of single-phase distributed energy resources on the

protection of LV distribution networks", 42nd International Universities Power Engineering Conference, UPEC 2007, Brighton, pp. 223 – 227, 4-6 Sept. 2007.

- 8 R.M. Tumilty, A.S. Emhemed, O. Anaya-Lara, G.M. Burt, J.R. McDonald, "Adaptive Unit Based MV Protection for Actively Managed Distribution Networks", IEEE – RVP, Acapulco, Mexico July 2007.
- 9 Adel Hamad Rafa, Olimpo Anaya-Lara, Ryan Tumilty, Abdullah Emhemed, Gustavo Quinonez-Varela, Graeme Burt and James R. McDonald, "Stability Assessment of Microgeneration Systems", IEEE –RVP, Acapulco, Mexico July 2007.
- 10 Emhemed, A S, Transient performance analysis of LV connected microgeneration, Sustainable Energy UK: Meeting the science and engineering challenge UKERC, 13th and 14th May 2008, St Anne's College, Oxford.
- 11 R.M. Tumilty, A.S. Emhemed, Adel Rafa, O. Anaya-Lara, G.M. Burt, "Microgeneration Transient Stability Investigation Report". July 2007, DTI/UGEN/TR/2007-001, DTI/ UK centre for sustainable electricity & distributed generation.

1.5 Chapter References

- [1.1] European Commission, Community research, "World Energy Technology Outlook- 2050", November 2006, available at <u>http://www.ceres-energy.org/res/docs/wetoh2_en.pdf</u>
- [1.2] E.on, "Energy 2030, An Invitation for Dialog", E.on, available at: www.eon.com/biogas
- [1.3] Anderson, G.; Donalek, P.; Farmer, R.; Hatziargyriou, N.; Kamwa, I.; Kundur, P.; Martins, N.; Paserba, J.; Pourbeik, P.; Sanchez-Gasca, J.; Schulz, R.; Stankovic, A.; Taylor, C.; Vittal, V. "Causes of the 2003 major grid blackouts in North America and Europe, and recommended means to improve system dynamic performance", IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, Vol. 20, No. 4, pp. 1922 1928, Nov. 2005.
- [1.4] U.S.-Canada Power System Outage Task Force, 2004 Final Report on the August
 14, 2003 blackout in the United States and Canada: Causes and
 Recommendations, available online at: <u>http://www.nerc.com</u>.
- [1.5] Chunyan Li; Yuanzhang Sun; Xiangyi Chen, "Recommendations to improve power system security: Lessons learned from the Europe blackout on November 4", UPEC 2007, pp.529 533, 4-6 Sept. 2007.
- [1.6] Bergman et al. UK microgeneration. Part I: Policy and behavioural aspects, Energy 162 Issue ENI.
- [1.7] Debora Coll-Mayor, Mia Paget, Eric Lightner, "Future Intelligent Power Grids: Analysis of the vision in the European Union and the United States", Energy Policy 35, Elsevier, pp 2453-2465, 2007.
- [1.8] D. C. Mayor, M. Paget, E. Lightner, "Future intelligent power grid: Analysis of the vision in the European Union and the United State", Energy Policy 35 (2007) 2453-2465.
- [1.9] Large Scale Integration of Micro-Generation to Low Voltage Grids, Evaluation of DG Regulatory Practices in Europe, Dec. 2005.
- [1.10] Renewable Portfolio Standards, avalable online at.: <u>http://www.epa.gov/chp/state-policy/renewable.html</u>

- [1.11] Press release from the European Parliament 2009, "Energy security blueprint for the EU's future energy strategy", 21st January 2009, available online at www.europarl.europa.eu
- [1.12] M. Odenberger, F. Johnsson, "Pathways for the European electricity supply system to 2050- The role of CCS to meet stringent CO2 reduction targets", International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, Sep. 2009.
- [1.13] Michael Grubb, Tooraj Jamasb, and Michael G. Pollitt, Delivering a Low-Carbon Electricity System, technologies, Economics, and Policy, Cambridge, pp 161-165.
- [1.14] The Department of Trade and Industry, DTI, the Energy Challenge-Energy review, London, 2006.
- [1.15] Department of Energy & Climate Change (DECC), "the UK Renewable Energy Strategy2009", available online at: <u>http://www.decc.gov.uk/default.aspx</u>
- [1.16] DTI Power from the People: DTI Microgeneration Strategy. UK Department of Trade and Industry. Stationary Office, London 2006.
- [1.17] EPRI, Electric Power Research Institute, Smart Power for the 21st Century, IntelliGrid publications, available at: <u>http://intelligrid.epri.com/publications</u>
- [1.18] European Commission, European Smart Grids Technology Platform (ETP),
 "Vision and Strategy for Europe's Electricity Networks of the Future", 2006, available at: <u>http://www.smartgrids.eu/documents/vision.pdf</u>
- [1.19] Smart, P., Dinning, A., Maloyd, A., Causebrook, A., Cowdroy, S., "Accommodating Distributed Generation", Econnect project Report No: 1672, prepared for: The Department of Trade and Industry 2006.
- [1.20] S. Ingram, S. Probert, K. Jackson, "The Impact of Small Scale Embedded Generation on the Operating Parameters of Distribution Networks", Contractor PB Power, DTI Renewable Energy Programme, Report number K/EL/00303/04/01, 2003.
- [1.21] Y. Zhu, K. Tomsovic, "Optimal Distribution Power Flow for Systems with Distributed Energy Resources", Electrical Power & Energy Systems 29 (2007), pp 260-267.

- [1.22] M. Braun, "Technological Control Capabilities of DER to Provide Future Ancillary Services", International Journal of Distributed Energy Resources, Vol. 3, No 3, pp. 191-206, July-Sep 2007.
- [1.23] Kojovicm, L. "Modeling Techniques for Studying Distributed Generation Interconnections to Distribution System", CIRED 18th International Conf. on Electricity Distribution, Turin 6-9-2005.
- [1.24] Thomas Ackermann, Per Lund, Nis Martensen, Eckehard Troster, and Valerijs Knazkins, "Overview of the Danish Cell Project", The 7th International Workshop on Large Scale Integration of Wind Power and on Transmission Networks for Offshore Wind Farms, Madrid, Spain 26-27 May 2008.
- [1.25] Lin Ye, M. Majoros, T. Coombs, A. M. Campbell, "System Studies of the Superconducting Fault Current Limiter in Electrical Distribution Grids", IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity, Vol. 17, No 2, June 2007.
- [1.26] L. Ye, L. Z. Lin, and K. P. Juengst, "Application studies of superconducting fault current limiter in electric power systems", IEEE Trans. Applied Superconductivity, Vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 900-903, March 2002.
Chapter Two: Moving towards decentralised power systems

2.1 Introduction

This chapter discusses and outlines the major challenges and issues that are facing traditional power systems, followed by evaluating the major future changes from energy perspective that electric power systems may experience in order meet the policy objectives and overcome the issues impacting traditional power systems. The chapter also explores the differences and the similarities between numbers of different visions of decentralised future power systems driven by different factors and opportunities. A new system structure based on a cell concept is developed as means of delivering the objectives of decentralised future power systems, and the most emerging technical areas during fault conditions require further investigation in terms of integrating large amount of microgeneration are outlined in order to assess the behavioural characteristics of the cell concept.

2.2 Traditional power systems

Traditional power systems are normally based on large remote power plants producing most of the required electric power, and then the power is transferred toward the users over long transmission lines. This paradigm is sketched as in Figure 2- 1, where the large power plants are connected through a set of step-up transformers to meshed and interconnected transmission networks. Transmissions networks are then stepped down and connected to distribution systems where the electricity is distributed and used. Transmission networks are commonly meshed to provide more paths for power transfer as well as low impedance enabling larger power flow. In addition, transmission systems play significant roles in increasing system reliability, improving the quality of supply, and enabling the operators to deal with different system contingencies such as lines outages, lost generation, or unexpected change in the demand [2.1]. To achieve such functions, transmission systems are integrated with other complementary equipments to

provide good levels of controllability and automation, and ancillary services to be provided from the generation side.



Figure 2-1: Traditional power system networks

In contrast to meshed transmission networks, distribution networks are mainly radial in nature, and for example in the UK they are connected to transmission level at 132/33kV substations in Scotland and 275/132kV substations in England and Wales [2.2]. Their voltages are reduced to 33kV and 11kV and the power is transferred by 11kV feeders to be carried close to the users (i.e. industrial, commercial, residential, and transportation). The voltage will be further reduced to 0.415kV (UK voltage) at residential and small commercial load points. Distribution systems are usually classified as three different forms, urban, suburban, and rural networks. In urban networks, underground cables are widely used with short lengths to provide electricity for high load densities in urban areas. In rural areas, overhead lines are more common to be used and much longer, while suburban distribution networks use a combination of underground and overhead lines to carry and deliver power within suburban areas.

2.2.1 Characteristics of traditional power systems

At the generation level, the traditional power systems are widely based on central power generation. The generated electric power flows in different directions within transmission systems, and further losses of the generated power will be incurred in the transmission and distribution networks before the power is delivered to users [2.3].

Traditional power systems are operated and controlled centrally, and distribution systems have very limited levels of controllability and automation compared to transmission systems. This may lead to some parts of distribution systems to be restored manually, and their contribution to the wider system operation is limited. For example, due to the lack of communications between the utilities and users, the consumers in traditional power systems have very limited capability to response to the system changes and system needs during different operating conditions. The utilities and operators of distribution networks do not have a full access to control the equipments at consumers' sides by which better efficiency of network utilization can be achieved by having more control, however, there may be a limit how much control consumers would be willing to surrender to suppliers. Also the electric appliances do not have the capabilities to response to the system needs and provide some support from technical perspective. Systems with such characteristics may not be sufficient to help to the meet the EU and UK targets with regard to climate change. Radical changes in each sector of existing power system will be required in order to meet the low carbon targets, and particularly at distribution systems [2.4]. More active engagement of the electricity end users such as playing parts in generating and managing local energy is required. This may lead to radically changes in the characteristics of the existing distribution system. The impact of these changes is discussed in more detail section (2.3).

2.2.2 Challenges and issues facing traditional power systems

According to [2.5] the global electricity consumption for 2020 will exceed 27,000 terawatt-hours (TWh) compared to 15,400 TWh consumed in 2000. This is predicted because of the increase in the global population which is expected to reach 7.5 billion people by 2020 compared to 6.1 billion in 2000 [2.5]. Also another source the "World Energy Technology Outlook- 2050", provided in 2006 by community research of the

European Commission (EC) [2.6], outlined that global demand is expected to reach a 60% increase in the next 30 years compared to the current demand, and the current global generation capacity and power reserve will not be able to meet such dramatic demand increase. For instance, over the next two decades, the UK will need large investment in new generation capacity to replace the closing coal, oil and nuclear power stations, and to meet expected increases in electricity demand [2.7]. The energy analysis conducted in 2007 by Redpoint Energy Limited and Energy Strategies Limited expected that 22.5GW of the UK existing power stations may close by 2020 [2.8].

Building new transmission and distribution networks may be very expensive, and at the same time may increase the complexity of the systems, and reduce the overall efficiency since more lines will lead to more losses. In addition, the rapid increase in the demand could sometimes not be met by building more transmission and distribution infrastructures. "The Smart Grid: An Introduction" report which has been published by the U.S. Department of Energy's (DOE) Office [2.9], has outlined that since 1982, growth in peak demand in the U.S. has exceeded transmission growth by almost 25% every year. Also the same report has found out that approximately the average power outage affected 15% more consumers from 1996-2000 than from 1991-1995. From a cost point of view, and according to (IEA), the estimated investment for upgrading the transmission and distribution networks in Europe alone to meet the increase in demand by 2030 will approximately reach \notin 500 billion, and the global investment required to meet the increase in global demand for the same time scale could be \$16 trillion [2.10].

Based on literature reviews numbers of challenges and issues that are facing traditional power systems are discussed below in terms of environmental, security of energy supply, and operating issues.

I- Environmental issues

There is a high concern over the world about climate change due to (GHG) emissions. According to the fourth assessment report from Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (EU action against climate change) [2.11], the temperature rise is accelerating and the sea level rose nearly twice as fast as between 1993 and 2003 as during the previous three decades and the changes were due to man-made emissions of GHG.

Climate change due to GHG emission is a global problem where the source of the problem comes from different parts of the world, but the impact would affect the whole planet. It is believed that developed countries are mainly responsible for the current high levels of GHG emissions as a result of more than 150 years of industrial activity. Therefore, there was an international agreement on tackling climate change which is called the "Kyoto Protocol" [2.12]. It has put large responsibilities with different levels on the shoulders of developed nations to reduce GHG emissions by 2012. However, many countries have committed long-term CO2 cut targets beyond Kyoto. For example, the EU and other developed countries have set targets to reduce the global GHG emission by 30% by 2020, and by 60-80% by 2050 in respect to 1990 [2.11]. The EU has made an independent commitment to cut its emission to at least 20% (30% if international agreement is reached) by 2020 compared to 1990 level, and increasing use of renewable to meet 20% of the EU total energy by 2020 [2.11]. In parallel to the EU, the UK government has set mid and long-term national targets which aim to cut CO2 emissions by 26% by 2020 and up to 80% by 2050 compared to 1990 levels [2.13][2.14]. The table below summarises the global carbon reduction targets.

Set by	2020 (carbon reduction target)	2050 (carbon reduction target)
Global	30%	60-80%
EU	20% (30% if international agreement is reached)	60%
UK	26%	80%

Table 1: The global carbon reduction targets

The climate researchers believe the only way to limit the increase in the carbon emission is to halve the GHG emission, and without environmental remedial measures global carbon emission will increase by 57% to 2030 [2.15]. Traditional power systems are considered as one of the sources that contribute to the climate change problems. For example, large carbon based power plants emit GHG which in turn will harmfully impact climate change. In addition the International Energy Agency (IEA) statistics

indicate that 16% increase from 1990 to 2005 in global CO2 emissions caused by the energy use alone [2.10]. Taking the UK as an individual example, the UK's electricity generation sector accounts for about one third of the UK's total carbon emissions [2.7], and approximately 25% of the country greenhouse gas emissions caused by the heat and electricity usage at residential sector [2.16][2.17]. Therefore, generation and other power system sectors such as transmission, distribution and domestic as well as transport have a significant impact on the climate change, and if the right measures are applied to these sectors, they would play a significant role in reducing GHG emissions, and reserve more energy primary resources. For example, GHGs emissions can be reduced from power systems sectors by using low carbon generation technologies such as wider use of renewables and thermal generation plants equipped with carbon capture and storage (CCS), and the technologies such as combined heat and power (CHP) that can offer improved efficiency at domestic sector of the power system, and energy saving measure [2.6].

Based on the EU commitments to cut GHG emissions, in addition to Emissions Trading Schemes (ETS) to control pollution by economic incentives, two measures were proposed in 2008 by EU nations and they were added to the December 2008 EU's climate change legislation in order to reduce the GHG emissions released from power systems. One is the share of renewable energy sources (RES) should reach 20% of energy in 2020, and the other is the energy saving should be made by which the consumption would be 20% less compared to the base-line scenario without energy saving in 2020 [2.18][2.19][2.20]. For long term, in 2009 there was a discussion on increasing the figures to 60% RES and 35% energy saving by 2050 [2.18][2.21].

II- Security of primary energy supply issues

There is a big concern on the limitation of global fossil fuel resources. Experts expect the remaining recoverable oil resources represent only 60 years of production [2.6], and from 2015 global demand for oil will outstrip supply [2.15]. Because of the high increase in energy demand and the limitation in traditional primary energy resources, the days of cheap oil in the medium and long term are over [2.15]. The trend towards more expensive oil is driven by the rapidly increasing appetite for economic growth

particularly in developing countries [2.15]. According to the International Energy Agency (IEA), China and India alone will account for 40% of the future increase in energy usage, and 84% of the increase in the demand will be met by fossil fuels [2.15][2.22]. With these forecasts and figures the security of primary energy supply therefore is a serious issue especially for those nations relying on imported energy primary sources. For instance, in the EU the reliance on imports of gas is expected to jump from 57% to 84% by 2030, and of oil from 82% to 93% [2.11].

It seems that there is a serious need for moving into more efficient power systems that can save energy wastage, and offer fuel-mix energy sources. The world energy technology outlook-2050 [2.6] has stated that using energy in more efficient way will play a very significant part in saving primary energy resources for the future. The report also expects that when renewable and nuclear energy sources benefits from sustained development, 30% of the world energy supply could be provided by non fossil fuel sources by 2050.

III- Operational issues

In the last decade, numbers of blackouts were experienced across different parts of the world, and particularly in 2003 North America and some parts of Europe experienced their worst power failures [2.9]. The event in North America affected more than 50 millions of people, and tripped more than 400 transmission lines and 531 generating units [2.23]. Also in the same year, up to four millions customers in Denmark and Sweden lost power [2.23]. Few months later a cascading outage left most of Italy without power [2.23].

The main reasons of these major blackouts according to the paper [2.23] were identified by the IEEE PES Power System Dynamic Performance Committee and concluded that it was equipments failures, followed by inadequate and improper control responses to limit and minimise the problem. The US-Canada Power Systems Outage Task Force final report on the August 2003 blackout [2.23][2.24] reported that the primary sources of the US-Canada blackout were due to numbers of computer failures occurred on the energy management system of one of the control centres, which led to a lack of understanding of the actual system behaviour and needs. This was followed by losing numbers of units heavy loaded by reactive power, and due to tree contact a few hours later, numbers of transmission lines were tripped. This caused overloading on other remaining lines as shown in Figure 2- 2 resulting in cascading loss of lines and generating units which left millions of people in the state to be in dark [2.23].



Figure 2- 2: Cascading tripping in US/Canada transmission lines systems in 2003 [2.24]

In Sweden and Denmark, the event started from losing one nuclear generation unit due to failure in a feed-water valve, followed by nearby double busbar fault tripped four lines at the substations. This N-5 contingency caused another trip of 1.8GW power plant [2.25]. This led to an overloaded circuit between the two countries, and the line tripped. The generation was not enough to meet the demand in southern Sweden, so cascading events continued and left millions of people without power.

In Italy problems also started with a single fault causing tripping of the line between Italy and Switzerland, and the automatic breaker refused to reclose the line [2.25]. The country started losing synchronism with the rest of Europe. When the country is electrically isolated, the generation deficit led to large drop in the system frequency as shown in Figure 2- 3, and there was inadequate control of frequency to prevent generation from tripping. This led to the collapse of the entire Italian system except of Sardinia [2.26].



Figure 2-3: Frequency profile during Italy 2003 blackout [2.26]

Another serious event left more than 15 million of European households without electricity in 2006 was the grid disturbances that impacted most of the European countries transmission grids on 4th of November 2006. According the technical analysis report provided by the European Network of Transmission System Operators for Electricity committee (ENTSO-E) [2.27], there was tripping of several high-voltage lines due to manual disconnection of the double-circuit 380 kV without undertaking sufficient counter measurements to reduce the power flow of neighbouring lines in Northern Germany which led to system splitting, and inducing a severe frequency drop that caused an interruption of supply for wide area of Europe.

UK also experienced a partial blackout on May 27th 2008. The event occurred due to unexpected trip of large amount of generation (i.e. almost 2GW) which in turn led to the maximum secured loss at that day to be exceeded and the low frequency load disconnection schemes to be initiated and affected about 550,000 of consumers. The figure below shows the impact of the event on the UK system frequency, and the loss of total generation and load [2.28].



Figure 2- 4: Frequency response following loss of generation during May 27th 2008 UK partial blackout [2.28]

From above events have occurred in USA, some countries of the EU, and the UK, it can be evidently seen that there have been recently numbers of blackouts impacted millions of people across different areas of the world. Most of the above blackouts were initiated with equipment failures, or human errors due to the lack of information about the situation of the affected system prior to the system failure as happened in 2006 blackout in Europe as explained above. Another factor contributing to the spread of the blackouts was the inappropriate control actions that were taken to limit the cascades of the events. Therefore, the reliance on centralised control system would lead massive number consumers to lose electricity in case of a single failure in the main central control room. In order to build a securer system with low carbon emission, making better use of energy, and at the same time minimise the hours of the power cut more decentralised control structure as proposed in this thesis will be required. Such requirement is discussed in more detail in the rest of this chapter.

2.3 Future changes in electric power systems

Moving to a low-carbon environment, managing energy security of supply risks, and potentially reducing the cost of the electrical infrastructure, whilst at the same time improving the reliability of power systems and reducing the widespread of blackouts has motivated an increased interest in the integration of more energy saving measures (i.e. using energy more efficiently) and wider generation mix sources. Such measures have the potential to make further cuts in the carbon emissions and contribute to the security of energy supplies by reducing the reliance on imported energy and ensuring the maximum use of the energy resources through greater energy efficiency [2.7].

The diversity in the energy mix makes the risk of security of primary energy supply to be shared across a range of sources and technologies and reduces the reliance on a single energy source such as fossil fuels or on a single technology type such as large plants interfaced by large synchronous machines [2.7]. The generation mix includes renewable and the adoption of low-carbon technologies, such as carbon capture. This in turn would open up the possibility of moving to more decentralised low carbon energy systems. The decentralised systems will be composed of generation mix including centralised and local generation, and the use of the energy saving measures to improve the efficiency of power generation, transmission, distribution, electricity use, buildings, and shifting toward more environmental transport systems. Local generation and energy saving measures will also offer the flexibility to accommodate variations in demand at different times of the day and of the year [2.7]. A significant growth of local generation that can be connected at distribution systems, energy saving measures, and carbon lean transport will represent a considerable change in traditional distribution systems, and they will have a key role to play in decentralised power systems. How such a range of changes may impact the electricity supply industry is discussed in more detail as follows:

2.3.1 Distributed Generation

Distributed generation (DG) term is referred to generation units that can be connected to distribution networks across different voltage levels rather than to the high voltage transmission grids [2.29]. Distributed generation units provide means of utilising renewable and low carbon energy resources. The units are not always connected at the

electricity use points. For example DGs which are driven by renewable energy sources need to be located close to the localised energy resources which can be available at remote areas from the consumers. If DG units are connected to LV distribution networks and are used in the context of generation of power at domestic scale they can take advantage of reducing the capital and operating costs, and can be termed as "microgeneration" [2.30]. Initially DGs were mostly used for shaving peak power or providing power where electricity is not available. However, within future power system changes, DGs including microgeneration technologies can provide further useful inputs to the system. Their useful inputs are summarised as follows.

A- The potential benefits of distributed generation and microgeneration [2.11][2.29] [2.31]

- More efficient use of renewable and fossil fuel: using DGs driven by renewable and low carbon energy sources have the potential to reduce carbon emissions and the demand for imported gas or oil as primary energy source for large plants.
- The heat generated by decentralised electricity production can be used for space and water heating.
- Improved flexibility: decentralised energy system will respond more readily to technological change.
- Increased numbers of energy producers/suppliers: decentralised systems by producing power locally could lead to more market participations, potentially increasing competition and customer choices.
- Raised energy awareness: the production of electricity and heat more locally by DGs will help to increase the awareness of energy production and consumption potentially resulting in more efficient use of energy. It is claimed that this will make the public co-producer of climate change solutions rather than passive consumers of energy.
- Enhanced network reliability and resilience: DGs can provide local active and reactive power which can be used to meet the local demand and the same time supporting the wider system performance such as reduced line losses, and improved voltage profile. This would also relieve transmission and distribution congestion, and offer lower operating cost due to peak shaving.

- DGs in some applications can provide local black-start functions and reduce the power cut periods by supporting consumers under conditions of mains failure.
- Another alternative arrangement to support the increase in growing demand: DGs can provide new opportunities for increasing the diversity and the efficiency of the power system.

B- Distributed generation technologies

There are numbers of DGs technologies which can be identified by the technologies used to interface the unit to the system or by the fuel used to drive the unit. DG technologies from energy perspective include renewable and low carbon devices (fossil-fuelled) are listed below:

I- Electricity generation technologies

Wind power

Wind power is a clean, renewable source of energy which produces no carbon emissions or waste products. The most common wind turbine is three blades mounted on horizontal axes, and driving a generator directly or through a gear box. DGs driven by wind power can be onshore of offshore, and the total of the wind farms could provide total electric power up to 1GW [2.32]. The wind speed is uncontrollable source, and this in turn will make DGs driven by wind to have different electrical characteristics to conventional synchronous generators. Wind power turbines are interfaced to the grid directly by induction machines or by using power electronics interface such as inverters and converts. Wind generation makes a significant contribution to the energy supply system and it is leading the renewable generating technology in many countries [2.32].

Photovoltaic

Photovoltaic or PV generates electricity from sunlight. The PV cells are connected together and encapsulated, usually behind glass, to form a module or panel and any number of modules can be connected together. The electricity is generated when the semi-conducting materials of the PV cells are exposed to the sunlight [2.33]. The PV cells convert the sunlight energy into direct current (DC), and then the DC current is

converted into alternative current (AC) when connected to the grid. This technology has the advantage of being very effectively integrated into the structure of buildings [2.30].

Hydro-power

Distributed generation hydro powers are technologies that involving utilising naturally flowing water on hilly lands, or in rivers and streams to generate electricity. Hydro power can also be obtained from a reservoir that discharges water back into the main river. The electricity produced by such technologies depends on the amount of the water and the speed of the flow. From the technical perspective such DGs are normally interfaced to the grid by synchronous machines.

Fuel cells

A fuel cell combines hydrogen with oxygen in chemical processes to produce electricity. Unlike technologies which "burn" fuel, with fuel cells the conversion takes place electrochemically without combustion. Fuel cells can be run on a wide variety of fuels, and importantly, fuel cells make fuels last longer [2.34]. When fuel cells run on pure hydrogen fuel no carbon or other toxic emissions are produced, and this can therefore help to tackle environmental issues [2.34].

II- Heat generation technologies

Distributed generation can be also used to provide space and/or water heating. There are numbers of examples of such DG technologies. One example is solar water heating technologies which use the heat of the sun to produce hot water. Another example is biomass technologies can provide space or water heating from burning wood and non-wood fuels. The biomass fuels are derived from forestry products, energy crops and waste wood products [2.35].

III- Combined heat and power (CHP)

Combined heat and power (CHP) refers to technologies that provide electrical power as well as thermal energy from a single fuel source. Hence the waste heat from generation process can be used as a heat source rather than released to the environment. The two main types CHP technologies are reciprocating and Stirling engines. DGs based on CHP technologies can be interfaced directly to the grid by synchronous generators or indirectly by using power electronics.

IV- Microgeneration

Microgeneration units tend to be, by their nature smaller compare to large distributed generation, and they are defined in the Energy act 2004 as: "a source of electrical energy and all associated interface equipment, rated to and include 16A per phase, single or multi phase 230/400V ac and designed to operate in parallel with a public low voltage distribution Network" [2.36][2.37]. Microgeneration technologies are also defined in Microgeneration strategy which is published by the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) of the UK to produce less than 50kW of electricity or less than 45kW of heat [2.38]. In the UK microgeneration implementation is considered as an essential part within different UK's low carbon building programmes that would help to reach zero carbon buildings [2.39].

Similar to larger distribution generation, microgeneration may include some technologies that can generate only heat, or only electricity, or combined heat and power. According to the range of technologies defined the DTI microgeneration Strategy [2.38], and the Micropower Limited which has a significant interest in developing the small-scale generation, the most common type of microgeneration technologies that have received recently large attention from energy and technology perspective are summarised below [2.40].

- Micro-wind where building mounted turbines are now starting to come onto the market [2.29].
- Solar PV with range of 1-3 kW as a typical power output for a domestic installation.
- Micro-hydro power
- Solar water heating to provide the heat for domestic use where $4m^2$ collection area would provide 50-70% of a typical homes' annual hot water requirement.
- Heat pumps which use the warmth stored in the ground to heat fluid circulating through pipes, a heat exchanger extracts the heat and then a compression cycle raises the temperature to supply hot water for heating purposes.

- Biomass stoves and boilers
- Micro-CHP which can provide around 5 kW offering around 10-12kW of thermal output. A typical domestic sized micro-CHP unit will deliver the same comfort levels as a modern boiler, whilst reducing the CO2 emissions of a typical house by 25% per year.
- Small scale fuel cells are in a range of sizes from about ½ kW upwards

2.3.2 Local demand and deployment of smart meter

The domestic sector has been identified in many researches as an important part of power systems that will play a significant role in CO2 emission reduction, and energy saving. For example in the UK, the housing stock is responsible for around 27% of all carbon emissions in the country according to the White Paper 2007 [2.7]. In a typical British home, three-quarters of carbon dioxide emissions come from the energy used for heating and providing hot water and a fifth from lighting and appliances [2.7]. In addition, the UK Energy Saving Trust as it is reported in [2.7] has estimated that individuals are responsible for around 40% of the UK's energy use and carbon dioxide emissions, and at home over £900 million per year is wasted by leaving appliances on when not in use.

Therefore, using less energy by improving the energy efficiency at domestic sector and the efficiency of the products and the insulation of the buildings will reduce energy bills and helping individuals to be more aware of the importance of their actions to reduce carbon emissions and climate change [2.7]. Using the energy in more efficient way by the consumers may require demand management which in turn can be used to shift the demand away from peak periods, and savings by reducing the need for investment in new energy infrastructure to meet peak demand can be offered. From technical perspective such advantages may be reached by using advanced demand management techniques that allow the consumers, energy suppliers, and network operators to monitor and manage the use of energy. One important element that can significantly help for demand side management is a smart meter, which can be installed at consumers' homes in order to provide real time displays of the energy use, and potentially help the households to manage their energy use.

The smart meter will also allow communication between the consumers, the energy supplier and perhaps the network operator [2.41]. This can help readings to be taken remotely and ensuring all bills are accurate, and providing sufficient information about the situation of the network at consumers' points for the network operator. Provision of energy use information will put energy user in a better position to save energy, the energy suppliers in a better position to incentives the users to use less energy overall and shift the demand at peak periods in response to time of use tariffs, and the operators to operate the system more efficient based on the visibility of local networks that smart meters can provide [2.41]. So, smart meters would be very important enabling technologies that will facilitate the integration of more local generation and the adoption of saving energy measures. The EU target for roll-out of smart metering is 80% of consumers within EU to be equipped with Smart Metering Systems by 2020 [2.42]. Within the UK, the aim in long term is to roll-out the smart metering to all the UK consumers in the way that the consumers, suppliers, network operators and other market participants gain benefits, and at the same time the environmental and policy targets can be delivered [2.43]. The UK policy forecasts the replacement of 47 million of the residential traditional meters in the UK by smart meters by year 2020 [2.43]. So, by deploying demand side management measures, consumers can play more active role in energy systems.

2.3.3 Transport sector

On the consumer side, the potential impact of the transport sector is significant and can be highly anticipated [2.44]. Transport is expected to be one of the fastest growing sectors in the future, and in the UK as an example, the transport accounts for around a quarter of UK domestic energy use and greenhouse gas emissions [2.7]. In addition to the environmental impacts of transport, the transport sector depends heavily on oil, and this in turn may have a potential impact the security of energy supply. In addition, the potential impact of plug-in Electric Vehicles from technical perspective would be highly anticipated where spinning reserves and ancillary services can be offered if appropriate plugs are provided [2.45]. For example, according to the Energy Information Administration, U.S department of Transportation, potential impacts of plug-in electrical vehicles to the U.S. grid can be significant. The number of the cars in the state is more than 250 million, and if such numbers are changed by electric vehicles, then total energy to charge such numbers will be 3840GWs on the average of 15kW per vehicles, while the total current generation capacity of the state is around 986GW [2.44]. This indicates that integrating electric vehicles would lead to a considerable change in the power systems.

For this sector to reduce its carbon emissions impacts and to provide a significant contribution to energy saving, a carbon lean transportation is needed [2.7]. For example, the UK Government has been working to reduce the carbon emissions from transport by: reducing the carbon content of fuel; reducing the carbon emissions of vehicles; encouraging moves towards more environmentally friendly transport and, where appropriate, using emissions trading [2.7].

In spite of the importance of this sector to reduce the carbon emissions and contribute to energy saving, the Stern Review report as mentioned in [2.7] has stated that this sector is one of the most expensive sectors to cut emissions, and the welfare costs of reducing demand for travel are high. The report also stated that transport sector will be among the last sectors to bring its emissions down below current levels.

2.3.4 Policy objectives

Governments also have an important role to play to encourage the deployments of save energy measures and the uptake of local generation. The governments can provide support and assistance to utilities and individuals to be more active and contribute to carbon emissions reduction. This will require the regulatory framework to be in place to deliver improvements to the buildings, products and services [2.7].

A significant international attention has been given to setting targets to provide a significant amount of the electricity generation from renewable and highly efficient energy sources. The global carbon reduction targets were listed previously in Table 1 in section 2.2.2. The UK government has taken a number of steps to promote more decentralised energy measures. For example, according to the 2007 white paper [2.7] the changes to the Renewables Obligation have been made in order to support the uptake of

more renewable and CHP technologies to achieve 10% of renewable generation by 2010, and 20% by 2020, and the recovery of energy from waste and some types of microgeneration technologies.

In addition to Renewable Obligation, the UK government has published a new policy mechanism called "Feed-in Tariffs" (FiT) to provide financial incentive measures to encourage the adoption of renewable and low carbon energy by individuals and communities in order to support the UK future energy and climate change targets [2.46]. The Tariffs encourage the consumers to be more self-sufficient in energy, and help them to be rewarded for the power that they generate for local use or to be exported to the grid. The reward can be made within the FiT schemes by three different ways [2.46]. One is the generation Tariffs where the owner of the local generator can earn a fixed income for every kWh of electricity generated and used locally within the property. The other is the export Tariffs, where the owner can earn an additional fixed income for every kWh of electricity generated locally and sent back to the grid. The third is the bit the owner still buys from the supplier. This is based on in case of the generated local power is not enough for the local use, the consumer who has installed renewable source can buy electricity from the supplier at normal rate that is less than those do not install local renewable and low carbon microgeneration. It seems that the FiT scheme for the UK will have the potential to act as a driver for an increased uptake of renewable energy systems and changing the way to think about better use of energy [2.47].

The EU and UK governments have taken numbers of actions to meet their policy objectives by supporting individuals and communities to gain greater availability of energy saving measures, and access to connect local generation. Numbers of the actions are summarised below [2.7].

- Improving the awareness of climate change and security of energy supply issues by providing information on energy use and enabling individuals to have access to see their carbon footprint through an on-line CO2 calculator.
- Setting out the standards for buildings and communities, and products that can make homes and communities zero or low carbon through higher use of energy efficiency and low carbon and renewable energy sources.

- Encouraging energy suppliers to provide electricity displays such as smart meters for the customers in order to provide the needed information for saving energy.
- Requesting Energy Performance Certificates to provide information on the energy performance of buildings and the actions that can be taken to improve that performance and reduce energy waste.
- Removing barriers of the installation of local generation by providing more flexible market and licensing arrangements.
- Potentially rewarding energy generated by householders through local generation.

2.3.5 Future looking network scenarios

The potential for improved power system sustainability in the future to be realised, a massive uptake of decentralised generation and energy saving measures may be required. However, there are still many uncertainties about the picture of the power systems in the future where it is difficult to know for example, which mix of power generation and energy saving technologies will be the most appropriate for delivering the goals of low carbon and more reliable power systems. This can be difficult because the changes in different power systems at different regions are driven by different factors and opportunities. Therefore, there are numbers of forward looking network scenarios which have recently been created by academic consortia, government agencies and trade associations to give an estimate for future energy capacity. One example is, the scenarios that have been developed within the UK against numbers of externalities and factors to predict the generation capacity share between fossil and non fossil-fuelled power generation of the UK system to meet the 2050 UK target [2.51][2.52] and [2.53]. This section discusses two scenarios; one is SuperGen 2050 Scenarios [2.54], and the other is Ofgem LENS project scenarios [2.55].

Within SuperGen 2050 Scenarios six scenarios; strong optimism, business as usual, economic downturn, green plus, technological restriction, and central direction have been developed against a set of technical, economic, environmental and regulatory attitudes. It has been concluded within the worst case scenario "Economic Downturn" which represents a case of adverse economic events with the lack of demand growth and

no promotion for demand side management, the generation capacity would be around 55GW. 20-30% of the generation would be met by renewable, and microgeneration connected at domestic side would account for about 10% of generation. On the other hand, when strong economic growth scenario is considered which can lead to advance in technologies, the renewable generation would account for 60-70% of the total generation capacity 145GW, with 35% of electricity provided by microgeneration. The allocation of renewable would jump to almost 90% power production of generation total capacity of 110GW for environmental most important scenario, and microgeneration would represent 20% of the produced electricity (i.e. about 10GW).

The Ofgem LENS project scenarios [2.55] have concluded that when the environmental concern is strong throughout every level of society, and the carbon price to all sectors and become extremely high, and the DG are widely deployed, the total installed generation capacity at distribution systems only would represent almost 50% of the UK 2050 generation capacity which is predicted to reach almost 115GW. The microgeneration at itself would account for 23.2 GW [2.55].

From the above scenarios, a massive uptake of distributed generation including microgeneration is required in order to maximise the reduction in carbon emission, and since most of the distributed generation as discussed earlier are based on renewable and low carbon technologies the higher penetration is added the better contribution to the security of energy supply is obtained. The scenarios also shows a high figure between 10-20GW of the 2050 UK energy capacity can be met by microgeneration only. This figure can show the important roles that empowering consumers can play in meeting the energy future targets.

Therefore, given the support for microgeneration technologies within the 2007 UK government energy white paper [2.7] and the wider scenario based projections, the issue of microgeneration is expected to be of growing interest within the industry as generation technologies mature and become more affordable. For example, the studies commissioned by the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) of the UK from the Energy Saving Trust have suggested that 30-40% of the UK's electricity demand should

be met through microgeneration technologies by 2050 in order to meet the UK 2050 targets, with combined heat and power (CHP) leading the way, followed by micro-wind and photovoltaic (PV) [2.38].

From the technical perspective, the introduction of the European standard EN50438 [2.56], which specifies the technical requirements for the connection of microgeneration in parallel with public low-voltage distribution networks, and the engineering recommendation documents in the UK for small sources connection G83/1 [2.57] are all further evidences of some utilities' preparation for microgeneration connection. Therefore, the case studies considered in this thesis is based on an extensive uptake of microgeneration in order to significantly provide useful contribution to local and wider system.

2.3.6 Potential impacts of future changes in current power systems

Increasing the level of integrated renewable and low carbon energy resources across already established power systems and increased energy efficiency in production and consumption behaviour to curb GHG emissions and conserve energy resources will bring power grids to situations have never been in before. New decentralised generation such as microgeneration are normally consumer-led rather than centrally planned, and this in turn may result in conflicting operating strategies between the new and existing centralised generation technologies.

In addition, traditional distribution power systems are designed and viewed as a passive portion with very limited automation and controllability especially at lower voltages, and empowering the local distribution systems by increasing the volume of connected microgeneration, and activating the system by increased deployment of energy efficiency, will emerge a new picture of many active loads supplied by many sources. Such transition will impact the response of distribution systems to the wider system, and hence impact the operational strategies of the traditional power systems.

It is believed that most of primary enabling technologies that could be required to initiate the move to future power grids are almost available now [2.58]. The technical

solutions may be costly, but there is a hope with the advance in the technology in the future the cost will decline. The remaining challenge is how to fit such technologies in an efficient structure that facilitates the compatibility between the new technologies and the established power systems as well as with the future integrated technologies.

Therefore, it becomes vital for substantial amounts of microgeneration among other decentralised resources to be controlled in the way that the local and wider system to be supported. This will require a new control structure to avoid the incompatible and limited performance with greater cost due to the new changes, and avoid higher investment risks. In addition, the system with new changes must cope with different contingencies and the connected decentralised generation must overcome numbers such contingencies, and stay connected as long as possible so their benefits to the system can be realised. This will require understanding of the performance of a system incorporating a large population of DERs including microgeneration under different system conditions to ascertain measures of risk and resilience.

The next section (2.3.7) discusses in detail numbers of future visions of power systems that have been developed recently by different groups in order to facilitate the transformation to more decentralised power systems that can offer better reliability and security, and better efficiency and support environmental issues. Based on the literature review from other visions, the section also proposes a new conceptual system structure to answer one of the research questions, how to fit many energy sources and many active controllable loads within the grid and tie such technologies by which the system operation is improved and local constraints are mitigated. Section (2.5) outlines the technical issues need to be tackled in order to understand the behavioural characteristics of a system incorporating a high penetration of small scale local generation.

2.3.7 Different visions of future decentralised power systems

According to the report on Smart Power for the 21st Century provided by Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI) [2.58], "the existing grid should be modernised not by randomly gathering a group of interesting technologies and calling it modern, but rather by first building a vision and the framework that enables that vision". So, building a conceptual vision can be used as a road map that can facilitate the integration of distributed energy resources within the existing power systems. Conceptual visions are normally driven by objectives as well as the available and future opportunities that may emerge during the movement towards decentralised power systems [2.15].

To explore the similarities and complementarities between different developed visions those are all aiming to facilitate the feasibility of better future power grids, three visions created by different regions; the European Commission's (EC) SmartGrid approach, The Electric Power Research Institute's (EPRI's) IntelliGrid approach, and Highly Distributed Power Systems (HDPS) are investigated. These visions are mainly based on the characteristics of a future power grid and what the future grid should offer to meet the policy objectives.

I- The Electric Power Research Institute's (EPRI's) IntelliGrid vision

The Electric Power Research Institute's (EPRI's) has created IntelliGrid vision which can provide a technical foundation to link power systems and integrated energy sources with communications and advanced control to create a highly automated and resilient power delivery system [2.58]. The vision has been created for future North America power grids to be more self-healing systems that can automatically control power flows and operate in more efficient ways and minimise the risks caused by faults. The project believes that such functionality would help to avoid events such as August 2003 widespread blackouts incident at north-eastern of the U.S. and at south-eastern of Canada, which made the security for power supply to become a matter of very great concern in the U.S. [2.45].

IntelliGrid also believes that most of the North American power systems seem to work against any comprehensive grid upgrade, and all the work must be coordinated across the hundreds of companies and stakeholders [2.59]. The suitable way of building the vision of the future grid is by planning carefully and integratively, and incorporating flexibility by starting small and building on successes [2.59]. So start from small spots integrated with intelligent equipments such as demand management measures as an example and, as new intelligent systems and existing systems interconnected over time,

more intelligence on the grid will appear and intelligent grid will eventually emerge (i.e. it is not a sudden transformation) [2.59].

The approach has stressed that the improvement of energy efficiency at large power plants and at demand side is a key role that will greatly accelerate the creation of more efficient power systems, and provide more saving in primary energy resources [2.58]. This was justified by the importance of the security of supply issue in the U.S power systems. Also the U.S has a variety of rich resources of primary energy. According to the Energy Information Administration (EIA) the official Energy Electricity of the U.S., the U.S. electricity production mainly depends on fossil fuels, with coal and nuclear leading by 52% and 21% respectively, and the natural gas comes after with 13%. The oil represents only 3% of the total energy sources [2.60]. "The Smart Grid: An Introduction" report published by the U.S. DOE Office [2.9] has stated that if the current U.S. grid were just 5% more efficient, the energy saving would equate to eliminate the fuel and GHG emission of 53million cars in the U.S. Consequently, the IntelliGrid vision has recommended that the changes in power systems should start at improving the efficiency of large power plants, and the use of energy at consumers' side, and then empowering the consumers by connecting local generation. Consequently, saving energy is seen in the U.S modern grid vision as the most effective way of improving energy security.

By integrating the U.S. traditional centralised power systems with advanced operational strategies, saving energy measures, demand response, distributed energy resources, and networked distribution systems [2.61], the vision of the modern grid in the U.S. is set to meet the following six main objectives of the 21st century U.S. power systems: the grid needs to be more reliable, more secure, more economic, more efficient, more environmentally friendly, and safer [2.61]. The characteristics of the vision describe the feature of the grid in terms of functionality. The table below contains the characteristics of the U.S. modern grid vision and U.S. traditional grids, and the key aspect driving the U.S. modern grid vision:

Today's grid	characteristics	Modern grid
Responds to prevent further	Self-heals	Automatically detects and responds
damage. Focus is on protection		to actual and emerging transmission
of assets following system		and distribution problems. Focus is
faults.		on prevention.
Consumers are uninformed and	Motivates to include the	Informed, involved and active
non-participative with the	consumers	consumers. Broad penetration of
power system.		Demand Response.
Vulnerable to malicious acts of	Resists attack	Resilient to attack and natural
terror and natural disasters		disasters with rapid restoration
		capabilities.
Focused more on outages rather	Provides better power	Power quality issues identified and
than power quality problems.	quality	resolved prior to manifestation.
Relatively small number of	Accommodates all	Very large numbers of diverse
large generating plants.	generation and storage	distributed generation and storage
	options	devices deployed to complement
		the large generating plants.
Not well integrated with each	Enables markets	Well integrated nationwide and
other. Transmission congestion		integrated with reliability
separates buyers and sellers.		coordinators. Minimal transmission
		congestion and constraints.
Minimal integration of limited	Optimizes assets and	Greatly expanded sensing and
operational data with Asset	operates efficiently	measurement of grid conditions.
Management processes and		Grid technologies deeply integrated
technologies. maintenance		with asset management processes to
		most effectively manage assets and
		costs.

Table 2: Comparison between traditional grid and the modern grid vision in the U.S.

[2.61]

II- EU's SmartGrid vision

In the EU, a new approach SmartGrid vision is developed by the EC for the Europe future electricity networks. It was set up by the European Technology Platform (ETP) in 2005 to create a common vision for the European networks for year 2020 and beyond [2.62]. The main objective of the approach is to facilitate the transformation from the current Europe power networks to better EU future power networks by integrating the latest technologies, providing efficient and competitive energy market, supporting regulations and policy, and complete integration of distributed energy resources in order to make the EU future power networks to have the following key features [2.62]:

- Flexible: Meeting consumers' needs whilst responding to the changes and challenges ahead.
- Accessible: ensuring connection access to the users, particularly for renewable and high efficiency local generation.

- Reliable: improving security and quality of supply.
- Economic: providing best value through innovation, efficient energy management and competition and regulation.

The ETP has stressed that the movement forward to reaching the future EU power grid functions requires the EU grid to be incorporated by an appropriate information and communication technologies (ICT), activating the participation of end users by applying more intelligent demand and supply management [2.62]. The EU vision is more distributed and decentralised grid focused, where demand control and a high penetration of distributed renewable and low carbon generation are expected to be significantly installed at distribution networks in the future. This is driven by two main factors. One is the high dependency of the EU on external import of primary energy primary due to the limitation in the EU local primary energy resources. The second factor is, the energy related policy decisions are influenced largely by the commitments to local and international environmental targets such as Kyoto and post Kyoto protocol. There is an additional factor which is the level of public awareness of energy consumption issues which is relatively stronger than in the U.S. as explained in [2.45][2.63].

Comparing the two above future power grid visions, a wide range of similarities can be seen. Both visions rely highly on integrating new information, communication, and intelligent technologies into the existing power grids to support the transition towards decentralised systems that can create more affordable and reliable power grids. However, the EU vision is more environmental driven supported by a strong link to the security of primary energy supply, where the EU countries import about 57% of their primary energy from abroad [2.11]. While in the U.S. efforts are driven by Environmental Protection Agency recommendation, and U.S. has rich energy resources compared to the EU [2.45]. Therefore, the U.S. future energy policies related to energy issues focus more on supporting clean coal technologies, demand side management (DSM), and distributed generation seen as secondary focus, while EU policies focus more on use of distributed renewable and low carbon sources and efficiency measures to shape the development of the EU future power systems [2.45].

III- Highly Distributed Power System (HDPS) vision

Highly Distributed Power System is a system that is incorporated with a significant penetration of microgeneration and dynamic loads, in the way that the loads become an active and supplied by centralised generation and a wide range of decentralised generation. The HDPS concept can be summarised by the statement "many active loads supplied by many sources".



Figure 2- 5: Moving towards HDPS

From characteristics point of view, HDPS mainly focuses on creating solutions for future power systems incorporated highly with distributed energy resources (DERs) which can largely help in tackling climate change and fuel poverty as well as improving the reliability and resilience of the whole system by adopting sufficient energy control strategies. Based on HDPS scenarios [2.51], the DERs including renewable and low carbon microgeneration, demand side management, and electric vehicles require to be significantly installed in order for future power system help to meet the UK 2050 target. This means within HDPS the local distribution networks receive most of the changes by accommodating large volume of microgeneration as well as energy saving measures. The local generation and active demand are the key elements in the structure, operation, and the control of the HDPS.

The above three visions are mainly based on the characteristics of decentralised future power systems, and they do not adequately convey the level of detail necessary to provide a clear system structure that can support the incorporation of large numbers of DERs, and how they can be fitted and managed. Therefore, there is a need for a neat structure that can facilitate the active management of DERs in order to avoid any passive operation of such devices and resulting in system operational problems. In addition, managing DERs actively can bring benefits for DERs owners as well as system operators [2.64]. Therefore, a new structure concept which is called a cell for a system with many sources supplying many active loads is proposed and discussed in comparison with other system structure concepts in the next section.

2.4 HDPS Cell concept

The architecture of traditional power systems control is typically based on centralised approaches. Large regions of passive distribution systems are controlled remotely by limited centres with limited participation from the electricity users. When large amount of DERs are connected to different voltage levels of distribution systems, the systems become an active and their operating strategies may be remarkably influenced. This will require a new way of control structure by which the benefits from/to DERs and the host system are maximised as much as possible, and the problems from/to DERs and the host system are minimised as much as possible.

There are numbers of concepts in terms of the system control structure from technical perspective have been proposed by different research. One example is the "Danish Cell" which has been introduced by the Energinet.dk Company and the Transmission System Operator (TSO) of Denmark to be used as a new solution for obtaining an optimal management and active grid utilisation of the large amount of distributed generation present in Western Denmark [2.65].

The background of the Danish Cell approach is based on the creation of a system architecture that allows for a specific part of a distribution network to operate in parallel with the HV system in normal operation, and to independently disconnect from the HV in case of fault situations and switch over to a controlled island operation. In the case of switching to controlled island fails, then the cell is able to carry out a black-start itself and thus transferred to the state of a controlled island operation [2.66]. Each cell would be controlled by main cell controller which is located at the boundary of the cell in order to successfully run the transition between the three states (i.e. cell connected to the grid, islanded cell, and cell black-start). Figure 2- 6 shows the concept of 60kV Danish Cell example, with the main cell controller [2.67]. The main cell controller receiving

measurements and information of demands and generation, and sending control signals to generators, load feeders, and main circuit breakers to perform the cell functions [2.67].



Figure 2- 6: 60kV Danish Cell with main cell controller [2.67].

The main objective of the "Danish cell" is based on the supply of power to the users when distribution network areas with large amount of DGs are unintentionally disconnected from the main grid due to faults. In spite of the importance of such objective, there is a high concern on how to manage and maximise the participation from local generation and active demand to support the system during the grid-connected mode, and at the same time manage the reward of the DERs participation. Also, there is a high concern about minimising the impact of DERs on the performance of the system and the system performance on the DERs during different system operating conditions. Therefore, HDPS cell concept is proposed in this thesis as an alternative concept to exploit the useful features of DER units in supporting the wider system by managing these units more effectively.

2.4.1 HDPS Cell definition

The HDPS cell is based on the concept that distribution networks incorporating large volume of DERs are divided into numbers of multiple manageable areas by which the DERs are controlled to meet particular objectives. Therefore, the cell is created due to

the emergence of DERs within distribution system areas, and this makes the DERs as key elements within the cell. The characteristics of the cells depend on their boundaries which can be classified by distribution networks layout based on the allocated objectives that are required from the cell. So, a cell can be demarcated at various levels of distribution networks.

Within the cell two forms of objectives to achieve can be set. One is internal by which the local constraints caused by DERs can be managed within the cell. The other is external by which the DERs collective impacts can be passed to a higher management system to its boundaries (i.e. bigger cell) in order to support the wider system. In addition, the cell also should be capable of being able to operate in conjunctions with other adjacent cells or with higher management systems to the cell to form a bigger cell in a hierarchical structure that will significantly support wider system up to transmission level [2.68].

Figure 2-7 shows demarcated areas start from LV and electricity users' points up to grid supply point (GSP) of urban distribution networks as an example of a number of cells that are formed in hierarchical structures. The cell hierarchical paradigm will provide flexibility, by passing actions across different cell levels moving toward the system as aggregate actions, and towards the local levels through subdividing structure. At each cell level will be allocated objectives starts from individual consumers up to multi-cell levels as it will be discussed further in section (2.4.3). The Figure 2-7 also shows the main local elements of the cells that can be used for the system support.



Figure 2-7: Cell structure examples for urban networks

2.4.2 HDPS Cell objectives

The capability of a cell to perform certain function to meet the cell predetermined objectives can differ according to the size of the cell and the need of the system from the cell. The cell size can be influenced by the density and technologies of DERs incorporated within the cell as well as the cell structure. For example, the cell boundary can be identified at the point that the cell or a group of cells can provide external services to the higher system level. Or the boundary can be identified where the internal constraints can be locally managed. A range of local and external objectives that the cell may achieve are discussed below:

Cell local objectives:

- Effective energy management: integrating demand response with smart appliances by using information provided by smart meter will improve energy usage efficiency, and hence will lead to reduce peak demand.
- Managing local thermal constraints by performing the following functions; zero power export, zero power import, self-sufficiently, constant power import/export, and dispatchable power export [2.69].
- Maintaining local voltages within statutory limits: local active elements of the cell such as controllable local generation and demand, storage, and other local network assets and perhaps other smaller cells if exist can be used within a cell to improve the voltage profile across local distribution buses.
- Supplying power to the users during the loss of the main grid. This will require the cell to be capable of operating in island if distribution networks are disconnected due to faults, and black-start function would be also required.
- Improving reliability and power quality: since large amount of data provided by smart devices, this will increase the distribution automation level which will indeed help in quick and flexible reconfiguration which is in turn will improve the outage restoration time, and improve quality for the users. Also improving the reliability by means of intentional islanding can be obtained in case of system failure.
- Managing local disturbances: due to the increase in the penetration of microgeneration within the cell, the prospective fault level will be increased. This increase should be managed within the cell to avoid any damage could be caused to local equipments.

Cell external objectives

The cell external objectives are system objectives rather than cell level objectives. Some examples of external cell objectives are listed below:

- Support control of system voltage and system frequency
- Control of real and reactive power imports or exports through the cells and higher management systems.

- Control thermal constraints, and the spread of disturbances such as fault level increase and stability problems
- Increase the system reliability
- Minimise the complexity

2.4.3 Control structure of cells

Based on the cells boundaries and their size, the control structure of cells can be mainly built in hierarchical form so the control actions can be further aggregated or subdivided in order to maximise the useful inputs and outputs of each aspect of distribution systems at different voltage levels. The control actions and participation to the system operation can start from a single smart device at consumers' level up to higher management system levels, or from the system level down to device level as shown in Figure 2- 8. Based on distribution networks layout, the control approach within HDPS cells then can be divided into four levels; smart device control level, smart dwelling control level, cell control level, and multi cells control level. At each of these levels there are allocated objectives that the level should meet.

A- Smart device control level

The device control will control the smart device, such as controllable load, microgenerator, and storage and plugged-in electric vehicles within a smart house based on the instructions received from the higher level control. Localised controllers would be required to be installed in home appliances to make it possible for the appliances to be automatically controlled in response to supporting the system operating conditions, and at the same time provide some benefits for the users.

B- Smart dwelling control level

The control schemes at this level will have two main functions: Firstly, making a local decision at customer level based on using local measurement and received control and price signals to meet consumer aims and offer an effective household energy management. For example, the local loads and generation can be controlled by responding to feed-in technical and price signals. The local load and generation could be switched on and off based on low and high rate connection which could be linked to

peak shaving. These individual actions can be significant when a high penetration of smart dwellings is present within the cell.

Secondly, responding to requests from local cell level control whenever are required for larger level targets. At this level the smart meter would play a significant role for providing the needed information about the condition of the smart consumer, and coordinating the actions between the consumer's smart devices which can benefit the consumer and support the system operation. At this control level, two directions of power and information between the users and their suppliers can be provided. The information that is provided to the higher control level can be used to take the appropriate action to perform the cell internal objectives based on the available options from the users.

C- Cell control level

The control at this level controls a number of active elements within the cell such as local generation, dynamic loads, energy storage, and other network measures to create the ability of mitigating local constraints and meeting local objectives, and providing a major system-level support. The aggregated corrective action can be extracted from the available collective distributed resources within the cell for local purpose or being exported to wider system level as aggregated actions. For example, the cell distributed resources can be used to maintain voltage regulation and keeping the local voltages within statutory limits. The cell also will enable coordinated control of the all the connected DERs and information provided within a cell to control its elements to provide: ancillary services, peak shaving and shifting, voltage control, system optimisation and reconfiguration, and disturbance management.

D- Multi-cell control level

The control at this level is a multi-level decentralised control that can provide multilevel corrective actions with respect to the host system operating conditions. The control at this level can be considered as an approach to perform administrative tasks to distribute the management and control tasks of numbers of cells in order to provide significant support to wider system in hierarchical structure. For example, system voltage and frequency can be supported by using the local small cells and DERs impacts.



Figure 2-8: Structure of control levels of HDPS cell concept

The HDPS cell concept based on hierarchical structures can be considered as an effective means to facilitate the utilisation of local DERs, and the possibility of exploiting the useful features of DER units in support of the wider system can be offered by the concept. The HDPS cell structure also provides simpler and better coordinated communication with DERs by building the system in hierarchical structure and allowing the inputs from DERs and groups of cells to be transferred as collective actions when it moves from the consumer level to wider system level.

In addition, the HDPS cell structure gives an indication of who controls the grid and how the grid can be controlled at different voltage levels, and at which level control actions are required based on the allocated internal and external objectives required from the cell to support the wider system. Another contribution can be made by HDPS cell
structure is, by identifying the cell objectives in the benefits of the wider system, the appropriate DERs technologies and where can be fit within distribution systems to perform the allocated objectives can be proposed.

Therefore, when HDPS cell is compared with other alternative concepts such as Danish cell, HDPS cell concept is driven by allocated objectives which are normally set to support local and wider systems when a high penetration of distributed energy resources are incorporated. While the Danish cell concept is mainly driven by the value of islanding operation and black-start as main objectives. Also HDPS cell concept is a definite physical structure of active distribution systems rather than a vision based on the characteristic of the system such as SmartGrid and IntilliGrid visions. This means that the HDPS cell concept can be used as a means of delivering these visions.

Based on HDPS cell structure, and on the projection of forward looking power network scenarios discussed earlier in section (2.3.5), substantial amount of microgeneration are expected to be installed in the future, and hence they will become an important element of the cell that can be used to support the cell objectives. The cells performance with such units need to be well studied and well understood under different system operating conditions in order to evaluate measures of risk and resilience levels. This can help to manage the cell local constraints and at the same time prevent the disturbance to be spread to other adjacent cells or to higher system levels. Therefore, the possible technical impact that a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration may have on the performance of LV cells under fault conditions, and stressing practical measures by which these impacts are minimised are discussed in the next section of this chapter.

2.5 Potential technical impacts of LV-connected microgeneration

Traditional distribution systems are radial in nature, and approximately 75% of customers hours power lost are due to faults on distribution networks [2.70]. When large volume of microgeneration connected to LV networks this nature will be impacted and during the fault a number of technical issues may be caused by microgeneration. For example, during fault conditions both microgeneration and the host distribution network are under stress. Microgeneration will provide a new path of fault currents, and the host

distribution network has been designed without the existence of such path. From the other angle, the host network performance during faults may significantly influence the fault ride through capabilities of microgeneration.

Most of existing low voltage equipments are designed without consideration of connected microgeneration, therefore the increased fault level caused by microgeneration may lead the equipments to reach their short-circuit ratings, and this can cause damage to the equipments. In addition, the new fault paths provided by microgeneration will provide reverse fault currents, and these currents may impact the LV protection performance, since the design of LV distribution systems protection is largely based on fault with one direction, and the fault source is always seen far from distribution networks.

The following sections summarise the significance of investigating the anticipated transient problems surrounding the integration of microgeneration units on a large basis, and the studies that have been conducted by other research. It is summarised from two points of views; one is the impact of microgeneration units on the host low voltage distribution network performance during fault conditions, and the other is the impact of the host distribution network performance during fault conditions on the transient performance of LV connected microgeneration. Three areas are included; fault level issues, low voltage protection performance issue, and microgeneration transient stability issues.

2.5.1 Fault level issues

Most of traditional distribution networks are radial in nature with only one source and one path of fault currents. Based on this philosophy, the fault current rating of distribution systems equipments is identified, and the equipments are designed. Also, at medium and low voltage distribution networks, the fault contribution of the upstream grid is determined by the impedance of the HV/MV and MV/LV transformers, which is normally chosen to be at its lowest value in order to reduce the losses and at the same time improve the voltage regulations. This may make the short circuit capacity of traditional distribution networks to be close to their design limits [2.71][2.72]. This

design has not at all considered the projection of connecting new local generation at distribution networks. So, adding large population of microgeneration to distribution networks will contribute to the system fault level, and this will alter the networks fault level. This is because uncontrolled short circuit can cause numbers of problems such as service outage with associated inconvenience, interruption of essential facilities or vital services, extensive equipment damage, personal injury or fatality, and possible fire damage [2.73]. Therefore, fault levels studies are necessary to ensure that short-circuit ratings of the components are adequate to handle the fault currents available at their locations, and each individual component of existing distribution systems must withstand the prospective fault current when microgeneration are installed.

There are numbers of studies have been conducted to identify whether the areas of distribution networks will be affected by the fault level increase due to the forecast growth in distributed generation. However, regarding to a fault level issue caused by microgeneration, the issue has not received a wide attention, and still no clear answer about whether the fault level due to microgeneration connection would be problem or not. For example, PB power report studies have considered the impact of small-scale single phase generators (i.e. 1.1kW per customer) with penetration up to 100% on LV and MV of a typical UK distribution network fault levels [2.74]. The studies have concluded that the existing LV networks can take up to 100% penetration of small scale microgeneration rating from 1 to 1.1kW, and the only limit was outlined is voltage regulation, and this limit can be overcome by adjusting transformers tap changers or upgrading the transformers. The report has only considered the system fault level issues due to the connection of single-phase microgeneration to domestic premises. The report did not consider microgeneration size that can be connected at commercial levels. For such application, microgeneration can be a three-phase device, and its size can be up to 50kVA.

Another study to tackle fault level issues is the KEMA consulting report for the department of trade and industry of the UK (DTI) to investigate the contribution to UK distribution network fault levels from the connection of distributed generation in short-term period. The output of the studies has indicated that the fault level will not be a

problematic in the majority of LV networks, and the only areas are expected to experience fault level issues are the following three cases of the distribution networks [2.75][2.76]:

- 1- LV networks with a high penetration of distributed generation may require fault level related reinforcement, for instance, where micro CHP is installed in high density urban areas. KEMA has indicated that they do not have experience with networks where large amounts of micro CHP are installed in urban networks [2.75].
- 2- The increase in power generated from small, medium and large CHP will lead to the increase in fault levels on already densely MV urban 11kV and 33kV networks which currently have the lowest fault level headroom.
- 3- Isolated 132kV substations where large-scale DG projects connect into rural networks.

The results from the KEMA report [2.76] are based on the contribution to distribution fault level from LV connected distributed generation (DGs) in short-term scenarios, with DGs representing no more than 2.5GW of the UK capacity (i.e. about 3% of the UK peak load). This amount of generation is relatively smaller than the amount of microgeneration that is expected to be installed by 2050 under different scenarios as discussed early in this chapter. The studies also have assumed the fault level will not limit the uptake of distributed generation connected to LV distribution networks where the interface of these generators by power electronics is expected to increase. However, the same studies have stated that in some situations, if distributed generation penetration levels are sufficiently high, it may necessitate network reconfiguration or uprating of equipment. This may occur in the areas with a high density of micro CHP which is more likely to be in urban areas.

Therefore, the impact of LV connected microgeneration with different penetration in respect to the local loads on the fault level of a realistic MV/LV urban distribution network example based on the cell structures is quantified in chapter three of the thesis.

Two sizes of microgeneration are used; domestic and commercial sizes. Microgenerators are modelled in details as an aggregated model with careful consideration of the impact of the impedances of the cables between microgenerators connection points to examine their collective impacts on the fault level of a typical urban distribution networks.

2.5.2 Protection issues

The protection schemes of any power systems including distribution consider a number of requirements such as [2.70].

- Speed (i.e. not too slow which may lead to damage of the equipments and not too fast which may lead to losing selectivity)
- Reliability (i.e. the certainty of a correct operation & the security against incorrect operation)
- Cost (i.e. maximum protection is met at the lowest possible cost)
- Sensitivity (i.e. good capability of detecting faults on the system).

Associated with a traditional distribution system, these protection requirements have been considered for a passive system. When a large number of microgenerators are connected to LV distribution networks, the networks will not be considered anymore as a radial with unidirectional power flow. A new path for short-circuit currents is provided. This may impact the requirements of protection systems of LV distribution networks. If the protection performance is impacted, and it is not properly handled, then lower reliability, lower sensitivity, and even reduction in power quality by lowering the protection selectivity may result [2.77].

Another reason that increases the interest of investigating this area is the nature of the existing protection schemes that protect LV distribution networks. The passive LV feeders are still widely protected by simple overcurrent protection schemes by using fuses blowing schemes for simplicity and cost reasons. Fuses do not have inherent directional properties, where the direction of the current flow is always identified. Adding microgeneration to the LV system may increase or decrease the fault current seen by the LV fuses depending on the fault location, and fuse and microgeneration location. For example, the aggregate contribution from microgeneration to the fault

current feeding downstream faults may accelerate the fuse operating time for downstream faults, where the higher fault current will lead to faster fuse operation. Also reverse fault current provided by microgeneration to feed upstream faults may wrongly blow up fuses at the beginning of LV feeders. If any fuse is wrongly operated, the restoration may take some time due to the following the operation which leads to loss of supply until the fuse unit is replaced.

The distribution network protection issues caused by the presence of distributed generation that can be connected at MV side have received a wide area of investigations and studies. However, the impact of a high penetration of small scale microgeneration connected to LV side on LV protection performance has not received much attention. Numbers of researches such as those reported in [2.78] and [2.79] have stressed that the connection of distributed generation to MV may cause traditional protection schemes to become ineffective. In these studies it was concluded that the widespread use of distributed generation created a series of new problems, such as impacting the coordination of overcurrent protection in addition to control of voltage sag magnitude and duration by using overcurrent protective devices [2.80]. The connection of heavy penetration of distributed generation to distribution networks could blind protection devices, or wrongly trip a safe feeder by feeding a fault on an adjacent feeder [2.78]. With the connection of distributed generation, the system coordination could be lost [2.81]. In a case of fault, DGs impact the current contribution to fault, and therefore it impacts the behaviour of network protection [2.81]. When DG is connected, an additional power flow is added from the load side, and therefore opening the main protective device may not assure that the fault is cleared [2.82].

The studies in [2.83] which were carried out to find innovative solutions for protection problems arising in distribution networks in presence of DGs. The studies illustrate the malfunctioning problems that may take place in distribution networks protection schemes in presence of DGs. In particular the following areas were considered; lack of coordination in protection schemes, ineffectiveness of line reclosing after a fault using automatic reclosing devices, undesired islanding and untimely tripping of DG interface

protections. In terms of coordination issues, the studies found that if the faulted section is upstream from the protection devices two possibilities can emerge [2.83]:

- Protective devices see the same fault current, and hence coordination can be lost.
- Protective devices see different currents, and coordination can be maintained if the generators that provide a higher contribution to fault currents connected upstream from those with a lower contribution.

So, the remaining research question is, will the collective impact of a large penetration of LV connected microgeneration during fault conditions be strong enough to impact the low voltage protection performance as same as distributed generators do at MV level, or due to their small size the impact will be insignificant?

To answer this question, in chapter four of the thesis more literature review on the work that has been recently conducted in this areas is further discussed, and detailed studies are carried out to outline the protection system problems in LV distribution systems when a high penetration of microgeneration are connected to the LV distribution systems. The influence of microgeneration on LV system protection is analysed, taking into account the impacts on the following requirements of LV protection schemes fuse based: the correct operation (i.e. reliability), the graded setting (coordination or selectivity), and the ability of the protection fault detection (i.e. sensitivity). The results are in favour of identifying whether the LV distribution networks are still sufficiently protected, or some measures will be required.

2.5.3 Microgeneration transient stability issue

The previous two areas discussed the possible potential impacts that microgeneration may have on the host network during fault conditions, and for benefits from microgeneration and support to the host system under transient disturbance to be realised it is also important for these devices to ride-through transient disturbances on the host system. This will require understanding of the resilience level and the transient response of microgeneration during and after the system transient disturbances. Transient stability studies at distribution system level particularly at LV were formerly insignificant before microgeneration with different sizes and technologies began to be connected to LV feeders. The results that are presented in [2.84] have shown that distributed generation (DGs) at heavy penetration levels will have a significant impact on local distribution systems, and sometimes the bulk transmission system stability may be affected. The low inertia of those generators may increase the weakness of the system. This means the connection of a large number of microgenerators interfaced by low inertia rotating machines into LV distribution network would be more sensitive to faults on the host systems compared to DGs with larger size and better transient response.

Faults on the host system will cause voltage dips, and if the dips are noticed on the terminals of rotating machines connected to distribution networks, transient stability issues may result. This is because the terminals voltage and the rotor speed are intrinsically related, and the rotor speed will increase when the machine terminals voltage decreases due to faults. If instability occurs, sensitive elements such as microgenerators with low inertia and limited controllability can be tripped, and dynamic loads can be stalled if the fault is not cleared quickly. The duration of voltage dips depends on how fast the fault will be cleared by the existing protection.

The distribution network protection schemes are normally based on coordinating the operating times of the protective devices, where downstream elements will respond to faults faster than upstream. This will lead to different operating time dictated by location and type of faults in order to meet protection selectivity purposes. In [2.85] it has been stated that such coordination may lead to operating times of protective devices at the upstream end of a distribution feeder as high as 1.5 sec. Such operating time may not be small enough to maintain the transient stability of connected microgeneration, and thus, the units in an affected area will be disconnected for faults close to upstream protection devices. The impact of losing a single or a few microgenerators following a fault on the system may not be a significant issue except perhaps to individual customers, but the unnecessary disconnection of a large penetration of microgeneration due to remote faults

upstream from microgeneration can become problematic. It may have technical, environmental, economic, and social impacts.

From technical perspective, the impact could change the voltage of one phase and may unbalance 3-phase voltages at LV and MV levels through the MV/LV transformers [2.78]. Existing distribution networks are already suffering from voltage unbalance issue due to the random connection of houses to particular phases along a feeder. Another problem could emerge due to unnecessary disconnection is voltage steps which can be seen as a power quality issue, and it is identified in Engineering Recommendation P28 not to exceed a limit of $\pm 3\%$ of the magnitude of the voltage step change occurring from switching operations [2.86]. Also the voltage step changes due to simultaneous reconnection after tripping could result from microgeneration transient instability. In order to avoid delay in reconnection microgeneration, the Engineering Recommendation G83/1 has permitted that if a microgenerator is disconnected from the network, it can be reconnected to the grid after 3 minutes [2.57]. If large numbers of microgenerators are disconnected due to transient instability, this permission could allow considerable numbers of microgenerators to be reconnected almost simultaneously after 3 minutes of disconnection.

In addition, since microgeneration will behave like negative loads, their simultaneous trip can lead to sudden emergence of hidden loads which may initiate the low frequency load disconnection schemes or under voltage protection schemes if nominal voltages or frequency limits are exceeded due to the emergence of hidden loads. Taking 27th May 2008 event in the UK [2.28] as an example, there was unexpected tripping of large amount of distributed generation (i.e. about 279MW connected to the UK distribution systems) which led the maximum secured loss at that day to be exceeded, and the low frequency load disconnection schemes to be initiated and affected about 550,000 of consumers. So if a high penetration of microgeneration is disconnected due to remote faults, then the performance of the system may be impacted adversely by the sudden appearance of the hidden load which may lead to disconnection of consumers.

From social perspective, unnecessary and unplanned disconnection of microgenerators privately owned will be unacceptable, and this can impact customers' interest in considering microgeneration as reliable and sustainable energy sources. From environmental perspective, disconnection of microgeneration would lead to losing their significant contribution to tackling climate change. For example, in the case of significant amount of microgeneration disconnected, the lost local generation amount will be compensated by large power plants. This means more fossil fuels will be used and more losses in transmission and distribution lines will be incurred until microgeneration are reconnected. In addition, within deregulation power market structures, undesirable disconnection of microgeneration driven by consumers' choice may directly lead penalty compensation to the users those lost their generators due to system faults.

Therefore, for a system support under transient disturbances by microgeneration, and for avoidance of any negative impacts that unnecessary disconnection of microgeneration may have on the system performance, there is a need for microgeneration to be able to overcome a number of associated system transient disturbances. This need makes transient stability of LV connected microgeneration to be an emerging area that requires deep studies, and the endurance of microgeneration to ride through remote disturbances to become vital.

To sum up, microgeneration interfaced by rotating machines can be sensitive to transient disturbances on the systems because of the following reasons:

- Microgeneration are machines of small rating with low inertias.
- Microgeneration have limited control capability (the AVRs and speed governors if present have poor dynamic performances).
- Protection philosophy in distribution systems is based on coordination schemes, and this can lead protective devices at upstream end to operate up to few 100s msec. Such operating time may not support the transient stability of LVconnected microgeneration.

So two following research questions emerge in this area:

- Q1: How large amount of LV connected microgeneration (i.e. within LV cell) will respond to fault conditions on the system, and what is the compatibility between the existing low voltage distribution protection performance and the capabilities of microgeneration to ride through faults?
- Q2: What are the possible innovation solutions and changes that can be implemented to traditional distribution networks in order to provide improved transient stability performance of microgeneration, and the avoidance of negative impacts associated with microgeneration transient stability issues can be reaches?

To answer these two questions, chapter five of the thesis analyses in detail the transient performance of different size and technologies of LV connected microgeneration when different fault conditions are applied to the host distribution network, and the resilience level of microgeneration against different fault locations is quantified. In chapter six, a remedial measure by which microgeneration transient stability can be improved is introduced.

2.6 Computer simulation programme used for thesis studies

The Electro-Magnetic Transients including DC (EMTDC) interfaced by PSCAD computer programme has been used for conducting all the technical work of the thesis. PSCAD/EMTDC can be used for simulating the time domain instantaneous responses to study the electromagnetic transient phenomena, analyze different electrical power systems conditions, and to be used for verification purposes. This tool is a powerful tool that can be used for understanding the behaviour of different electrical systems when the system is subjected to disturbances. Its electric network solutions are based on digital computer solutions in single and multiphase networks. In addition, the tool has a rich spectrum of professionally developed models of different machines, exciters, governors, stabilizers, turbines, and multi-mass tensional shaft model as well as other complementary elements that can be used for power system simulations [2.87]. Also default data of machines and electric branches based on typical data obtained from industry are available with the PSCAD master library.

2.7 Test network selection

A typical HV-LV distribution network for an urban example (i.e. more likely to have higher fault currents) based on an actual urban distribution network has been selected as a test network for investigating the technical issues related to the connection of a high penetration of microgeneration to passive low voltage distribution networks. All the data used for the network model has been derived from information provided within distribution long term development statements (DLTDS) by the distribution network operators (DNOs) and manufacturers of distribution equipments [2.88]. The test network is developed in detail in the next chapter and defined as test network 1 and used for fault level and low voltage protection studies. The same test network with different model details of low voltage networks which is suitable for stability studies are developed in chapter five and defined as test network 2 and used for microgeneration transient stability studies.

2.8 Chapter summary

Environmental issues, security of energy supply issues, emerging competitive power markets, deregulation of electric utilities, and the advance of technologies such as advance communication and smart devices and the exploitation of renewable and low carbon energy resources have stimulated the interest in increasing the numbers of local distributed energy resources (DERs) at distribution systems. Adding a high penetration of DERs including microgeneration to a traditional power system that has not been designed to accommodate such devices will bring a great change to the configuration of such a system.

There are numbers of future power system visions such as IntilliGrid vision, SmartGrid vision, and HDPS vision that have been developed by different researchers to provide a vision of future power systems that can manage the changes that will occur due to the integration of DERs. These visions are based on the characteristics of future power systems and what the systems should offer, and what type of technologies can be implemented to meet certain objectives. However, at the moment these visions do not provide a clear physical structure of how large penetration of DERs can be controlled to gain the benefits that are promised by using DERs. The vast spread of DERs across

distribution power systems requires to be controlled within a clear and neat structure in order to maximise the benefits, and minimise the adverse impacts that DERs may have on the system performance.

Within this chapter, a new cell concept was proposed as a means of delivering the objectives of future power system visions by facilitating the exploitation of useful features of local generation and controllable dynamic demand. The concept is based on dividing active distribution networks into manageable areas (i.e. cells) in a hierarchical structure in which the cells can be subdivided into different control levels starts from multi-cell control level down to single device control level. At each control level there are allocated objectives that the cell at that level should meet in order to support itself and the wider system. The structure was proposed in order to provide a system level support by DERs as well as mitigating local constraints on local generation and dynamic demand.

There are other alternative concepts of controlling distributed resources such as "Danish Cell" which is mainly driven by the values of islanding and black-start operation. In contrast, HDPS cell opens access for DERs to provide their maximum contributions of ancillary services to support the local and wider systems under different operating conditions based on the cell allocated objectives. Based on the cell allocated objectives the HDPS cell also provides an indication of who controls the grid at different voltage levels.

For the benefits of DERs including microgeneration to be realised, the behaviour characteristics of a system incorporating a high penetration of these devices is important to be understood under different operating conditions, particularly when the host system experiences transient fault conditions. The host distribution systems must cope with problems emerging due to the presence of large amounts of microgeneration during faults such as increased fault levels and protection problems. Also local generators connected to the host distribution networks must overcome transient disturbances and avoid unnecessary trip. These two areas are widely analysed in the thesis, and solutions are proposed.

By proposing a new cell concept as one of the solutions that can deliver the objectives of future power systems, and understanding the behavioural characteristics of a system with a high penetration of small scale local generation, this thesis offers very valuable contribution to future attainment of sustainable power systems.

2.9 Chapter References

- [2.1] J. D. Kock, C. Strauss, "Practical Power Distribution for Industry", pp 164-165, ed 2004.
- [2.2] R. J. Fairbairn, Electricity Network Limitations on Large-Scale Deployment of Wind Energy, PB Power, Merz and McLellan Division, ETSU W/33/00529/REP, pp. 7-8, 1999.
- [2.3] The Department of Trade and Industry, DTI, Energy Flow Chart 2004, London, 2005.
- [2.4] Department of Energy and Climate Change of the UK, Annual Energy Statement, 10 July 2010, available online at: <u>http://www.decc.gov.uk</u>
- [2.5] Thomas F. Garrity, "Innovation and Trends for Future Electric Power Systems", IEEE power & energy magazine, pp. 38-54, March/April 2008.
- [2.6] European Commission, Community research, "World Energy Technology Outlook- 2050", November 2006, available at <u>http://www.ceresenergy.org/res/docs/wetoh2_en.pdf</u>
- [2.7] Department of Trade and Industry UK, "Meeting the Energy Challenge A white Paper on Energy A white Paper on Energy", May 2007, available at: www.berr.gov.uk/files/file39387.pdf
- [2.8] Redpoint Energy Limited and Energy Strategies Limited, "Dynamics of GB Electricity Generation Investment: Prices, Security of Supply, CO2 Emissions and Policy Options", Version 1.0, 18 May 2007, available online at: http://www.bis.gov.uk/files/file38972.pdf
- [2.9] DOE's Office of Electricity Delivery and Energy Reliability, "The Smart Grid: an introduction, the nature, challenges, opportunities and necessity of Smart Grid implementation", 2008, available at http://www.oe.energy.gov/SmartGridIntroduction.htm
- [2.10] OECD/IEA, 2005, Act Locally, Trade Globally, Emissions Trading for Climate Policy, International Energy Agency, available at: <u>http://www.iea.org/textbase/nppdf/free/2005/act_locally.pdf</u>.
- [2.11] European Communities, Directorate-General for the Environment, "EU action against climate change: Leading global action to 2020 and beyond", ISBN 978-

92-79-12061-9, 2009 edition, available at: http://ec.europa.eu/environment/climat/pdf/brochures/post_2012_en.pdf

- [2.12] United Nations (Content source); Peter Saundry and S. Niggol Seo (Topic Editor); 2008. "Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change". Available online at Encyclopedia of Earth website at: http://www.eoearth.org/article/Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework_Convention work_Convention_on_Climate_Change_(full_text)
- [2.13] Michael Grubb, Tooraj Jamasb, and Michael G. Pollitt, Delivering a Low-Carbon Electricity System, technologies, Economics, and Policy, Cambridge, pp 161-165.
- [2.14] The Department of Trade and Industry, DTI, the Energy Challenge-Energy review, London, 2006.
- [2.15] Energy 2030, An Invitation for Dialog, e.on, available at: www.eon.com/biogas
- [2.16] Bergman et al. UK microgeneration. Part I: Policy and behavioural aspects, Energy 162 Issue ENI.
- [2.17] Department for Community and Local Government. Building a Greener Future: Policy statement. DCLG, Wetherby, 2007.
- [2.18] M. Odenberger, F. Johnsson, "Pathways for the European electricity supply system to 2050- The role of CCS to meet stringent CO2 reduction targets", International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control, Sep. 2009.
- [2.19] EC 2008: 2020 by 2020-Europe's climate change opportunity. COM (2008) 30 final.
- [2.20] EP 2009: Energy security blueprint for the EU's future energy strategy. Press release from the European Parliament: 21st January 2009 available at: www.europarl.europa.eu.
- [2.21] Press release from the European Parliament 2009, "Energy security blueprint for the EU's future energy strategy", 21st January 2009, available online at www.europarl.europa.eu
- [2.22] International Energy Agency Ad-Hoc Group on Science & Energy Meeting Scientific Breakthroughs for a Clean Energy Future, 6-7 May 2008, Paris,

France(OECD/IEA)availableonlineat:http://www.iea.org/work/2008/ahgset/summarydoc.pdf

- [2.23] Anderson, G.; Donalek, P.; Farmer, R.; Hatziargyriou, N.; Kamwa, I.; Kundur, P.; Martins, N.; Paserba, J.; Pourbeik, P.; Sanchez-Gasca, J.; Schulz, R.; Stankovic, A.; Taylor, C.; Vittal, V. "Causes of the 2003 major grid blackouts in North America and Europe, and recommended means to improve system dynamic performance", IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, Vol. 20, No. 4, pp. 1922 1928, Nov. 2005.
- [2.24] U.S.-Canada Power System Outage Task Force, 2004 Final Report on the August 14, 2003 blackout in the United States and Canada: Causes and Recommendations, available online at: <u>http://www.nerc.com</u>.
- [2.25] Chunyan Li; Yuanzhang Sun; Xiangyi Chen, "Recommendations to improve power system security: Lessons learned from the Europe blackout on November 4", UPEC 2007, pp.529 – 533, 4-6 Sept. 2007.
- [2.26] Union for the Co-ordination of Transmission of Electricity (UCTE), "Interim Report of the Investigation Committee on the 28 September 2003 Blackout in Italy", Available at: <u>http://www.entsoe.eu/index.php?id=59</u>
- [2.27] Union for the Co-ordination of Transmission of Electricity (UCTE), "Final Report System Disturbance on 4 November 2006 in Europe", available at: <u>http://www.enbw.com/content/de/netznutzer/media/pdf/Final-Report-</u>20070130.pdf
- [2.28] National Grid, "Report of the investigation into the automatic demand disconnection following multiple generation losses and the demand control response that occurred on the 27th May 2008", available online at: <u>http://www.nationalgrid.com/NR/rdonlyres/D680C70A-F73D-4484-BA54-</u> 95656534B52D/26917/PublicReportIssue1.pdf
- [2.29] (DTI) Department of Trade and Industry of the UK, "Review of Distributed Generation", May 2007, available at: <u>http://www.bis.gov.uk/files/file39025.pdf</u>
- [2.30] Distributed Generation, A Factfile provided by the Institution of Engineering and Technology, available online at: <u>www.theiet.org/factfiles</u>
- [2.31] Collins, J. A micro-generation manifesto. Green Alliance, London. 2004
- [2.32] The British wind energy association: <u>www.bwea.com</u>.

- [2.33] The Solar Electric Power Association: <u>http://www.solarelectricpower.org/</u>
- [2.34] The Institution of Engineering and Technology, "An IET Factfile provides an introduction to fuel cells" available online at: www.theiet.org/factfiles
- [2.35] The European Union Energy website: http://www.energy.eu/
- [2.36] Smart P, Dinning A, Maloyd A, Causebrook A, Cowdroy S, ,"Accommodating Distributed Generation", Econnect project Report No: 1672,prepared for: The Department of Trade and Industry 2006.
- [2.37] Sustainability and Renewable Energy Sources, Part 2, Sustainable Enrgy CH1, Section 82 of the Energy Act 2004, Available online at: <u>http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts2004/ukpga_20040020_en_9#pt2-ch1-11g82</u>
- [2.38] DTI Power from the People: DTI Microgeneration Strategy. UK Department of Trade and Industry. Stationary Office, London. 2006
- [2.39] Dr. Timothy D. Rotheray, "Zero carbon homes-The way forward", MicroPower, March 2009 available online at: <u>http://www.micropower.co.uk/welcome.html</u>
- [2.40] The Micropower Council, Microgeneration Technologies, available online at: <u>http://www.micropower.co.uk/</u>
- [2.41] Department of Energy & Climate Change (DECC), "Impact assessment of smart metering roll out for domestic consumers and for small businesses", DECC publications, available online at: <u>http://www.decc.gov.uk/publications/basket.aspx?filepath=what+we+do%2fsu</u> <u>pporting+consumers%2fsmart+energy+meters%2ffile45794.pdf&filetype=4&</u> minwidth=true
- [2.42] European Smart Metering Industry Group (ESMIG), "Smart Metering for Europe, A key technology to achieve the 20-20-20 targets", January 2009 available online at: <u>http://www.esmig.eu/about-us</u>
- [2.43] Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) and Ofgem, "GB-Wide smart meter roll out for the domestic sector", SECC 0009, July 2010 available online at: <u>http://www.ofgem.gov.uk/Pages/MoreInformation.aspx?docid=40&</u> refer=e-serve/sm/Documentation
- [2.44] Ralph Masiello, Achieving the vision of a "Smart Grid", KEMA Perspectives and Observations, New Orleans November 2008, available online at:

http://www.narucmeetings.org/Presentations/Achieving%20the%20Utility%20 of%20the%20Future%20-%20Ralph%20Masiello.pdf

- [2.45] Debora Coll-Mayor, Mia Paget, Eric Lightner, "Future Intelligent Power Grids: Analysis of the vision in the European Union and the United States", Energy Policy 35, Elsevier, pp 2453-2465, 2007.
- [2.46] Feed-In Tariffs Ltd powered by Ownergy, "The information site for the new guaranteed payments for renewable electricity in the UK", available online at: http://www.fitariffs.co.uk/
- [2.47] Sustanable Solutions, Feed in Tariffs (FiT's), available online at: http://www.sigss.co.uk/default.asp
- [2.48] European Commission, Community research, "World Energy Technology Outlook- 2050", November 2006, available at <u>http://www.ceresenergy.org/res/docs/wetoh2_en.pdf</u>
- [2.49] D. C. Mayor, M. Paget, E. Lightner, "Future intelligent power grid: Analysis of the vision in the European Union and the United State", Energy Policy 35 (2007) 2453-2465.
- [2.50] Large Scale Integration of Micro-Generation to Low Voltage Grids, Evaluation of DG Regulatory Practices in Europe, Dec. 2005.
- [2.51] C. N. Jardine, "Supergen HDPS Scenarios", Supergen Consortium on Highly Distributed Power Systems, Oxford University, Nov. 2006, Available online at: http://www.supergen-hdps.org, Nov. 2006.
- [2.52] G. Ault, I. Elders, J. McDonald, G. Burt, R. Tumilty, "Electricity Network Scenarios for 2020", July 2006. Available online from: www.supergennetworks.org.uk
- [2.53] Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, November 2003, "UK Electricity Scenarios for 2050", available online at: http://www.tyndall.ac.uk/publications/working_papers/wp41.pdf
- [2.54] Elders, I., G. Ault, S. Galloway, J. McDonald, M. Leach, E. Lampaditou and J. Kohler (2006). Electricity network scenarios for the United Kindom in 2050, in T. Jamasb, W. J. Nuttall and M. G. Pollitt (eds), Future Electricity Technologies and Systems, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press 2006.

- [2.55] Graham Ault, Damien Frame, Nick Hughes, Long-Term Electricity Network Scenarios (LENS) for Great Britain in 2050, final report for Ofgem's LENS Project (ref. No. 157a/08), November 2008, available online at: <u>http://www.ofgem.gov.uk/Pages/MoreInformation.aspx?file=081107Ofgem_let_ter.pdf&refer=Networks/Trans/ElecTransPolicy/lens</u>
- [2.56] Requirement for the Connection of Micro-Generators in Parallel with Public Low-Voltage Distribution Networks, European Standard EN50438-2007
- [2.57] Engineering Recommendation G83/1 Recommendations for the connection of small scale embedded generators (up to 16A per phase) in parallel with public low-voltage distribution networks", Energy Networks Association, London UK 2002.
- [2.58] EPRI, Electric Power Research Institute, Smart Power for the 21st Century, IntelliGrid publications, available at: <u>http://intelligrid.epri.com/publications</u>
- [2.59] IntelliGrid: A smart network of power, EPRI Journal, pp28-32, fall 2005.
- [2.60] Energy Information Administration (EIA), US, Annual Energy Review 2004, Renewable Energy, DOE/EIA-0384 (2004), August 2005. <u>www.eia.doe.gov</u>
- [2.61] The NETL Modern Grid Initiative, "A vision for the modern grid", conducted by the National Energy Technology Laboratory for the U.S. Department of Energy, March 2007, available online at: <u>www.netl.doe.gov/moderngrid</u>
- [2.62] European Commission, European Smart Grids Technology Platform (ETP),
 "Vision and Strategy for Europe's Electricity Networks of the Future", 2006,
 available at: http://www.smartgrids.eu/documents/vision.pdf
- [2.63] Stevens, P., Oil Markets, "Oxford Review of Economic Policy 21 (1), 2005, pp 19-42.
- [2.64] Haesen, E.; Alarcon-Rodriguez, A.D.; Driesen, J.; Belmans, R.; Ault, G.
 "Opportunities for active DER management in deferral of distribution system reinforcements", Power Systems Conference and Exposition, IEEE/PES, 15-18
 March 2009, pp1 8.
- [2.65] Per Lund, Energinet.dk, "The Danish cell project-part 1: background and general approach, Denmark", IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting, 24-28 June 2007.

- [2.66] T. Akermann, P. Lund, N. Martensen, E. Troster, "Overview of the Danish Cell Project", available online at: <u>http://www.energynautics.com/downloads/kompetenzen/Cell_Project_Presenta</u> <u>tion.pdf</u>
- [2.67] Thomas Ackermann, Per Lund, Nis Martensen, Eckehard Troster, and Valerijs Knazkins, "Overview of the Danish Cell Project", The 7th International Workshop on Large Scale Integration of Wind Power and on Transmission Networks for Offshore Wind Farms, Madrid, Spain 26-27 May 2008.
- [2.68] SuperGen 3 Highly Distributed Power Systems, "System Level Concept Definition", Nov. 2008, available at <u>www.supergen-hdps.org</u>
- [2.69] P. Trichakis, P. C. Taylor, G. Coates, and L. M. Cipcigan, "Distributed Control Approach small-scale energy zones", Journal of Power and Energy, proceedings of the IMech E Part A, vol. 222, No. A2, pp137-147, March 2008.
- [2.70] Juan M. Gers, Edward J. Holmes, "Protection of Electricity Distribution Networks", 2nd Edition, IEE Power & Energy Series 47z
- [2.71] Boutsika, TH, Papathanassiou, S, Drossos, N, "Calculation of the Fault Level Contribution of Distributed Generation According to IEC Standard 60909", National Technical University of Athens (NTUA), Public Power Corporation (PPC), Greece.
- [2.72] Thekla, N. Boutsika, Stavros, A. Papathanassiou, "Short-circuit calculations in networks with distributed generation", Electric Power System Research 78, SinceDirect, pp. 1181-1191, 2008, available online at www.sciencedirect.com
- [2.73] IEEE Recommended Practice for Calculating Short-Circuit Currents in Industrial and Commercial Power Systems, IEEE Std 551TM 2006.
- [2.74] PB Power Report, DTI Renewable Energy Program, "Study to Identify the Possible Impacts of Small Scale Embedded Generation On Distribution Network", Report N0.61735A/001, May 2003.
- [2.75] A Neumann, BERR, "Application of fault current limiters", 2007, available on line at : <u>http://www.bis.gov.uk/files/file42656.pdf</u>
- [2.76] KEMA, "The contribution to distribution networks fault levels from connection of distributed generation". KEMA Ltd, UK 2005. DTI Contract No.

DG/CG/00027/00/00, available online at: http://www.ensg.gov.uk/assets/14_06_2005_dgcg0000200.pdf

- [2.77] Kojovicm, L. "Modelling Techniques for Studying Distributed Generation Interconnections to Distribution System", CIRED 18th International Conf. on Electricity Distribution, Turin 6-9-2005.
- [2.78] Caire, R.; Retiere, N.; Martino, S.; Andrieu, C.; Hadjsaid, N., "Impact assessment of LV distributed generation on MV distribution network", IEEE Power Engineering Society Summer Meeting, Vol. 3, 25-25 July 2002, pp 1423 – 1428.
- [2.79] Kumpulainen, L., Kauhaniemi, K., CODGUNet Project, "Distributed Generation and Reclosing Coordination", Nordic Distribution and Asset Management Conf. 2004, Available at: <u>http://powersystems.tkk.fi/nordac2004/papers/nordac2004_kumpulainen_et_ka</u> uhaniemi_paper.pdf
- [2.80] J. Carlos Gomes, M. Morcos, "Coordination of Voltage Sag and Overcurrent Protection in DG Systems", IEEE Tran. On Power Del. Vol. 20, No. 1, Jan 2005, pp 214-218.
- [2.81] Girgis, A. Brahma, S. (2001), "Effect of distributed generation on protective device coordination in distribution system", Proceedings of Large Engineering Systems Conference on Power Engineering, LESCOPE '01, pp. 115-119, July 2001.
- [2.82] Dugan, R.C. & McDermott, T.E. (2002). Distributed Generation. IEEE Industry Applications Magazine, Vol. 8, No. 2, (March-April 2002), pp. 19-25, 1077-2618.
- [2.83] Stefania Conti, "Analysis of distribution network protection issues in presence of dispersed generation" Electric Power Systems Research 79 (2009) 49–56.
- [2.84] M. K. Donnelly, J. E. Dagle, D. J. Trudnowski, G. J. Rogres, "Impacts of the distributed utilities on transmission system stability", IEEE Trans. On Power Systems, pp 741-746, May 1996.
- [2.85] K. Salman, I.M. Rida, "Investigating the Impact of Embedded Generation on Relay Settings of Utilities' Electrical Feeders", IEEE Trans. on Power Delivery, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 246-251, April 2001.

- [2.86] Engineering Recommendation P28, Planning limits for voltage fluctuations caused by Industrial, Commercial and Domestic equipment in the United Kingdom, 1989.
- [2.87] EMTDC TM, Transient Analysis for PSCAD Power System Simulation User Guide, Manitoba HVDC Research Centre.
- [2.88] Distribution Long Term Development Statement for ScottichPower Distribution LTD-Year 2008/09 to 2012/13, Nov. 2008.

3.1 Introduction

Unpredictable faults may occur in any part of electric power systems, however, faults occur more frequent on electric distribution networks [3.1]. Faults on the system can introduce large amount of destructive energy of heat and magnetic force into a power system, and calculations always should be made to ensure that short-circuit ratings of the components are adequate to handle the fault currents available at their locations [3.2]. The fault current rating of electrical components within any system mainly refers to two properties as indicated in [3.3]; the amount of absorbed electrical energy by the components during the fault which is equal to the square of the fault current multiplied by the time of the fault duration, and the electromechanical stress that is applied on the system components during the fault. The first property has a thermal impact, and if the impact exceeds a certain limit, then the faulted component will melt down. The second property is an electromechanical force which is produced within the fault current-carrying component, and it is proportional to the square of the instantaneous current flowing and irrespective of the fault duration time [3.3].

Traditional distribution networks have been designed to accommodate prospective fault currents and each individual component of the network are rated to withstand the thermal and mechanical forces emerging during faults. Also, most of distribution networks are already designed close to their maximum short-circuit capacity [3.4]. The design is justified by the cost, where higher rating design leads to higher cost. In addition, the faults at passive distribution networks are always seen as far from the short-circuit sources, and the design did not considered the projection of adding new generation at distribution system levels.

As discussed in previous chapter, adding new generation to distribution networks will provide new sources of fault currents, and the increase of the generation penetration will obviously increase the contribution to the faults. There are numbers of research studies have investigated the impact of distributed generation on distribution networks fault level particularly at MV level. As an example, the study conducted in [3.5] has shown that adding new DGs based on the projection of the UK 2020 scenarios [3.6] to MV networks of an urban example has increased the fault level 2% beyond the design limits. In addition, other studies in [3.7] have examined the impact of adding DG with total amount of 5.5MW to 11kV side of different distribution network topologies, and the type of the network that is more likely to be impacted has been observed is the interconnected distribution network. In terms of the fault level issues at LV distribution networks, the report provided by KEMA for Department of Trade and Industry of the UK has stated that LV distribution networks with a high penetration of distributed generation may require fault level related reinforcement is micro CHP is installed in high density urban areas [3.8][3.9].

Therefore, the work of this chapter investigates whether the increased fault level due to connecting substantial volumes of microgeneration to LV distribution networks will likely impact the fault level of a typical low voltage distribution network or the fault level contributions will be insignificant and should be ignored? In order to answer this question, the chapter investigates the factors that are more likely to influence prospective fault level in a typical distribution network. Based on these factors, the worst fault scenarios are assumed and detailed studies are conducted to test the impact of LV connected microgeneration with different penetration on local distribution networks fault level. Detailed case study based on a typical HV-LV distribution network for densely LV urban examples with low fault level headroom and incorporated with different penetration of commercial and domestic size microgeneration is used. The used network is structured based on the cell structure, the test network is always (i.e. RMU) at 400V.

3.2 Factors impacting distribution networks fault levels

For analyzing and studying fault level issues, the characteristics of the faults and the factors that impact the fault levels at distribution systems need to be understood. The characteristics of fault currents can be explained from the general formula of short circuit current profile as expressed in equation (1) [3.10].

$$I = I_{mf} \sin(\omega t + \alpha - \theta) + [I_{ms} \sin(\alpha - \theta') - I_{mf} \sin(\alpha - \theta)]e^{-\frac{1}{\tau}t}$$
(1)

Where I_{mf} is the peak value of the ac short circuit current and it is equal to $V_g(system_voltage)$

 $Z_{cr}(shortcircut_impedanc)$

 I_{ms} is the steady state fault current.

 α is the initial system voltage angle.

 θ' is the impedance angle prior to the short circuit.

 θ is the short circuit impedance angle and it is equal to $\tan^{-1}(\frac{X_l}{P})$.

 X_1 is the reactance between the sources and the fault point.

R is the resistance between the sources and the fault point.

 τ is the decay time constant of the DC component and it is equal to $\frac{L}{R}$



Figure 3-1: An asymmetrical fault profile

From (1) it can be seen that the short circuit current consists of two components. One is ac and the other is decaying dc which appears due to the presence of the reactance of the

system feeders and connected machines. The first highest peak of the fault current within the sub-transient period as shown above in Figure 3-1 is called "peak make", and it can reach 2.55 times of the steady state fault current as shown on the same figure within a typical distribution network, and provides asymmetrical fault current until the dc component is eliminated [3.3]. The asymmetrical fault currents peaks decay away to its steady state fault current after few cycles. The rate of the decay depends on the ratio of the system reactance to the system resistance (X/R) as seen at fault points. X/R ratio and the values of fault currents that impact the system fault level are dictated by numbers of factors. The major factors that may impact the fault level issue are discussed as follows:

3.2.1 Distribution Network topologies

At the instant of the fault, the current will rapidly increase to very high values and all the available fault currents will flow into the fault point. The maximum allowed fault current depends on the fault types, fault locations, and the network properties (i.e. impedances between the sources and the fault point). The network properties depend on the network topologies which can be formed as urban, suburban, or rural, and each has its own impacts on the fault profile. Basically, they provide different impedances. Urban distribution networks normally consist of high density of consumers and connected by short feeders, so these types of networks will have the lowest fault level headroom with comparison to other two with longer feeders. Also the short-circuit impedances of MV-LV transformers play very significant role on the magnitude of the fault currents on both sides MV and LV. The contribution from the grid to a fault on LV side will be reduced by the value of these impedances. As result, total impedance between the fault current sources and the fault location is one of the main factors that impact faults profile. The impact will affect both the ac and dc components of the fault profile.

3.2.2 The type and duration of faults

The magnitude of the fault current is impacted by the fault type such as single-phase to earth fault, phase-to-phase fault, phase-to-phase to earth fault, or three-phase to earth fault. Each of these faults has different fault characteristics, however, when short circuit rating of any component is studied the worst possible fault current is assumed, and this can occur when the fault is a solid three-phase short circuit and occurs close to the component. While the thermal impact of fault current depends on its duration. For example, the equipment may withstand a certain short circuit for few seconds, and if the fault lasts longer the equipment will melt. Therefore, the fault current rating will then be specified as a current and time rating.

3.2.3 Types of loads

Normally passive loads have no impact on the fault level, but the dynamic loads such as motors could have an impact on the fault level. Large induction motors can contribute to system fault level, and contribution will decay very rapidly [3.11].

3.2.4 Connected generators

When generators are connected to distribution systems they will contribute to the prospective fault level of the system (i.e. faults from the grid plus faults from connected generators) as shown in Figure 3- 2. Their contributions will depend on their type, size, and penetration. For instance, a contribution from generators that are interfaced directly to the distribution networks by synchronous machines which normally have enough over excitation during the fault may initially provide fault currents as high as 6 times of the generator full-load current [3.12]. Synchronous machines are normally equipped by separated excitation system, so they can supply sustained fault current until the fault is cleared. Equation (2) as given in [3.13] and [3.14] estimates the fault current contribution of the synchronous generators:

$$i(t) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} V_g [(\frac{1}{X_d^{"}} - \frac{1}{X_d^{'}})] \cdot e^{(\frac{-t}{T_d^{'}})} + (\frac{1}{X_d^{'}} - \frac{1}{X_d}) \cdot e^{(\frac{-t}{T_d^{'}})} + \frac{1}{X_d}] \sin(\omega t + \theta^{'}) - \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \frac{V_g}{X_d^{"}} \sin(\theta^{'}) \cdot e^{(\frac{-t}{T_d^{'}})}$$
(2)

Where $X_d^{''}$ and $X_d^{'}$ are the sub-transient and transient reactances, and $T_d^{''}$ and $T_d^{''}$ are the sub-transient and transient time constant. T_a is the periodic time constant, and $\theta^{''}$ is the impedance angle prior to the short circuit. From equation (2) it can be seen that distributed generation interfaced to the grid by synchronous generators will contribute to

fault current during the sub-transient, transient and steady state periods of the short circuit.



Figure 3-2: Fault current sources

As for distributed generation interfaced to the grid by induction machines which get their excitation from the mains, their fault level contribution will be limited. This is because in case of three-phase to earth fault, the excitation is completely lost. Therefore, the induction generators will feed the fault within very small time due to the remaining magnetic field in the machine [3.14]. The following formula gives the expected contribution from induction machines to the short circuit current [3.13][3.14].

$$i(t) = \frac{\sqrt{2}V_g}{X_s^{"}} [e^{\binom{-t}{T_s^{"}}} \sin(\theta') - (1 - \sigma)\sin(\omega_s t + \theta').e^{\binom{-t}{T_r^{"}}}$$
(3)

Where $X_s^{"}$ is the sub-transient reactance, $T_s^{"}$ is the sub-transient stator time constant. σ is the total leakage coefficeeint, ω_s is the synchronous angular speed, and $T_r^{"}$ is the sub-transient rotor time constant.

It can be seen from the formula (3) that the short circuit will be supplied by induction machines only during sub-transient period. However, the contribution to the short circuit from induction generator during sub-transient period is lower than from synchronous generator with similar rating. The Figure 3- 3 below which is a result of the study that has been conducted in [3.14] to investigate the contribution of synchronous and induction generators to the system fault level shows the difference between the

contribution to the fault level by two machines with the same rating and interfaced by different rotating machines (i.e. one by synchronous and the other by induction). Unlike the rotating machines, the fault current provided by converter-connected units is much lower, and it is assumed to range from 1.2 to 1.5 times of the rated current [3.12].



Figure 3- 3: Short circuit contribution from synchronous and induction machine machines during 3-phase bolted fault [3.14]

3.3 Test network and modelling approach

In general fault levels are high in largely interconnected networks with a high density of load, such as industrial areas and city centres. Therefore, a typical UK HV-LV distribution network for an urban example is used as test network for investigating the impact of LV connected microgeneration on distribution network increased fault level. The test network has low fault level headroom based on an actual value taken from a real Scottish urban HV-LV distribution network based on the information provided by the ScottishPower distribution long term development statements (DLTDS) [3.15]. The network supplies a high density of domestic and commercial loads based on the rating of the main transformers of the actual network chosen for the study. A single line diagram as shown in Figure 3- 4 represents the test distribution network used for the fault levels studies. The diagram shows all the short circuits sources and the significant circuit elements that are required for the studies. The network represents one layer of 30kV cell which consists of other small LV cells. Eight LV cells (i.e. from A-H) of LV urban examples as shown in Figure 3- 4 are modelled, and the cell A shown in Figure 3- 5 is

modelled in detail. The studies are carried out concentrating specifically on the perspective short-circuit currents at the boundary of each cell (i.e. LV and HV cells) when a high penetration of microgeneration is connected within these cells. The network model is built based on distribution network data derived from information provided within distribution long term development statements (DLTDS) by the distribution network operators (DNOs) and manufacturers of distribution equipments. The test network is labelled as test network 1 in this section and developed as follows:



Figure 3-4: A typical HV-LV urban distribution network

Chapter Three: Fault level analysis of distribution networks with a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration



Figure 3- 5: Detailed LV cell (Cell A)

3.3.1 The grid source model

The grid has been modelled by using a three-phase voltage source behind equivalent impedance to provide an appropriate short circuit. The equivalent source impedance is calculated based on the IEC 60909 standard [3.16] where the impact of maximum voltage factor "*Cmax*" is included. *Cmax* is used to determine the maximum short-circuit current with sufficient accuracy that can be provided by the grid, and its value for MV grid is assumed to be equal to 1.1, and it can be multiplied to the nominal voltage when the short-circuit impedance is calculated.

The X/R ratio 9.26 and the short circuit current RMS break 17.67kA represent the real data of the 33kV substation fault level of West George Street substation in Glasgow in Scotland as reported in [3.15] have been used to represent the grid source of the test network. The fault level is calculated by using the system voltage=33kV**Cmax* and the fault level of the test network will be 1110.97MVA. The short circuit impedance, resistance and the reactance of the grid has been calculated from the fault level and X/R ratio, and their values are shown in Table 3.

System	fault level	Short Circuit	X/R	Short circuit	Resistance	Reactance
voltage		Current (RMS	ratio	impedance(Zs)	of the grid	of the
		break)			(Rs)	grid (Xs)
33kV	1110.97MVA	17.67kA	9.26	1.186 Ohm	0.127 Ohm	1.18 Ohm

Table 3: Parameters represent grid source of the test network 1

3.3.2 33/11kV primary distribution substation

Two 33/11kV transformers are used to connect the grid to the test MV-LV distribution network with the parameters listed below in Table 4 and taken from ScottishPower DLTDS 2008 [3.15]. Two transformers connected in parallel are commonly used within urban distribution networks for reliability reason. They would provide less impedance between the grid and downstream distribution networks compared to using only one transformer.

Transformer rating	Z% on base 15MVA	X/R	Vector group
15MVA	7.42	15	DY11

Table 4: Parameters of a standard 33/11kV transformer

3.3.3 Medium voltages distribution network feeders

The 11kV distribution cables are used to model the connection between the utility and the consumers, and they have been modelled using parameters provided by manufactures of 185mm² aluminium cable [3.17]. Four LV substations (i.e. Ring Main Units RMUs) as shown in Figure 3- 4 are distributed equally across each feeder. The length between each two RMU is 0.25km. This is based on the fact that short cables are used for urban networks with a high density of loads. The following electrical parameters are used to represent each 11kV cable.

Nominal cross-	Impedance at 50Hz	Reactance at 50Hz	Resistance	Cable
sectional area(mm2)	ohm/km	ohm/km	at 50Hz	rating
			ohm/km	(MVA)
185	0.183	0.080	0.165	6.86

Table 5: Parameters of 11kV cable

3.3.4 11/0.4kV secondary substation

11/0.4kV substations are considered as boundaries of the LV cells for urban examples. The SP DLTDS [3.15] has shown that an LV urban network is typically supplied by utilising standard transformers with sizes 0.5MVA, 0.8MVA, and 1MVA. For area with a high density of load, the larger size is more likely to be used. Therefore, 1MVA

MV/LV transformer has been considered in the test network modelling and its parameters are listed in the table below.

Vector group	X/R	Z%	Transformer rating
DY11	15	4.75	1MVA

Table 6: Parameters of 11/0.4kV transformer

3.3.5 Low voltages distribution network feeders

The 0.4kV feeders are modelled as cables formed of resistance and inductance. All the impedances of the feeders are set according to the IEC 60909 Standard. One of the secondary substation connected feeders is modelled in detail in order to assess the impact of the cable impedances on the fault level contribution from microgeneration. Numbers of loads and microgenerators with different penetration are connected across the cable as shown in Figure 3- 6. The distance between each two customers is chosen to be equal, and it is equal to the total length of the cable divided by the number of the customers. The total length of the LV feeder for the urban example is normally short, and from some examples of real urban networks such as one presented in [3.18] the LV feeders range from 33m to 390m. In the studies of this chapter is chosen to be 200m. The general parameters of LV cable are listed below in Table 7 and are obtained from the case study that has been consider in the PB power report [3.19]. The rest of the other 0.4kV feeders are modelled as a lumped load and a lumped microgeneration connected to the cable with the consideration of the impact of the cable impedances on the lumped models.

Nominal cross-sectional	Continuous	Impedance at	Reactance at 50Hz	Resistance at
area(mm2)	rating (kW)	50Hz	ohm/km	50Hz ohm/km
		ohm/km		
185	230	0.18	0.074	0.164

Table 7: Parameters of 0.4kV cables



Figure 3- 6: Detailed 0.4kV feeder

3.3.6 The demand model

The demand on the secondary substation has been modelled as high density domestic and commercial loads connected to the urban network. The approximate average consumption of individual domestic and commercial customer is considered to be 1.5kVA and 27kVA respectively. A uniform power factor of 0.95 lagging has been assumed. The loads are uniformly distributed along the feeders, and modelled as threephase balanced constant kW and kVAr.

The total number of consumers within each LV cell is assumed to be 540 users and distributed across five feeders. Each feeder is 200m, and the total load supplied by each feeder is 162kVA, and the total load over all feeders is 810kVA. This represents 81% of the transformer capacity at the secondary substation. While for the commercial application, each feeder is assumed to supply 6 commercial customers.

3.4 Simulation of LV connected Microgeneration

Two types of microgenerators are modelled. One is a single-phase generator with small size 1.5kW typically of those deployed at domestic properties (i.e. 230V), and the other is a three-phase microgenerator with two different sizes 16.5kVA and 30kVA typically of those deployed at commercial properties. The commercial size microgeneration examples are taken from practical examples provided by manufactures [3.20]. In both cases it is assumed that the microgeneration are interfaced by synchronous machines, and this is because such type of machines will contribute to the fault level more significantly compared to other technologies as it has been explained previously in section 3.2.4.

Therefore, the microgenerator at domestic level is modelled as a voltage source behind an impedance, and this impedance is adjusted to provide 6 times of the full load current during solid three-phase to ground fault at the terminal of the microgenerator. The commercial size microgenerator is also modelled as a voltage source behind an impedance to represent a microgenerator interfaced by a synchronous machine to the network, and the values of transient impedance Xd' and steady state impedance Xd are taken from typical information supplied by manufacturers for the following commercial size microgeneration 16.5kVA, and 30kVA as in Table 8.

Prime rating kVA	Standby kVA	Reactance (Ω)	Full load current (A)	Short-circuit current(A)
16.5	18	Xd'=1.33	25.98	173.238=6.66 times of full
				load current
30	33.0	Xd'=0.587	47.63	386.94=8.12 times of full
				load current

Table 8: Performance data of 16.5 and 30kVA three-phase generators [3.20]

In some fault level studies such as in [3.21] the LV connected microgeneration have been modelled as current sources which will supply the same fault current. But this will not give accurate results that will reflect the actual infeed from microgeneration to the fault. Because the microgenerator at the end of the feeder will contribute to a remote fault at the main LV bus less than the upstream microgeneration. How significant the difference between modelling the microgenerator as current or voltage depends on the length of the cable, for example for long cables this might be an issue. This can be simply noticed where each microgenerator will not provide the same current contribution to the fault at the beginning of the feeder as shown in Figure 3-7. This is due to the impedances of the cables and the location of microgenerators. In the test networks 2 model, one feeder is modelled in detail, and the microgenerators are assumed to be connected at each consumer point with different penetration. While the other feeders based on the detailed feeder model are precisely modelled as an aggregated microgenerator connected to the secondary of the LV transformer and the difference between the fault current contributed by detailed feeder model and aggregated model is insignificant. The aggregation of microgeneration is conducted as follows.
Chapter Three: Fault level analysis of distribution networks with a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration



Figure 3- 7: Fault contribution from LV connected microgeneration to 3-phase-to earth fault at the beginning of the LV feeder

By using mesh-analysis and applying Kirchhoff voltage law to each closed loop of the network starting from each microgenerator connecting point to end up at the fault point, the following equations will result.

$$V_{g1} - i_1 \cdot (Z_{g1} + Z_{c1}) - (i_1 + i_2) \cdot Z_{c2} - (i_1 + i_2 + i_3) \cdot Z_{c3} - \dots - (i_1 + i_2 + i_3 + \dots + i_n) \cdot Z_{cn} = 0$$
(4)

$$V_{g2} - i_2 Z_{g2} - (i_1 + i_2) Z_{c2} - (i_1 + i_2 + i_3) Z_{c3} - \dots - (i_1 + i_2 + i_3 + \dots + i_n) Z_{cn} = 0$$
(5)

$$V_{g3} - i_3 Z_{g3} - (i_1 + i_2 + i_3) Z_{c3} - (i_1 + i_2 + i_3 + i_4) Z_{c4} - \dots - (i_1 + i_2 + i_3 + \dots + i_n) Z_{cn} = 0$$
(6)

$$V_{gn} - i_n Z_{gn} - (i_1 + i_2 + i_3 + \dots + i_{n-1}) Z_{c(n-1)} - (i_1 + i_2 + i_3 + \dots + i_n) Z_{cn} = 0$$
(7)

Where n is the number of the microgenerators across the feeder. The equations (4), (5), (6), and (7) can be written as follows:

By assuming the consumers are distributed uniformly across the feeder for simplicity reason, the impedances between the customers will be equal. Also the voltage and the short circuit impedance of each connected microgenerator are set to be equal. Therefore, the following matrix results:

Chapter Three: Fault level analysis of distribution networks with a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration

$$\begin{bmatrix} i_{1} \\ i_{2} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ i_{n} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} (Z_{g} + nZ_{L}) & (n-1)(Z_{L}) & (n-2)(Z_{L}) \cdots (Z_{l}) \\ (n-1)(Z_{L}) & (Z_{g} + (n-1)Z_{L}) & (n-2)(Z_{L}) \cdots (Z_{l}) \\ (n-2)(Z_{L}) & (n-2)(Z_{L}) & (Z_{g} + (n-2)Z_{L}) \cdots (Z_{l}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ (n-(n-1))(Z_{l}) & (n-(n-1))(Z_{l}) \cdots (Z_{g} + Z_{L}) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{g} \\ V_{g} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ V_{g} \end{bmatrix}$$
(9)

From these equations the current of each microgenerator is calculated, and the sum of all currents will be the contribution to the short circuit as in equation (10).

$$i_f = i_1 + i_2 + i_3 + \dots + i_n \tag{10}$$

Then the total impedance can be calculated from this current and the voltage source behind this impedance as sketched in Figure 3- 8 represents the aggregated microgeneration that will represent all small microgeneration connected to the feeder.

$$Z_f = \frac{V_g}{i_f} = R_f + jX_f \tag{11}$$



Figure 3- 8: Aggregated microgeneration connected to the LV secondary substation

This representation of the microgeneration will simplify and speed up the simulation of a distribution system incorporated with microgeneration, and at the same time consider the cables impedances impact on the contribution to the fault level from microgenerators connected at different locations. The greater care of the impedances of the cables between the connected consumers as the model approach has described will provide more accurate and conservative results. For example if microgeneration are modelled as current sources or the microgeneration are lumped as one aggregated generator without considering the impact of the impedances between the consumers, the fault level contribution would be higher than when the aggregated microgeneration developed by

the approach is considered. This may recommend microgeneration penetration less than the real penetration and hence limitation on the spread of actual microgeneration penetration may be experienced.

3.5 Fault level studies

The available short circuit current that flows into the fault at distribution networks is directly dictated by the short circuit capacity of the grid, connected distributed generation and microgeneration, and connected motors. It is typically independent of the load current. The fault studies in this part are conducted to identify the approximate fault level rise at MV and LV buses of an urban distribution network example due to the connection of different quantities of different size of microgeneration starting from 0% up to 120% of generation penetration with respect to the load. The main objectives of the studies are listed as follows.

- To quantify the increase in the fault level of an urban distribution network example due to the connection of a different penetration of LV connected microgeneration, and identify at which level of microgeneration the increased fault level may become a problem.
- To identify which locations of the distribution network will more likely suffer from the increased fault level.

The following assumptions are assumed during the studies:

- The worst scenarios that will bring the fault contribution to its maximum are considered within the studies. For instance, urban distribution networks with short length feeders and low fault level headroom supplying a high density of users are considered in the studies. This has been considered because based on the literature such type of networks are more likely to suffer from fault level issues.
- The faults are always assumed to be bolted three-phase to ground faults.

• The contribution to the short circuit current peak is not considered, and only RMS values of the steady state of the fault current are considered, and because only microgeneration interfaced by synchronous machines will contribute to the steady state fault current, all microgeneration are assumed to be interfaced by a such technology. This has been considered because distribution network components such as breakers and fuses have interrupting and withstand ratings defined as RMS value of symmetrical current [3.3].

When numbers of microgenerators are connected to the LV side, the maximum fault level occurs when solid three-phase to ground fault is applied at the point of common coupling (PCC), where the fault will be the sum of all downstream microgeneration fault contribution and the grid. Therefore, two fault scenarios are applied as shown in Figure 3-9. Fault 1 is applied at 0.4kV bus of the cell A which is the nearest cell to the primary substation, and all the contributions from the grid and all connected microgeneration across other cells to this fault are examined. The second fault is applied at 11kV bus as shown in Figure 3-9 in order to investigate the impact of LV connected microgeneration on the fault level at MV distribution level. For each fault scenario, the impact of domestic and commercial size of integrated microgeneration on the fault level with different penetration is examined.



Chapter Three: Fault level analysis of distribution networks with a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration

Figure 3-9: Test urban network example

3.5.1 Fault level at the secondary of the LV substation (0.4kV)

A- Increased fault level due to connection of different penetration of domestic size microgeneration

During this study, it is considered that each customer per each phase connected to LV feeders consumes 1.5kVA. This is based on the average of a typical single house daily profile [3.22]. It is also assumed that each customer owns a single generator which is capable of providing a range of output power from zero up to 120% penetration of the customer load. The generation penetration 0, 20, 40, 60, 100, and 120% in respect to customer loads (i.e. 1.5kVA) are applied. At each case the contribution to the short circuit current and fault level from the additional generation is evaluated. The same penetration is applied to all cells from A-H at the same time, and the impact on the fault level is compared to the approximate typical fault rating of LV equipments which is assumed to be equal to 25MVA.

When there is no microgeneration connected (i.e. 0% microgeneration penetration), the available fault level at 0.4kV bus of the cell A is 18.43MVA. With the increase in the penetration of microgeneration, the fault level at 0.4kV bus will increase. The increased fault level obtained values from the simulation studies for each increase in the microgeneration penetration are tabulated in Table 9.

Microgeneration	0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%	120%
penetration							
Fault current RMS (kA)	26.607	27.95	29.285	30.68	31.85	33.1	34.33
MVA	18.43	19.36	20.29	21.26	22.07	22.93	23.8
increased MVA %	0%	5%	10.1%	15.36%	19.75%	24.42%	29.14%
Cell A contribution	0%	2.83%	6.38%	9.76%	13.29%	16.87%	20.45%

Table 9: The contribution from domestic size LV connected microgeneration withdifferent penetration to the fault level for 3-phase fault at 0.4kV bus



Figure 3- 10: The fault level at 0.4kV bus with and without the connection of domestic size microgeneration

The increase in the fault level at 0.4kV bus of the cell A due to the fault contribution from the all microgeneration added to the LV cells is shown in Figure 3- 10. The figure shows that the increased fault level has not exceeded the approximate typical fault level rating of LV distribution networks (i.e. 25MVA). The network has accommodated the increase in the fault level, and it was capable of taking up to 120% of microgeneration with domestic size 1.5kVA. However, the fault level was brought very close to the equipments short-circuit rating limit. Frome the results in Table 9 it can be observed that the highest fault contribution to fault 1 within the cell A as shown in Figure 3- 9 comes from the cell A local microgeneration. Up to more than 65% of the total fault contribution is made by the local generators of the cell A compared to other adjacent cells, where each 1kVA generation at cell A has contributed 0.004MVA to the fault at 0.4kV bus (i.e. fault 1 on Figure 3- 9). The insignificant contribution from other adjacent cells (B-H) can be justified by the influence of the 11/0.4kV transformers and cables impedances which have played a significant role in limiting the fault contribution from external to local fault within LV cell.

In spite of the increased fault level being accommodated for this study, it can not be generally considered as insignificant issues. This is because for example with 100% penetration which is equal to 810kVA generation per a cell, the increase in the fault level was considerable. It reached more than 20% increase compared to the original prospective fault level. In addition, the remaining fault level headroom is very limited for equipments that have 25MVA short-circuit rating.

The collective fault contribution from all connected microgeneration has added 4.5MVA to the original fault level as shown in Figure 3- 10. Consequently, low voltage distribution networks with fault level headroom less than 4.5MVA will not be able to accommodate 100% penetration of microgeneration with 1.5kVA per microgenerator. This was the impact of 810kVA generation at LV side of each cell which represents 81% of the capacity of 1MVA transformer (i.e. the main MV/LV transformer of each cell). But, because the penetration of microgeneration has been set in respect to the load density in the studies, and the load density is not fixed for all LV distribution networks. For example, a 100% penetration microgeneration in respect to load condition equal to 81% of larger transformer for example 2MVA will be equal to 1620kVA generation. Since each 1kVA increase in microgeneration will contribute 0.004MVA, and the relationship between the microgeneration penetration and the increase in the fault level is almost linear as shown in Figure 3- 10, 1620kVA will cause 6.48MVA increase in the fault level at 0.4kV bus of the network example shown in Figure 3-9. This will lead the short circuit rating to be exceeded since the fault level headroom is only 4.5MVA. With such condition the network will be incapable of accommodating 100% microgeneration, and the total microgeneration that can be connected will be only 69.44%. Therefore, it may be difficult to state and generalise that LV distribution networks can accommodate 100% penetration of microgeneration at domestic level without causing fault level issue.

The general rules that dictate the limit of microgeneration penetration is the available fault level headroom, and the future investment in reinforcement of the network. For example, if a new transformer is required to be added in order to meet the increase in demand, and the network already accommodated 100% of microgeneration and only

2.07MVA fault level headroom is left, the transformer could not be connected until the penetration of microgeneration is reduced. Generally the penetration of the generation would be higher for higher consumers' density, and thus resulting in higher fault level contribution. This may lead to the LV distribution network with a high density of consumers and low fault level headroom could set-back the spread of microgeneration across the networks.

B- Increased fault level due to connection of commercial size microgeneration

This part of the study considers the impact of a typical commercial microgeneration that can be connected at commercial premises. Two different size of microgeneration have been considered 16.5kVA and 30kVA. The selection of these two size microgeneration is based on the real data provided by manufactures [3.20] which are expected to be more likely connected at commercial level. So during the investigation there was no range of change in the generation output power such as in the pervious studies, where the output power varies from 0 to 120% of each individual microgenerator with respect to the average load. The penetration of the microgeneration is based on the number of the commercial customers. The average 3-phase commercial consumption was assumed to be 27kVA, thus for the used network example where each feeder provides 162kVA, six commercial customers are assumed to be connected to each feeder. It is applied that one commercial size microgenerator is connected per each customer. The commercial size microgeneration obtained data from manufactures as listed above in Table 8 is used to model these generators. Based on the real data taken from [3.20], the 16.5kVA microgenerator provides a short circuit current as high as 6.66 times of the full load current for a fault at its terminal, and the 30kVA microgenerator provides a fault current equal to about 8 times of its full load current. The impact of each of these two microgenerators on the fault level at 0.4kV bus is examined as explained in the coming two sections.

B1- Increased fault level due to connection of different penetration of 16.5kVA microgenerator

In this section, it is assumed that numbers of commercial customers one by one start installing their microgenerators with size 16.5kVA. For each case and based on the number of connected microgenerators, the penetration compared to the total load connected to the 3-phase feeder is calculated, and the fault level contribution is examined. For instance, when 16.5kVA microgenerator is connected to the first, second, third, fourth, fifth, and sixth customer, the generation penetration will be 10.19%, 20.4%, 30.6%, 40.74%, 50.92%, 61.11% respectively of the total consumption across the feeders. The fault level contribution obtained results are listed in the table below.

Microgeneration	0%	10.19%	20.4%	30.6%	40.74%	50.92%	61.11%
penetration							
Fault current RMS	26.607	27.44	28.28	29.09	29.88	30.63	31.37
(kA)							
MVA	18.43	19.01	19.59	20.15	20.7	21.22	21.74
increased MVA	0%	3.14%	6.31%	9.36%	12.32%	15.14%	17.93%
Cell A contribution	0%	2.2%	3.9%	5.26%	7.4%	9.4%	11.57%

Table 10: The contribution from 16.5kVA commercial size LV connected microgeneration with different penetration to the fault level for a 3-phase fault at 0.4kV

bus



Figure 3- 11: The fault level at 0.4kV bus with and without the connection of 16.5kVA commercial size microgeneration

B2- Increased fault level due to connection of different penetration of 30kVA microgenerator

As for 30kVA microgenerators, and when they are connected to the first, second, third, fourth, fifth, and sixth customer, the generation penetration will be higher than those for 16.5kVA and the penetration are equal to 18.5%, 37.03%, 55.5%, 74%, 92.6%, 111% respectively of the total consumption across the feeders. For each generation penetration the fault level contribution is examined, and the results are listed in Table 11.

Microgeneration	0%	18.5%	37.03%	55.5%	74%	92.6%	111%
penetration							
Fault current RMS	26.607	28.51	30.36	32.13	33.96	35.257	36.52
(kA)							
MVA	18.43	19.75	21.03	22.26	23.53	24.43	25.30
increased MVA	0%	7.16%	14.1%	20.8%	27.7%	32.56%	37.3%
Cell A contribution	0%	4.12%	7.9%	12.37%	17.47%	22.5%	27.4%

Table 11: The contribution from 30kVA commercial size LV connected microgeneration with different penetration to the fault level for a 3-phase fault at 0.4kV bus



Figure 3- 12: The fault level at 0.4kV bus with and without the connection of 30kVA commercial size microgeneration

The additional fault level from the commercial size microgeneration has caused the overall fault level to be brought very much close to the designed fault level limit of the distribution equipments when the penetration of connected microgeneration has reached 100%. It can be seen from Table 10 and Table 11 that the size of the connected microgenerator is very important factor that will directly impact the fault level contribution. For example, each consumer can connect 16.5kVA microgenerator, and the total increased fault level still can be accommodated, while for bigger size microgenerator (i.e. 30kVA) installing such size for all the customers will bring the fault level very close to the equipments fault rating. For save operation, it is not advisable to operate close to the fault rating limit in order to avoid stressing the network components.

From Table 11 it can be seen that when more than 92.6% of the commercial microgeneration are added, the fault level issue has been experienced, and to avoid that only five of six consumers at maximum can connect microgenerators with size 30kVA. Since there is no specific size of the microgeneration that can be connected to the LV distribution networks particularly at commercial level where microgeneration can size

up to 100kVA and they are driven by the consumers choices, the identification of the most appropriate size of microgeneration without impacting the rating of the network become an important issue. This can be identified by how much each 1kVA generation added to LV network will contribute to the fault at PPC point, and based on the available fault level headroom the recommendation can be made after the total generation is calculated. For example, when different penetration of commercial sizes 16.5kVA and 30kVA are applied, each 1kVA for each case has provided 0.0042MVA and 0.00553MVA respectively at PPC point. So for the test network example with a fault level headroom equal to 6.57MVA the maximum microgeneration that can be locally connected without causing fault level issue can be calculated. If the average fault level contribution is around 0.0055MVA provided by each 1kVA generation, the total generation that can be connected to LV is equal to 813kVA generation. Then based on the number of consumer connecting points, the size of microgenerators can be recommended. This is with the consideration of the contribution from other adjacent cells as well.

3.5.2 Fault level at the secondary of the MV substation (11kV bus)

This section investigates the impact of LV connected microgeneration for domestic and commercial application on the fault level at 11kV bus. The main output of the studies in this section is to determine how far the impact of microgeneration fault contribution to upstream faults can go. It also examines the influence of the transformers at LV substations on the fault level contribution to upstream faults.

A- Increased fault level at MV main bus due to the connection of domestic size microgeneration

The same generation penetration that was applied in section 3.5.1 to all eight cells is also used in this section, and the contribution from LV connected microgeneration to upstream fault at MV side is investigated. The output is compared to a typical MV fault level which is equal to 250MVA [3.15].

Chapter Three: Fault level analysis of distribution networks with a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration

Microgeneration	0%	20%	40%	60%	80%	100%	120%
penetration							
Fault current RMS	8.755	8.932	9.115	9.294	9.471	9.641	9.802
(kA)							
MVA	166.81	170.18	173.66	177.07	180.45	183.69	186.75
increased MVA	0%	2.02%	4.11%	6.15%	8.18%	10.12%	11.96%

 Table 12: The contribution from domestic size LV connected microgeneration with

 different penetration to the fault level for 3-phase fault at 11kV bus



Figure 3- 13: The fault level at 11kV bus with and without the connection of different penetration of domestic size microgeneration

In this case, the increased fault level at MV side on 11kV bus of the test network 1 shown in Figure 3- 9 due to connection of large penetration of microgeneration to low voltage distribution networks has been accommodated, and the results are shown in Figure 3- 13. This is mainly because of two reasons; one is the contribution was limited by the MV/LV transformers impedances where the contribution made by 120% microgeneration penetration was only 11.96% increase. The other is that the fault level headroom at MV distribution networks is generally high compared to LV networks. For example, for the used test network which represents a typical MV distribution network

and its data was taken from a real network the available fault level headroom is 100MVA. So it is hard for microgeneration to provide increase in fault level that would exceed the rating limit of MV networks.

B- Increased fault level due to the connection of commercial size microgeneration

The same generation scenarios used in section 3.5.1 in terms of commercial size microgeneration is also used in this section, and the contribution from (i.e. 16.5 and 30kVA) LV connected microgeneration to upstream fault at MV side is investigated.

B1- Increased fault level due to connection of different penetration of 16.5kVA microgenerator

The results added the below table and figure shows the impact of 16.5kVA connected at LV side on the fault level at MV side. It can be seen that the increase in the fault level is insignificant, and due to the large available fault level headroom, the MV equipments would not be affected by the contribution to fault level made by LV connected microgeneration.

Microgeneration	0%	10.19%	20.4%	30.6%	40.74%	50.92%	61.11%
penetration							
Fault current RMS	8.755	8.867	8.98	9.091	9.21	9.31	9.42
(kA)							
MVA	166.81	167	171.1	173.21	175.5	177.4	179.5
increased MVA	0%	0.114%	2.6%	3.84%	5.21%	6.35%	7.61%

Table 13: The contribution from 16.5kVA commercial size LV connected microgeneration with different penetration to 3-phase fault at 11kV bus



Figure 3- 14: The fault level at 11kV bus with and without the connection of 16.5kVA commercial size microgeneration

B2- Increased fault level at 11kV bus due to the connection of different penetration of 30kVA microgenerator

Microgeneration	0%	18.5%	37.03%	55.5%	74%	92.6%	111%
penetration							
Fault current RMS (kA)	8.755	9.01	9.255	9.49	9.714	9.92	10.11
MVA	166.81	171.66	176.33	180.81	185.08	189	192.62
increased MVA %	0%	2.91%	5.715	8.39%	10.95%	13.3%	15.47%

Table 14: The contribution from 30kVA commercial size LV connected microgeneration with different penetration to the fault level for a 3-phase fault at 11kV bus



Figure 3- 15: The fault level at 11kV bus with and without the connection of 30kVA commercial size microgeneration

Figure 3-12 and Figure 3- 15 have shown that the contribution to the fault level at 11kV bus made by a high penetration of commercial size will be accommodated.

The results of this chapter have shown that the relationship between the system fault level contribution and the penetration of LV connected microgeneration is linear. The increased fault level is a linear function of the microgeneration penetration. Therefore, by using this relationship, the microgeneration fault level contribution can be simply calculated from equation (12).

$$FL = mPen + FL_0 \tag{12}$$

Where *FL* is the increased fault level (MVA), *m* is the slop of the increased fault level, *Pen* is the penetration of connected microgeneration (%), and *FL*₀ is the system fault level without the presence of microgeneration.

Taking the results of increased fault level from Table 10 when 30.6% and 50.92% of microgeneration are added to the system the slop m can be calculated as following:

$$m = \frac{FL_{50.92\%} - FL_{30.6\%}}{50.92\% - 30.6\%} = \frac{21.22 - 20.15}{0.203} = 5.27$$

Thus based on the available fault level headroom of the system, the maximum local generation that can be connected to LV without impacting the fault level rating of the network can be calculated from equation (12). For example when m = 5.27 the maximum penetration of microgeneration to be added at LV level can be found as follows:

$$FL_{\max} = mPen_{\max} + FL_0$$
(13)
$$m = \frac{FL_{\max} - FL_{0\%}}{Pen_{\max} - Pen_{0\%}} = \frac{25 - 18.43}{Pen_{\max} - 0} = 5.27$$

$$Pen_{\max} = \frac{25 - 18.43}{5.27} = 126\%$$

3.6 Chapter summary

The results of the case study have shown that the collective fault level contribution from a high penetration up to 100% of domestic size microgeneration connected within a typical LV cell has increased the fault level by 24% of its original value (i.e. 4.5MVA) at 0.4kV bus, and this has brought the test urban network with low fault level headroom very close to its short circuit limits. 65% of the total microgeneration fault contribution caused by the local microgeneration within the faulted LV cell and 35% from the microgeneration within the other adjacent LV cells. When larger microgenerators size (i.e. commercial size) were added to LV side of the test network, the studies have shown that there are some situations where the increased fault level can be an issue. With 100% penetration of commercial size microgeneration, the increased fault level has reached the fault level limit of the network, and caused fault level issues.

On the other hand, the impact of LV connected microgeneration on the fault level for a fault on MV side (i.e. 11kV bus) is insignificant. This is mainly because of two reasons; firstly the contribution is significantly limited by the MV/LV transformers impedances. Secondly, the fault level headroom at MV distribution networks is relatively high compared to LV networks. For example, for the used test network which represents a typical MV distribution network and its data was taken from a typical real network the

available fault level headroom is 100MVA. So it is hard for microgeneration to provide increase in fault level that would exceed such limit. So increased fault level due to connection of microgeneration are more likely to be a local issue rather than a wide system issue. So if microgeneration do not cause a local fault level issue, then they are more likely not to cause a wider system fault level issue.

The two fundamental criteria to identify whether integration of a heavy level of microgeneration would alter the LV distribution networks fault level are: (1) the amount of fault level contribution would be provided by the total generation expected to be connected to the network. (2) How much fault level headroom is available before microgeneration are connected. The fault level headrooms are known from the network design, which is already set without the consideration of incorporating new generation at distribution level. By using different microgeneration size that could be connected to domestic and commercial level based on manufacturer data, the results have found that the relationship between the penetration of microgeneration and the contribution to the RMS values of the steady state fault current occurred at 0.4kV bus is linear. Each 1kVA generation added to the local LV will increase the fault level at the LV main bus by 0.0042MVA. Thus based on the available fault level headroom the total generation that can be connected to LV without impacting the fault level rating of the network can be easily worked out. Then the network operator could advise how much local generation can be added to LV networks.

Numbers of studies as mentioned early in this chapter have stated that LV distribution networks can uptake up to 100% penetration of domestic size microgeneration without causing a significant increase in the system fault level. But the results of this chapter have proven different. 100% of commercial size microgeneration has forced the fault level to exceed the nominal limits. In terms of domestic size microgeneration, the test network has just accommodated 100% of domestic microgeneration and the contribution to LV fault level made by such penetration has reached 24% increase of the original fault level, and this is significant and can cause numbers of issues. For example, such significant contribution can lead urban networks which are normally have low available

fault level headroom to operate very close to the short circuit rating limits. This can lead to stressing the network components resulting in lower lifetime to be experienced, increasing the requirement for a component with larger short circuit ratings which will be bigger in size and hence increasing the cost of the component and the cost of the space which can be an issue in urban areas. In addition, operating the network close to the rating will obstructing the spread of more microgeneration uptake and DGs at MV level and probably reduce the chance for new investment such ad adding a new transformer at the primary substation for meeting the increase in the demand and operate in parallel with the existing transformers.

Therefore, for safe operation and to avoid setting-back the growth of microgeneration across LV distribution networks there will be a need for managing the increase in the fault level due to microgeneration integration in order to avoid all these issues. Measures such as using fault current limiter or reconfiguring the network could facilitate the spread of microgeneration if other constraints are met.

3.7 Chapter References

- [3.1] Juan M. Gers, Edward J. Holmes, "Protection of Electricity Distribution Networks", 2nd Edition, IEE Power & Energy Series 47z.
- [3.2] IEEE Recommended Practice for Protection and Coordination of Industrial and Commercial Power Systems, IEEE Std 242-1986, pp45.
- [3.3] Jan de Kock, Cabus Strauss, "Practical Power Distribution for Industry", ELSEVIER 2004, pp 11.
- [3.4] Boutsika, TH, Papathanassiou, S, Drossos, N, "Calculation of the Fault Level Contribution of Distributed Generation According to IEC Standard 60909", National Technical University of Athens (NTUA), Public Power Corporation (PPC), Greece.
- [3.5] Singh K. Nand, Burt M. Graeme, Brozio C. Cornel, Robertes Dave, Bright G. Chris, Husband Mark, "Managing urban network fault levels- A role for a resistive superconducting fault current limiter", 20th International Conference and Exhibition on Electricity Distribution - Part 1, 2009. CIRED 2009.
- [3.6] G. Ault, I. Elders, J. McDonald, G. Burt, R. Tumilty, "Electricity Network Scenarios for 2020", July 2006. Available online from: <u>www.supergen-networks.org.uk</u>
- [3.7] Son Khoo Sam, Ramachandaramuthy Vigna K, Azizan Azni Wati, "Fault Level due to Interconnection of Embedded Generator", the 3rd IET International Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives, 2006, pp. 307 – 311.
- [3.8] KEMA, "The contribution to distribution networks fault levels from connection of distributed generation". KEMA Ltd, UK 2005. DTI Contract No. DG/CG/00027/00/00, available online at: http://www.ensg.gov.uk/assets/14_06_2005_dgcg0000200.pdf
- [3.9] A Neumann, BERR, "Application of fault current limiters", 2007, available on line at : <u>http://www.bis.gov.uk/files/file42656.pdf</u>
- [3.10] Power System Protection, by P.M. Anderson IEEE Press Series on Power Engineering, pp. 149-150.

- [3.11] Cooper C.B., Jweiles Z.A, Khan G.A, "Contribution of single-phase motors to system fault level" Generation, Transmission and Distribution, IEE Proceedings Volume: 139, No: 4, pp. 359 – 364, 1992.
- [3.12] Resource Dynamic Corporation, "Application Guide to Distributed Generation Interconnection", March 2006, PP. 53.
- [3.13] P. Anderson, Analysis of faulted Power Systems IEEE, 1995.
- [3.14] P. Karaliolios, A. Ishchenko, E. Coster, J. Myrzik, W. Kling, "Overview of Short-Circuit Contribution of Various Distributed Gnerators on the Distribution Network", UPEC 2008, pp. 1-6, 1-4 Sep. 2008
- [3.15] Distribution Long Term Development Statement for ScottichPower Distribution LTD-Year 2008/09 to 2012/13, Nov. 2008.
- [3.16] BSI British Standards IEC 60909, Short-circuit currents in three-phase a.c. systems, Part2: Data of electrical equipment for short-circuit current calculations, 2008.
- [3.17] Prysmain Cables & Systems, available online at: <u>www.cablejoints.co.uk</u>
- [3.18] C. Andrieu, R. Caire, T. Tran-Quoc, S. Martino, "Case Studies on the Operating of 20kV Distribution Network with Large-scale Low-voltage Dispersed Generators", CIRED 2003, Barcelona, Session 4, paper No 4, 12-15 May 2003.
- [3.19] PB Power Report, DTI Renewable Energy Program, "Study to Identify the Possible Impacts of Small Scale Embedded Generation On Distribution Network", Report N0.61735A/001, May 2003.
- [3.20] Data for microgeneration available online at: www.CAT-Electricpower.com
- [3.21] Mott McDonald, "System Integration of Additional Microgeneration (SIAM)", Sep. 2004, available at <u>www.distributed-generation.gov.uk</u>
- [3.22] Infield, D.G.; Short, J.; Home, C.; Freris, L.L., "Potential for Domestic Dynamic Demand-Side Management in the UK", IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting, 24-28 June 2007, pp1 – 6.

4.1 Introduction

A priority of any supply system is, the system should be well designed and properly maintained in order to limit the number of faults that might occur [4.1]. However, when the cost is considered, it is not practical and cost effective to design a system to withstand all possible system failures, and the alternative is to design a protective system that can quickly detect faults and take required actions within reasonable time [4.2][4.3]. Therefore, use of protection systems is very necessary in electrical power systems. They must be installed to cover all the system in order to detect faults, and restrict them to limited areas and isolate only the faulted parts [4.2]. This in turn will avoid damage and prevent personnel injury, and minimize outages and restoration cost, and enable continuity of service in unfaulted parts of the system. The protection schemes depend on the protected portion, and also on other factors such as voltage level, the complexity and the arrangement of the protected system, and the importance of the protected system. However, the main principles of any protection scheme are the capability of immediately sensing the faults and isolating the impacted equipment, and allowing the rest of the power system to remain in service [4.1].

4.2 Requirements of Electric Power System Protection Schemes

The main criteria by which the performance of a protection system may be measured are listed below [4.1][4.3][4.4]:

1- The speed: speed is required in order to avoid damage to equipment. The protection must operate as it is required. It should not be too slow which may lead to damage of the equipments and not too fast and lead to unwanted operation (i.e. losing selectivity).

- 2- The reliability: reliability is very important requisite. If a fault occurs the protection should react correctly. The reliability of protection has two elements; the certainty of a correct operation, which is called dependability, and the security against incorrect operation.
- 3- The selectivity: it is based on disconnecting only faulted sections of the network to isolate the fault and maintain the continuity of supply to other healthy parts. The protection must be able to discriminate between when the operation is required and when it is not, or time delay is required.
- 4- The cost: a suitable balance between the benefits of protection and the economic cost should be considered. So maximum protection should be at the lowest possible cost.
- 5- The sensitivity: It is important that the protection has a good capability of detecting faults on the system.

It is difficult to satisfy all the above points at the same time. Thus it is very necessary to compromise the above requirements in order to obtain acceptable performance and optimum protection systems [4.5]. Associated with a traditional distribution system, these protection requirements have been considered for a passive paradigm.

When a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration is integrated into a distribution network, the network will not be seen anymore as a radial with unidirectional power flow. A new path for sort-circuit currents is provided. This path may impact to some level the main performance criteria of protection systems of distribution networks, where the traditional protection has been designed with the absence of such path. If the protection performance is impacted due to microgeneration integration, then lower reliability, lower sensitivity, and even reduction in power quality by lowering the protection selectivity may result [4.6]. Therefore, the investigation of the influence of a high density LV connected microgeneration on the LV protection performance is vital.

In [4.7] it has been reported that the connection of distributed generation to MV may cause traditional protection schemes to become ineffective. This chapter investigates whether the connection of a high population of microgeneration to low voltage level will degrade the protection performance and protection requirements at low voltage level or their impact will be insignificant? The impacts are investigated in details in terms of the influence on the following LV protection requirements; the correct operation (i.e. reliability, when to operate and when not to operate), and the graded setting (coordination or selectivity). The electro-magnetic transient computer simulation programme EMTDC interfaced by PSCAD is used for all the protection studies of this chapter. This is because of numbers of advantages of using this tool as it has been mentioned early in chapter two section (2.6).

The following sections of this chapter include a brief introduction to basic principles of the protection schemes of low voltage distribution networks, followed by a discussion on the expected protection impact due to microgeneration connection and a detailed case study with different fault scenarios to identify the protection issue.

4.3 Protection of low voltage distribution networks

Traditional medium and low voltage distribution systems are considered to be lower importance from the protection complexity perspective [4.2]. This is because of the cost, and they are normally operated in a radial manner, and the direction of the current flow is always known. Distribution network protection does not involve extensive hardware, and the networks are protected by a simple and cheap type of overcurrent protection [4.1]. Compared to other protection schemes, overcurrent protection is more economical and simple, thus they are widely used to protect distribution power systems [4.5].

Low voltage overcurrent protective devices are normally described by inverse timecurrent characteristics. The fault current flows through overcurrent protection devices, is used to determine the presence of fault conditions, and initiate the protection operation. The speed at which the protection will operate is dictated by the amount of the fault current that will flow through the protective device. The protection operating time decreases as the fault current increases. Based on unidirectional power flow philosophy of traditional distribution systems, the fundamental functions of overcurrent are achieved by coordinating the operating times of protective devices, where downstream elements will respond to faults downstream faster than the upstream devices [4.3].

The devices that are most used for protecting distribution networks are; overcurrent relays, reclosers, sectionalisers, and fuses, and the common schemes to protect LV feeders are overcurrent protection schemes [4.1]. Fuses are a common example of devices that can be used for overcurrent protection. They are normally simple to use, fail safe, their operating characteristics can be graded, and they are relatively cheap compared to other protective devices. Thereby, fuses are extensively used on low voltage systems (415 and 660V) with rating from 2 to 1600Amps [4.1]. Fuses do not have inherent directional properties, and they have been used to protect passive distribution networks where the direction of the current flow is always identified. So the effect of the opposite fault current flow due to microgeneration connection is important to be understood. This will require understanding of the performance of a low voltage distribution network protected by fuses when large amount of microgeneration are connected to the network.

4.3.1 Principles of fuse operation

When the fault current exceeds a predetermined value, the fuse has an element that will be melt by the heat caused by the fault current [4.4]. Fuses are considered as the simplest and most basic of hardware items used in system protection [4.2]. A fuse is also define as in IEC Publication 291: Fuse Definition as "a device that by the fusing of one or more of its specially designed and proportioned components opens the circuit in which it is inserted by breaking the current when this exceeds a given value for a sufficient time. The fuse comprises all the parts that form the complete device" [4.8].

The following information is required in order to select a suitable fuse for use at distribution systems [4.1]:

- 1. Voltage of circuit and insulation level.
- 2. Type of system (connection arrangements).
- 3. Maximum short-circuit level of circuit to be protected.
- 4. Load current.

The above four factors determine the fuse nominal current, voltage and short-circuit capability characteristics. The above factors are normally used to determine the prospective current of the circuit to be protected.

4.3.2 Fuse-fuse co-ordination

In order to achieve the coordination between overcurrent protective devices (i.e. fuses), and the disconnection of the entire feeder is avoided, it is important that their time/current characteristics are chosen to be sufficiently separated, so only device closest to the fault operates firstly to clear the fault. For example, when two fuses protecting the same feeder, the maximum clearance time of downstream fuses should not exceed the 75 per cent of the minimum melting time of the upstream (i.e. back-up) fuse for the same fault level [4.1].



Figure 4-1: Low voltage feeder protected by two fuses

Fuse B in Figure 4-1 is the main protection of load 6, and fuse A is a back-up protection to fuse B. So if fuse B for any reason fails to operate then fuse A will disconnect all the feeder resulting in unnecessary disconnection of other loads. Therefore, the total clearing

time of fuse B must be smaller than the melting operating time of fuse A. Thus the required energy for melting fuse B is less than that is required for fuse A.



Figure 4-2: Time/current characteristics of two fuses protecting the same feeder

The time/current characteristics of LV overcurrent protection devices protecting the same feeder as in Figure 4- 2 are chosen to provide the required discrimination. The fuse with time/current characteristics as shown on curve (B) is more sensitive compared to the fuse with time/current characteristics of curve (A) on the same figure. Thereby, fuse B will be used as main protection and it is normally connected close to the load with lower rating. While fuse A with higher rating compared to fuse B is used as back-up protection and it is connected at upstream towards the source.

4.4 LV protection issues due to a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration

The principles of over current (OC) protection that have been set for protecting a passive distribution network are based on a higher fault current will lead to faster protection operating time. With the movement towards active distribution networks the OC operating principles may be impacted, and may lead to undesirable protection operation, and this is unacceptable [4.9].

The widespread use of distributed generation has led to a series of new problems, such as selective coordination of overcurrent protection in addition to control of voltage sag

magnitude and duration by using overcurrent protective devices [4.4]. For example, the studies conducted in [4.10] to identify the issues related to fault level impact in an urban distribution network due to a high penetration of distributed generation have concluded that a number of issues will emerge due to the presence of the DGs. One is when a DG is located between the fault and the feeding substation there is a possibility of delaying the operating time of the relay at the beginning of the feeder or even blocking the relay due to the reduction in the current measured by the relay which is caused by the contribution of the DG to downstream fault. The other issue is when the fault occurring on the adjacent feeder, the reverse fault current provided by the DG will lead to unnecessarily trip of the DG. The same studies have recommended that there is a need for more active protection with advanced communication to be employed to solve such problems [4.10].

In terms of adding a high penetration of microgeneration to low voltage networks, the impact can be different. The microgeneration also will contribute to the downstream faults and provide a reverse fault current for upstream faults, but with different level if compared to larger DGs added to MV networks. Another issue compared to the issues caused by DGs at MV is that LV distribution feeders are widely protected by fuses, and such advanced controls and communication to improve the protection performance as recommended in [4.10] can not be implemented in such devices due their inherent operation. So, the remaining question that this chapter of the thesis intending to answer is, how will a high penetration of small scale microgeneration connected to low voltage networks impact the existing LV protection performance based on fuses?

To answer the above question the microgeneration integration impacts on the LV protection performance are investigated in detail by using the test network 1 developed in chapter three. The studies are conducted in terms of the influence of microgeneration contribution to upstream and downstream faults on the following functions of the LV protection operating time: when to operate and when not to operate which can be reliability issue, and the time delay to operate which can be selectivity issue. The contribution to upstream faults and downstream faults may lead to reduction in the reach or unnecessary tripping of the feeder, therefore these two areas are considered.

4.4.1 Reduction in the reach

For downstream faults as shown on Figure 4- 3, if the aggregated contribution from the connected microgeneration is relatively strong, then it could cause a delay in the fuse operating time, or in the worst case it may lead to a reduction in the reach of fuse A. This may impact the customers connected to the LV feeder.



Figure 4- 3: Impact of LV connected microgeneration on the reach of the main LV feeder protection

4.4.2 Unnecessary tripping due to reverse fault current

When a fault as shown in Figure 4- 4 occurs on LV adjacent feeder without adding microgeneration, zero current will flow in fuse A, and only fuse C operates. While for the same fault condition and with the presence of microgeneration, fuse A will experience a reverse fault current as shown on Figure 4- 4. This fault current with a new path is provided by the sum of microgeneration connected across the feeder. Fuses do not have inherent directional properties, so if the reverses fault current exceeds the threshold value of the fuse operating current, the fuse A shown on Figure 4- 4 will start melting and leading to unnecessary disconnection of the feeder. Thereby, less reliability in protection performance may result. Such an impact is definitely not acceptable which may lead to lost revenue through losing microgeneration. Therefore, this issue is investigated within the case study in section (4.5) when the entire local load is met by the local microgeneration (i.e. 100% penetration of microgeneration).

Chapter four: The impact of a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration on the protection performance of LV distribution networks



Figure 4- 4: Impact of the LV connected microgeneration on LV protection performance during a fault on adjacent feeder

4.5 Case study

The studies of this chapter are conducted on the same test network 1 developed in chapter three, and only one LV cell (i.e. LV cell A in test network 1 in chapter three) is considered as shown in Figure 4- 8, and the impact of a heavy level of microgeneration integrated within the cell on the performance of LV protection is assessed. Only domestic level microgeneration are used, and the penetration of the microgeneration that have been used for the studies is chosen to meet 100% of the local load as used before in chapter three for fault level studies. This penetration has been chosen because it produced a significant contribution to the short circuit in the fault level studies in chapter three (i.e. 20% increase in the fault level), and such significant contribution is important to be considered within protection studies.

4.5.1 Fuse model

The used fuse model is developed as an overcurrent protection device by using the extremely inverse time-current characteristic model that is available within PSCAD master library, and at the beginning of each LV feeder one fuse is added. The model is

based on integrating a function of current F(I) with respect to the time [4.11]. Predetermined value (i.e. pickup) of the fault current is set, and when this value is exceeded, the integration starts positively to represent the start of fuse operating time, and when the integral reaches the pickup value, the fuse becomes completely open. This will give the estimated operating time in milliseconds. The integrator is used to represent the fuse operating time (i.e. pre-arcing time plus arcing time in practice) according to the total clearing time-current characteristic curves of low voltage fuses. The input to the fuse model is a measured current, and the fault current is used to indicate the presence of the fault, and based on its value the operating time is calculated. If the fault current is below the pickup value, then the function F(I) is always negative, and the integrator reset, and hence the fuse will not detect the fault. The developed fuse model by using PSCAD/EMTDC simulation program is shown on the figure below.



Figure 4- 5: PSCAD/EMTDC developed fuse model

Minimum fusing current is equal to fuse factor multiplied by the current rating. The fuse factor is not fixed, and it depends on other factors such as temperature and fuse breaking capacity [4.12]. The fuse factor can range between 1.25 and 1.6 times of the current rating [4.2]. In the used fuse model, the factor is assumed to be 1.6 times normal current rating, so the pickup current value is equal to 1.6 of the current rating. The low voltage fuse specification has been taken from [4.12] as shown in Figure 4- 6. All the specifications are conformed to standard IEC: 60269-2-1 with breaking capacity 80kA of the fuse links. The upstream fuse A is assumed to be 630A rated fuse.



Figure 4- 6: Low voltage fuse specification [4.12]



Figure 4-7: Withstand capacity of most common fuses used for LV protection [4.12]

4.5.2 Protection studies

A- Downstream fault

The impact of aggregated microgeneration on the performance of main fuse (i.e. fuse A) protecting an LV feeder as shown in Figure 4- 8 has been studied. The study has investigated the impact on the reduction in the reach of fuse A, and hence ascertain the impact of microgeneration on LV feeder fuse protection in general. Figure 4- 8 shows the single diagram of the test network. Two scenarios have been considered, the feeder protection performance without adding microgeneration, and the performance with adding a high density of LV connected microgeneration, and the impact on the fuse protection performance is assessed.



Figure 4- 8: Faulted LV distribution network feeder integrated with a high penetration of microgeneration

A1- LV feeder protection performance without adding microgeneration

A solid three-phase to earth fault was applied at the end of LV feeder, and the performance of the fuse located at the beginning of the feeder was assessed when no microgeneration was added to the network. The figure below shows that the fault current was cleared by the fuse (A) after 73msec, and this values is similar to the typical fuse operating time given in Figure 4- 6 for the fuse630A.



Figure 4-9: Downstream fault current cleared by upstream fuse

A2- LV feeder protection performance with adding 100% penetration of microgeneration

For the same fault scenario as in section A1, a 100% penetration of microgeneration (i.e. 100% of a single feeder and not of the entire local distribution network) in respect to local load of the feeder has been added and the impact of the aggregated contribution from the microgeneration has been studied. Figure 4- 10 shows that the contribution to the downstream fault is negligible. For example, there is no a reduction in the reach of fuse A or a delay in the fuse operating time. This was because of the relatively small contribution to the fault by the microgeneration which was only 1/19 compared to the strong fault contribution from the grid. The Figure 4- 10 shows that the fuse has cleared the fault in 75msec, and this is just 2ms delayed from the previous studies when no microgeneration was added (i.e. 2.7% delay). This can conclude that adding microgeneration up to 100% penetration to an LV feeder would not cause a reduction in the reach of the protection devices located at the beginning of the feeder during downstream faults, and no failure to operate would be caused.



Figure 4- 10: Downstream fault current with the impact of 100% penetration of microgeneration
B- Upstream fault (Reverse fault current impact on LV feeder protection)B1- Fault on adjacent circuit

A solid three-phase fault was applied on an adjacent feeder as shown in Figure 4- 8, and the impact of the reverse fault current that is provided by a high penetration of LV downstream connected microgeneration on the healthy feeder fuse has been examined.

The results of this section have shown that the main protective device fuse A of feeder 1 as shown in Figure 4- 8 which is the healthy feeder has detected the fault condition. This is because of the resultant reverse fault current which is provided by the local microgeneration connected to the feeder. The results have shown that this reverse current is larger than the fuse pick-up operating current. Figure 4- 11 shows that this current reaches 1.36kA RMS where the fuse pick-up current was set only to 0.63kA. However, fuse A did not operate, and this was because the fault contribution from the grid and from the microgeneration connected to feeder 1 forced fuse B to clear the fault quickly within 76msec before fuse A operates. In the case of fuse B does not operate for any reason, the reverse fault current was enough to operate the fuse A of the healthy feeder after 4.9 sec as shown in Figure 4- 11.

The RMS value as shown in Figure 4- 11 is determined by using the digital RMS meter available within the master library of the PSCAD programme which is based on using a 'moving data window approach' to determine the RMS values for repeating input waveform [4.11]. The approach as summarised in [4.11] is based on sampling the waveform per cycle of the fundamental, and all the samples are continuously buffered, and then moving snapshots of the input signal are produced, and the snapshot boundaries are defined by the present time and the period of the fundamental frequency, and a very smooth RMS output signal is provided.



Figure 4- 11: reverse fault current provided by local microgeneration to feed an adjacent fault



Figure 4- 12: The fault contribution from the grid and from an LV feeder connected microgeneration

B2- Fault on the main LV bus

When a solid three-phase to earth fault is applied at the LV bus as shown on schematic diagram as in Figure 4- 13 the CB on the grid side was opened very quickly. However, the fault was not completely cleared and it was supplied by the local microgeneration until fuse A and B operated after 4.9sec. The reverse current in each feeder has reached 1.36kA as shown on Figure 4- 14. It is normally expected that the downstream connected microgenerators should trip by their own protection before 4.9s. This will lead the downstream consumers to loss their generators even the fault is outside their properties. This can be an issue if the aim is to keep the local generation connected to

supply the islanded consumers until the fault is cleared and the consumers are reconnected again to the grid. But if the microgeneration within the affected area are not quickly disconnected, then delay in the restoration time can be caused if a recloser is used to clear temporary faults on distribution systems. In order to avoid reclosing on a fault condition, the restoration action has to wait until the fault is completely cleared. This could take up to few seconds. Such delay would not be desirable within future power network where fast restoration and reducing the power cut time is one of its main objectives, and the delay may impact sensitive equipments connected to the system. Another issue that may be caused by the resultant reverse fault current is the following to the fuse operation which will lead to loss of supply after the reconnection with the grid until the fuse unit is replaced. Such situation does not exist if no microgeneration are added to the LV side. If the reverse current is not strong enough to blow the main fuse of the feeder, the fault will be supplied until the connected microgenerators are tripped by their own protection.



Figure 4-13: Test LV distribution system with two LV feeders configuration



Figure 4- 14: RMS value of the reverse fault current provided by LV feeder connected microgeneration

For such problems associated with reverse fault current provided by downstream microgeneration, the direct answer to overcome these problems would be the disconnection of all microgenerators by their own protection such as under-voltage protection or loss of mains protection. But, would such a solution be acceptable within the intelligent future power system where the sustainability of supply and the ability of privately owned generators to provide local energy needs during the power outage are one of the main system targets? Or better solutions that can stop the infeed to the fault and at the same time keep the microgeneration connected would be better. This could be reached by disconnecting all microgeneration from the main LV feeder and keeping them connected within the houses. This may require an intelligent or complex controller that could detect the disturbance, disconnect the consumers from the faulted feeder, and stabilise the microgenerators within each house or within the area impacted by fault taking the advantage of the load diversity factor, and when the grid is ready, the consumers will be reconnected to the mains.

There are numbers of studies for load/generation balancing during a power cut. For example studies in [4.14] have proposed an algorithm and a model of domestic electricity infrastructure of a house and a microCHP device for producing heat and

electricity at the same time with a high efficiency. The results show that with some extra hardware all the appliances in a house can be supplied, however not always at the preferred time. As microgenerators have a limited generation capacity, the most important appliances such as heating and lighting for example can be supplied. The rest of generation capacity can be used for other equipments for reducing the discomfort. Some changes to domestic infrastructure may be necessary for self supporting during power cuts. It is difficult for generation and consumption to be exactly matched, however the results of the simulation of the studies conducted in [4.14] have shown that islanded house operation with micro CHP device is possible without a lot of discomfort.

The following table summarised the protection issues that could be experienced with existing LV protection arrangement due to the presence of large amount of LV connected microgeneration.

Protection issues caused by a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration	
Issues	Cause
1- Issues of selectivity with	The resulted reverse fault current could blow the fuse on the
existing arrangements	adjacent feeder to the faulted feeder
2- Issues of nuisance extra fuse	The resulted reverse fault current could be strong enough to
blowing with existing	unnecessarily blow the healthy feeder fuses
arrangements	
3- Issues of safety with existing	Low reverse current may not be enough to be cleared, and the fault
arrangement	will be supplied until the connected microgenerators are tripped by
	their own protection, and this could increase the hazard.
4- undesirable features for	Delay the restoration time:
future systems	• The following to the fuse operation due to reverse fault current
	leads to loss of supply after the reconnection to the grid until
	the fuse unit is replaced. This increases the time of the power
	cut.
	• Impacting the operation of reclosers used for quick removal of
	temporary faults by feeding the fault for few seconds. This
	may impact sensitive equipments connected to the system

Table 15: Protection issues caused by a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration

4.6 Chapter summary

The protection issues associated with connecting a significant penetration of microgeneration to an LV distribution network protected by LV fuses have been investigated in this chapter. The obtained results have shown that with the existing arrangement of LV protection schemes and based on fault locations, microgeneration can cause numbers of protection issues. The following issues have been outlined: issues of selectivity and nuisance extra fuse blowing, issues of safety, and issues of undesirable features for future systems.

For downstream faults, the high penetration of LV connected microgeneration meeting 100% to the local domestic loads of the test urban distribution network has not impacted the selectivity to clear such faults. However, for upstream faults, the results have shown that when the upstream fault on the main LV bus is cleared from the grid side, there will be still resulted reverse fault current provided by downstream microgeneration. The reverse current has led to blowing the fuse within few seconds when 100% penetration of microgeneration contributed to the upstream fault. Therefore, a healthy feeder can be disconnected due to nuisance fuse blowing.

The minimum amount of microgeneration penetration that can cause the reverse fault current to exceed the fuse threshold current has been found in the simulation studies to be 47% of microgeneration. The reverse current provided by such penetration will require about 15 minutes for blowing the fuse. Therefore, if the microgeneration does not trip during islanding mode, then the level of hazard can be increased by feeding a fault on the system for long period of time. If the amount of microgeneration is less than 47%, the fuse will not detect the fault current and the fault would be supplied until the microgeneration trip by their own protection.

The sustainability of supply and the ability of privately owned generators to provide local energy needs during the power outage are one of future power systems targets. Supplying upstream faults by reverse fault current provided by downstream microgeneration for few seconds may cause a delay in the restoration time, by impacting the fast reconnection of the system by the reclosers used for quick removal of temporary faults. This may impact sensitive equipments connected to the system. If the reverse current caused LV fuses to blow as proved by the result the following to the fuse operation will increase the time of the power cut until the fuse unit is replaced.

4.7 Chapter references

- [4.1] Juan M. Gers and Edward. J. Holmes, "Protection of Electricity Distribution Networks", 2nd Edition, IEE power & Energy Series 47z.
- [4.2] L. G. Hewitson, Mark Brown, Ramesh Balakrishnan, "Practical Power System Protection", Newnes an imprint of Elsevier, 2004.
- [4.3] P. M. Anderson, "Power System Protection", IEEE press series on Power Engineering.
- [4.4] P. Gopala Krishna, "Introduction to power system protection & relays", ADE/400kV/Aptransco.
- [4.5] Time Keil, and Johann Jager, "Advanced Coordination Method for Overcurrent Protection Relays Using Nonstandard Tripping Characteristics", IEEE Tran. On Power Sys. Del. Vol. 23, No. 1, Jan. 2008, pp. 52-57.
- [4.6] Kojovicm, L. "Modeling Techniques for Studying Distributed Generation Interconnections to Distribution System", CIRED 18th International Conf. on Electricity Distribution, Turin 6-9-2005.
- [4.7] Kumpulainen, L., Kauhaniemi, K., CODGUNet Project, "Distributed Generation and Reclosing Coordination", Nordic Distribution and Asset Management Conf. 2004, Available at: <u>http://powersystems.tkk.fi/nordac2004/papers/nordac2004_kumpulainen_et_kau</u> haniemi_paper.pdf
- [4.8] BS 88: Low-voltage fuses Part 1: General requirements, IEC 60269-1: 1986, UDC 621.316.923.027.2/.5.
- [4.9] Saeed Lotfi-fard, Jawad Faiz, Reza Iravani, "Improved Overcurrent Protection Using Symmetrical Components", IEEE Tran. Power Del. Vol. 22, No. 2, pp 843-850, April 2007.
- [4.10] S. Boljevic, and M. F. Conlon, "Fault Current Issues for Urban Distribution Network with High Penetration of Distributed Generation", the 6th International Conference on the European Energy Market (EEM) 2009, pp. 1-6, 2009.
- [4.11] EMTDC TM, "Transient Analysis for PSCAD Power System Simulation-Inverse time overcurrent relay model", Master Library.

- [4.12] British Standard 88-5: Cartridge fuses for voltages up to and including 1000 V a.c. and 1500 V d.c. Specification of supplementary requirements for fuse-links for use in a.c. electricity supply networks.
- [4.13] HiBreak range of low voltage fuse links & fuse base characteristics available at: http://www.havells.com/Product.aspx?s=73
- [4.14] Molderink, A.; Bakker, V.; Hurink, J.L.; Smit, G. "Algorithms for Balancing Demand-Side Load and Micro-Generation in Islanded Operation", 19th International Conference on Systems Engineering, 2008, pp.115 – 120, 19-21 Aug. 2008.

Chapter five: Transient Performance Analysis of LV Connected Microgeneration

5.1 Introduction

To cope with changes during the transition towards decentralised highly distributed power systems incorporating a large volume of microgeneration, it is important for the microgeneration to survive undesirable operating conditions (i.e. such as faults) and avoid unnecessary disconnection. The two previous areas of studies in chapters three and four have dealt with the impact of microgeneration performance on the local distribution network performance during fault conditions. The impacts on the fault level and low voltage protection performance were assessed, and the level of the problems was evaluated.

The reaction of a distribution system to any fault conditions would be very important to all equipment connected at that level. This is because faults on the system will cause a drop in the voltage of the close areas resulting in dynamic loads and connected generators to exhibit stability issues. Therefore, it is also very important to understand the influence of the host distribution networks performance during transient faults on the transient performance of connected microgeneration during and after the faults. Understanding the transient behaviour of microgeneration is useful to examine the resilience level of microgeneration during transient disturbance on the system. In addition, any source of problems that may emerge due to disconnection of a large penetration of microgeneration can be addressed, and practical means to mitigate the problems can be applied.

This chapter presents studies concerning the transient stability of microgeneration using small rotating AC machines in response to representative network transients. The chapter is structured as following: Introduction to the transient stability issue is given in

section 5.2, followed by specific consideration in section 5.3 to outline why microgeneration transient stability is an important area to consider. As a result of the shortages of small scale microgeneration transient models, a set of suitable microgenerator transient models with different generator/prime mover technologies have been developed in section 5.4 to be used as part of the transient studies. The models have been built using PSCAD/EMTDC. This tool has been used for the transient stability studies as mentioned before in section (2.6) of chapter two due to its rich library which contains numbers of developed models of different rotating machines and the flexibility of building new models as well as its excellent performance for understanding the transient behaviour of electric power systems under large transient disturbances. Two types of technologies are considered for the studies: a small micro CHP diesel engine driving a three-phase synchronous machine connected within commercial premises; and a small scale microwind turbine interfaced directly within a residential dwelling by a single-phase induction generator. In 5.5 the impact of different fault locations, typical fault clearance times and generator/prime mover technologies on the ability of microgenerators to maintain stability when the cell is subject to disturbance during and after clearing of both local and remote medium voltage faults is investigated in detail. In addition, in order to examine the consequence of transient instability of microgeneration, the voltage step changes due to the simultaneous disconnection and reconnection of a large number of microgenerators within a small area of the network (i.e. cell) have been also evaluated in section 5.5.

5.2 Transient stability of a traditional power system overview

For any given power system there are numbers of operational constraints that should be considered during planning and design of the system. Power system stability issue is seen as one of the major concerns in system operation, and its evaluation basically depends on the understanding of the system behaviour when the system is subjected to a certain disturbance condition [5.1]. The issue is defined by IEEE/CIGRE task force on stability terms and definitions [5.2] as "the ability of an electric power system, for a given initial operating condition, to regain a state of operating equilibrium after being subjected to a physical disturbance, with most system variables bounded so that practically the entire system remains intact".

Compared to other different complex phenomena on power systems, power system stability is still believed to be seen as one of the most difficult area to assess and analyse [5.3]. This is because power systems have been moving to more complex and with more growth in interconnections between the systems [5.3]. In addition, the stability phenomenon is expected to present more difficult challenges in the 21st century electric power systems as the systems would operate closer to their stability limits [5.3] due to the increase of the interconnectivity and the potential change in the system characteristics due to the increase in the penetration of decentralised generation.

Power system stability phenomena has different forms, and clear understanding of the stability forms is essential for the satisfactory design and operation of power systems [5.2]. According to IEEE/CIGRE task force on stability terms and definitions [5.2], the power system stability are categorised into three main forms as shown in Figure 5-1.



Figure 5-1: Power system stability classification [5.2].

The voltage and frequency stability could be experienced within short and long terms, but the rotor angle stability can occur only for a short term. The rotor angle stability is divided further into two types; small disturbance angle stability and transient stability. The power system transient stability is one of the most severe limitations compared to other power system operation limitation [5.4]. It is believed that the operation of many power systems could be restricted by transient stability limits [5.4]. Transient stability is generally defined in [5.3] as *"the ability of the system to maintain synchronism when*

subjected to a severe transient disturbance such as faults, sudden loss of generation or loss of a large load".

The synchronism means that all the system operates at same frequency. Loss of synchronism can happen between a single synchronous machine and the rest of the system or between groups of machines and the wider system. The synchronism may be still maintained among each group after separation from others but the system stiffness may be reduced [5.3]. For a traditional power system, the electricity is mainly generated by large synchronous generators. Therefore, the transient performance of synchronous machines during transient faults plays a significant role to facilitate the stability of the entire system.

5.2.1 Synchronous machine transient stability

To understand the performance of a synchronous machine during transient faults it may be recommended to review the principles operation of the machine. The principles of the machine operation are explained in detail in [5.3] and [5.5], and they are summarised as follows. Under steady-state operation the rotating magnetic field produced by the ac alternative currents in the three-phase windings of the machine stator rotates at the same speed as the rotor with an angular separation between them based on the electrical output power of the generator. This electrical power output is changed by the change in the mechanical torque applied to the rotor, and the frequency of the induced voltage (machine terminals voltage) depends on the speed of the rotor. Therefore, the frequency of electric variables of the stator (i.e. voltages and currents) are synchronised with the rotor mechanical speed (i.e. 3600rpm for 60Hz and 3000rpm for 50Hz). The increase in mechanical torque will lead the rotor to take a new position in respect to rotating magnetic field of the stator. When more machines are connected to each other, the frequency of all the stators voltages must be the same, and the rotors mechanical speed must be synchronised with this frequency, thus the machines can operate in synchronism. So the rotor of any synchronous machine connected to the power system must be in synchronism with the revolving field of the machine stator which is corresponding to system frequency.

During a transient fault on the system, kinetic energy will be gained by the rotor of the faulted synchronous machine. After clearing the fault, if the gained energy is transferred to the system then the machine will experience a period of oscillations and it may return to its stability state after a period of time. But if the kinetic energy is not absorbed by the system after the fault is cleared, then the machine rotor runs at high speed, and this may lead the machine not to maintain the synchronism with the system, and it will be seen as unstable and tripped from the system. Instability of a large machine may influence other generators connected to the system, and lead to consequent cascading events [5.6]. So, the dynamics of a synchronous machine rotor are important criteria for transient stability studies of a traditional power system where most of the large generators are interfaced to the grid by large synchronous generators. The rotor dynamics are described by the well known swing equation as in (14) [5.7].

$$\frac{d^2\delta}{dt^2} = \frac{\omega_s}{2H} (P_m - P_e) \tag{14}$$

Where

 \mathcal{O}_s is equal to $2\pi f$ and f is the system frequency

 δ is the rotor angle

 P_m is the mechanical power supplied by the prime mover

 P_e is the electrical power output from the generator = $P_{\text{max}} \sin \delta$

H is the constant of inertia

The stable operation (transient stability margin) of the synchronous generator depends on the acceleration power, which is equal to the difference between the mechanical input power and the electrical output power of the generator during the fault. The acceleration power (Pe-Pm) as shown as accelerating area A1 in Figure 5- 2 has a direct impact on the swing of the rotor angle. The largest value that the rotor angle may reach during the oscillation without losing stability is used to identify the limit of the transient stability margin. One simple approach to identify the maximum power angle is the direct method based on equal-area criterion [5.3]. The method is described as in Figure 5- 2, and it can be used for a single synchronous machine connected to the grid. During $\delta 0 \le \delta \le \delta cr$ the mechanical power Pm is larger than the electric power Pe, and the rotor is accelerating (i.e. within accelerating area A1). During $\delta_{cr} \le \delta \le \delta 3$ the electric power Pe is larger than Pm, and thus the rotor is decelerating (i.e. within decelerating area A2). The stability of the machine is maintained if only accelerating area A1 is equal to the decelerating area A2 as shown in Figure 5- 2 [5.3]. If A1 is greater than A2 then δ will be larger than δcr and the machine will loss the synchronism with the system. Therefore, the maximum value of δ that will maint the stability of the machine can be calculated when A1=A2. The duration of the fault stressing the machine is very important factor that impacts the stability of the machine. Based on the maximum value of the rotor angle δcr that can be reached during transient disturbance without losing stability after the faults, the maximum duration of the fault which maintains the stability can be identified. This time is called critical clearing time (CCT) and it has been defined in the IEEE report [5.8] as "the maximum time between the fault initiation and its clearing such that the power system is transiently stable".



Figure 5-2: Power angle relationship

5.2.2 Induction machine transient stability

Moving to more complex system structure incorporated with distributed generation which can be interfaced into the grid by different technologies including induction machines, the transient stability of such machines has received further attention [5.9]. The nature of induction generators has increased the interest in using such machines for renewable power generation [5.10].

Unlike a synchronous generator, induction generator is a type of rotating electrical machine that operates at a speed not directly related to the system frequency. The machine requires an external source for its excitation whether the machine is used as generator or as motor. The transient stability analysis of an induction generator as a self excited machine (SEIG) which can operate as a stand alone machine has been widely considered [5.11]. Most of the studies are related to voltage build-up due to the self-excitation and load disturbance conditions [5.12][5.13]. The grid-connected induction machine is excited by reactive power drawn from the grid, and the required electromagnetic field inside the stator of induction generators depends highly on the voltage of the grid. The machine electro-magnetic torque is proportional to the machine speed and the square of its terminal voltage as in equation (15) [5.14].

$$T_e = KSV_{\mu_g}^{2}$$
(15)

 T_e is the electromagnetic torque developed inside the machine.

K is a constant depends on the parameters of the machine

S is the slip of the machine

 $V_{\mu g}$ is the machine terminal voltage (i.e. nominal voltage of the system)

The dynamic behaviour of the induction machine rotor is governed by the swing equation given below [5.7]:

$$J\frac{d\omega}{dt} = T_m - T_e \tag{16}$$

 T_m is the mechanical torque applied to the rotor.

J is the inertia of the machine

 ω is the angular rotor speed

The rotor speed of induction machine is not fixed as in a synchronous machine. If the rotor speed is greater than the synchronous speed of the stator which is corresponding to the system frequency the machine will operate as a generator, and if the rotor speed is less than the synchronous speed then the machine will operate as motor. The difference between the rotor speed and the synchronous speed is called the "*slip*". The transient performance of induction machines is determined by the mathematical relationship

between the machine electric torque and the speed [5.5]. When an induction machine is connected to the grid and its speed starts increasing above the synchronous speed, the electromagnetic torque developed inside the machine will increase until a certain value of the rotor speed. If this value is exceeded then the torque collapses and the machine will not behave anymore as generator.

In the event of the fault, a reduction in the machine terminal voltage will occur, and from equation (15) it can be observed that the electromagnetic torque will be reduced. Since the response of mechanical parts to short time faults is relatively slow the mechanical torque T_m as in equation (16) is normally assumed to be constant during the fault. During the fault the acceleration torque will appear due to the decrease in *Te* and this in turn will lead to an increase in the kinetic energy of the machine rotating mass. After the fault is cleared if the speed of the machine exceeds the allowable stability limits, the machine will experience unstable conditions, otherwise the machine rotor speed will be damped after a series of oscillations and the stability is maintained.

5.3 Microgeneration transient stability issue

As power systems are moving towards systems where increasing numbers of householders are generating as well as consuming electricity, there will always be a need to ascertain whether the underlying network can support this change in terms of transient stability or whether some adjustment is required [5.15]. Generating power at distribution systems level will alter the transient behaviour of distribution systems. According to [5.16], various studies conducted by industry and academia have shown that distributed generation could affect negatively the host distribution network in different ways from a stability perspective and on the other hand the performance of the host distribution network would directly impact the capability of the generators to ride through different disturbances.

Transient stability of generators connected at distribution networks particularly at low voltage can be a significant issue because of the following three main reasons.

- The nature of the device (i.e. microgenerator) which has relatively very small inertia (i.e. poor inherent damping), and this in turn will increase highly the sensitivity of the device to most of the faults on the system even remote faults.
- The performance of the host distribution networks which may not support the fault ride through capabilities of microgeneration. This is because existing distribution networks have been designed without any consideration of connected generation to their sides.
- The adverse impact that tripping large numbers of microgeneration due to transient instability may have on the system performance.

The transient stability of microgenerators refers to the capability of the devices to remain connected following transient disturbance. Based on some literatures, the importance of considering the microgeneration transient stability is discussed in further detail as follows.

5.3.1 Microgeneration transient characteristics

When a short-circuit fault occurs on the system, all parts close to the faulted area will experience voltage drops to a certain level. The voltage drops at the terminal of the machines and the rotor speed are intrinsically related. The rotor speed will increase when the machine terminal voltage decreases due to the fault. This will be significant for small size generators connected to LV distribution networks. The transient stability of such generators might be problem if they are interfaced directly by rotating machines (particularly induction) with low inertia [5.6]. The low inertia of those generators may increase the weakness of the distribution system. For illustration, the transient stability of 10kV distribution network with CHP 0.25MW microturbine interfaced by three-phase synchronous generators is analysed in [5.6] and [5.16], and the results of the studies have shown that the inertia is the major factor influencing transient stability performance, and there is linear relationship between inertia constant and critical clearance time. For the same remote fault conditions applied on all the three generators,

the distributed generator with 0.25MVA size has been found to be the most critical elements due to its lowest inertia, and the generator did not maintain the stability when the duration of the applied fault was larger than 425ms. This will indeed create a need for giving more attention to microgeneration transient performance where the level of controllability is very limited and the inertia is very small due to the small size of units.

In transient stability studies for traditional power systems, the disturbances that are normally believed to be more severe types and lead to maximum acceleration of the generators are short circuits at the machine terminals [5.1]. Such scenario could be important when a large machine is considered within centralised power systems, where losing a large machine due to transient instability may lead to large impact on the system performance as a whole. But, this might be different for small scale generators connected at distribution levels. The fault at the terminal of small scale generator might be less critical than remote faults at the wider system. This is due to two reasons. One is the limitation of the fault by the local protection devices where their design is based on fast operation with lower fault level compared to upstream devices. The other is the generators' protection would respond very quickly to local faults and only limited generators connected very close to the fault would be disconnected. But remote faults may cause unnecessary tripping of large amount of microgeneration.

5.3.2 Host distribution system transient performance

Currently, based on the requirements for connection of distributed generation, the common procedures are to immediately disconnect the generators from the grid if faults occur and the grid is disconnected [5.17]. But as the aggregate distributed generation capacity increases this would not be acceptable any longer and new requirements for distributed generation connection may be needed [5.16]. Also the performance of traditional distribution systems may not be adequate for connected small scale generators to ride through transient faults. For example, from the protection perspective, existing protection schemes in distribution systems are largely based on a unidirectional power flow philosophy. The fundamental functions of the schemes are basically achieved by coordinating the operating times of the protective devices, where downstream elements will respond to faults faster than those upstream. Faults occurring

in distribution networks are usually cleared in rather long time [5.6]. The protection coordination at distribution systems may lead to operating times of protective devices at the upstream end of a distribution feeder as high as 1.5 sec [5.18]. Such operating time may typically not be small enough to maintain the transient stability of LV connected microgeneration, and thus, the units in an area will be disconnected for faults close to upstream protection devices.

In addition, protective devices used to protect individual distributed generators would respond to transient disturbances on the system, and they could be a reason for unnecessary disconnection. The results of the studies of transient stability analysis of distribution networks with distributed generation represented in [5.6] have shown that even very short disturbance may lead to the tripping of all small scale distributed generators in the faulted area. In addition, based on the study conducted in [5.6] by comparing the typical used under-voltage protection setting of 0.25MVA distributed generator and the derived CCT-voltage dips of the same generator, the results have shown that in most cases the generator was disconnected before reached its stability margin. The study has also concluded that the present settings of distributed generation under-voltage protection (0.8pu, 200ms) would lead to massive tripping of the units over large areas in case of faults at the transmission level. It was proposed that keeping the generator connected to the grid would provide support to the system, and it was proposed that the fault ride through capabilities could be improved by the adjustment of the generator under-voltage protection according to the CCT-voltage dip curves.

The discussion in the two above paragraphs shows that transient stability of generators connected at distribution level could be an issue due to the sensitivity of distributed generation and the performance of the host network that may not support the fault ride through capabilities of the connected generators. This is based on a review of some studies that have considered the transient stability of distribution networks with distributed generation. The microgeneration would be more sensitive compared to larger distributed generation, and they have not received much attention in terms of their resilience level during fault conditions on the system. Therefore, the impact of protection performance of a typical distribution network on microgeneration transient

performance is vital to be understood. The significance of the studies could be motivated if the advantages of improving the transient stability of microgeneration are outlined as well as the negative impacts of losing large amount of microgeneration are predicted.

5.3.3 The impact of losing large amount of microgeneration on the system performance

Numbers of researches such as in [5.19] have concluded that distributed generation at heavy penetration levels will have a significant impact on local distribution systems, and sometimes the bulk transmission system stability may be also affected. After outage of large amount of generators connected at distribution level, there is a possibility of emerging shortage (deficit) of active and/or reactive power, and such situation might lead to cascading events [5.6]. So the collective impact of tripping a large amount of microgeneration on the local network performance is important to be quantified in order to mitigate the problems that uncontrolled microgeneration tripping may cause to the host system.

5.4 Transient models

As a result of the shortages of LV microgeneration transient models, a set of suitable microgenerator transient models with different generator/prime mover technologies have been developed to be used as part of the transient studies in order to assess how LV microgeneration within LV cells will respond to different fault conditions on the system. The models of microgenerators used in this chapter are more suitable for capturing the transient behaviour of the devices compared to those used in chapter 3 and 4, where the amount of the fault current contribution was more important to understand the phenomena. The models for transient studies are commented upon in the following sections.

5.4.1 Test Network

The test network model used for the transient studies is the same as a single LV cell connected to the grid at 33kV that have been modelled in chapter three. The main difference between the LV cell model in chapter three and the LV cell model used in this chapter is the load characteristics model. The model is not assumed as constant loads

with constant value as has been modelled in chapter three. The model in the studies of this chapter is characterised as a function in voltage magnitude which is more suitable for stability studies. Therefore, the test system in this chapter is labelled as test system 2, and it is shown as a single line diagram in Figure 5- 3.



Figure 5- 3: MV-LV distribution network model for transient studies

5.4.2 Demand model

The demand on the secondary substation has been modelled as domestic loads connected to feeder 1 and commercial loads connected to feeder 2 as shown in Figure 5- 3. A uniform power factor of 0.95 lagging has been assumed, and short lengths of connecting cable typical of urban areas are also used.

Since the load characteristics have an important influence on system stability studies, the detailed load models are considered in the simulation. The static well known load model as in expressions (17) and (18) is used in the studies to represent the load [5.3]. The

model is characterized as a function of voltage magnitude and frequency, where the load real and reactive powers are considered separately.

$$P_{L} = P_{o} \left(\frac{V_{L}}{V_{o}}\right)^{a} \left(1 + K_{pf} \Delta f\right)$$
(17)

$$Q_{L} = Q_{o} \left(\frac{V_{L}}{V_{o}}\right)^{b} \left(1 + K_{qf} \Delta f\right)$$
(18)

Where, P_L is the load real power, P_o is the rated real power per phase, V_L is the load voltage, V_o is the rated load voltage (RMS, L-G). $a = dP_l/dV_l$ is the voltage index for real power, and $K_{pf} = dP/df$ is the frequency index for real power. While, Q_L is the equivalent load reactive power, Q_o is the rated reactive power per phase, b = dQ/dV is the voltage index for reactive power, $K_{qf} = dQ/df$ is the frequency index for reactive power for reactive power, and Δf is the frequency deviation $(f - f_o)$ where f is the measured frequency and f_o is the reference frequency (i.e. 50Hz).

When the parameters of this model *a* and *b* are equal to 0, 1, or 2, the model represents constant power, constant current, or constant impedance characteristics respectively [5.3]. However, reference [5.3] has also stated that at low voltages the static models given by the equations above are not realistic, and may lead to computational problems. Therefore, the stability programs usually make provisions for switching the load characteristic to the constant impedance model when the bus voltage falls below a specified value. In the load model used in PSCAD/EMTDC transient stability program [5.20], the parameters a, and b are varied as a function of voltage below a threshold value of bus voltage, the constant power and constant current components are switched to constant impedance representation. The non-linear characteristic of the used load model is effective within $\pm 20\%$ of the rated RMS voltage. Outside this range, the load model reverts to constant impedance. Typically, K_{pf} and K_{qf} range from 0 to 3 and from -2 to 0 respectively [5.3]. In the studies of this chapter this type of load is used because it provides the characteristics of the change in the load including the nonlinear characteristics during the change in the voltage magnitude caused by faults on the

system. The default values $K_{pf} = 0$, $K_{qf} = 0$, a=2 and b=2 as given in [5.20] are used, and the load models are assumed as balanced three-phase loads.

5.4.3 Microgenerators Model

Based on the potential benefits that renewable and low carbon driven microgeneration will introduce to the system and to the environment as discussed earlier in chapter two, two types of microgeneration technologies are considered for the studies in this chapter. One is micro CHP driven by reciprocating engine that can be used at commercial level, and the other is a microwind that can be used at residential level. The reciprocating engines such as diesel can have a variety of sizes and run at full power within few seconds and achieve electric efficiency up to 50%, and the efficiency can be increased if the technology is used as CHP [5.21].

The type of the technology that is used to drive the microgeneration has a limited impact on the transient performance of the machine due to the slow response of the mechanical parts during transient period, however, the full detailed dynamic models of a micro CHP driven by a small diesel engine interfaced by a three-phase synchronous machine connected within commercial premises, and a microwind interfaced directly within a residential dwelling by a single-phase induction generator are built and used within the studies.

A- **3-Phase Synchronous Generator with Reciprocating Engine Prime Mover**

A complete electromagnetic transient model of a nonsalient pole three-phase synchronous machine has been used for the microgeneration transient studies. The model of the generator is one of the fully developed machine models that are available in PSCAD/EMTDC master library [5.20]. It has been programmed in state variable form using generalized machine theory, and it is based on transforming the stator windings into equivalent commutator windings using the dq0 transformation, and the three-phase rotor windings are transformed into two-phase equivalent winding with additional windings added to each axis.

The block diagram of the complete 3-phase diesel generator that has been used in the studies is given in Figure 5- 4. The figure shows the real and reactive power outer loops that control the output of the machine to give operation at a power factor of 0.95 lagging. This model is used in order to investigate the fault ride through capabilities of a microgenerator that can be connected at commercial levels and evaluate the machine resilience to the fault conditions at different locations on the network.



Figure 5-4: Three-phase synchronous generator model with diesel prime mover [5.22]

The exciter is externally interfaced to the generator model, and an IEEE alternator supplied rectifier excitation system model (AC1A) as sketched in Figure 5-5 is used to provide field control for the generator [5.23]. This model represents one of the commercially available exciters that are categorised by IEEE.



Figure 5- 5: IEEE Alternator Supplied Rectifier Excitation System (AC1A) [5.23].

The reciprocating engine used for the prime mover is shown schematically in Figure 5-6. The widely applied Woodward governor model is used to control a diesel engine model approximated by a delay expressed as an s-domain exponential function. The typical parameters available within the PSCAD/EMTDC library and based on practical data is used for the model, and they are listed in table 23 and 24 in Appendix A [5.22].



Figure 5- 6: Diesel engine and governor model

The electrical data of the generator is obtained from [5.24]. Generator rating is 28kVA, nominal voltage and current are 400V and 24.65A respectively, and the generator speed is 3000rpm. The machine impedances and time constants are listed in Table 22 in Appendix A [5.24].

B- Grid-excited 1-Phase Asynchronous Generator driven by Microwind Turbine

Single phase induction machine model

Microwind turbines are normally interfaced directly by asynchronous generators because such generators can run at different speeds, or interfaced by asynchronous generators and inverters. But the transient stability can be an issue when microwind turbines are interfaced to the grid directly by rotating machines. Microwind at residential level is connected to single-phase induction machines. Therefore, a small scale microwind turbine interfaced by a single-phase induction generator is modelled in this section.

The basic operation principles of single-phase induction machines are discussed in detail in [5.5], and are summarised as follows. Generally, for single-phase motor applications, the machine winding will produce no rotating magnetic field and hence no starting torque will be developed. So it is required to split this single winding (i.e. stator winding) into two with phase shift between their currents and hence rotating magnetic field will be produced. The two windings are displaced in space and time, and are connected in parallel to each other, and both are connected to the supply. One of the windings is the running winding and it is called main winding and the other is the starting winding which is called the auxiliary winding. The main purpose of the auxiliary winding in single-phase induction machines is to rotate the rotor at the start by making its current lead the current of the main winding as shown in Figure 5-7.



Figure 5- 7: Main and auxiliary windings connection diagram of a single-phase induction machine

 V_s is a single phase ac source, and R_m and R_a are the main and auxiliary resistances. While X_m and X_a are the main and auxiliary reactances, and normally the main winding has a higher reactance with more turns, and lower resistance with comparison to the auxiliary.

The transient single-phase machine model is described in [5.25] and [5.26] and based on all the quantities of the basic machine equations to be transformed to d-q reference frame. All the electrical quantities and parameters of the machine are referred to the stator main and auxiliary windings axes. This model has been build in PSCAD/EMTDC and used in the transient stability analysis of a single-phase induction microgenerator connected to LV distribution network. The equations of d-q stator and rotor voltages components are given in (19) - (22), and the transient equivalent circuits are shown in Figure 5-8 and Figure 5-9.

d-q stator voltages components:

$$V_{qs} = R_{ms}i_{qs} + p\psi_{qs} \tag{19}$$

$$V_{ds} = -R_{as}i_{ds} - p\psi_{ds} \tag{20}$$

d-q rotor voltages components:

$$V_{qr} = R_{mr}i_{qr} + p\psi_{qr} - p\theta_r\psi_{dr}$$
(21)

$$V_{dr} = R_{ar}i_{dr} + p\psi_{dr} + p\theta_r\psi_{qr}$$
(22)

 θ_r is defined as the angle by which the rotor winding axis leads the stator main winding axis (q-axis) with a constant rotor angular velocity ω_r . The subscripts *ar* and *mr* denote the auxiliary and main windings of the rotor, and *as* and *ms* denote the auxiliary and main windings of the stator.

 $p \theta_r \psi_{dr}$ and $p \theta_r \psi_{qr}$ in the rotor voltage equations represent voltage created in the rotor windings which move at the slip speed $p \theta_r = S \omega_s$. For generator case, S and $p \theta_r$ are negative, so the rotor d-q voltages can be written as:

$$V_{dr} = R_{ar} \cdot i_{dr} + \frac{d\psi_{dr}}{dt} + N\omega_r \psi_{qr}$$
⁽²³⁾

$$V_{qr} = R_{mr} \cdot \dot{i}_{qr} + \frac{d\psi_{qr}}{dt} - \frac{\omega_r}{N} \psi_{dr}$$
(24)

Where N is the ratio of the number of the auxiliary windings turns to the number of the main windings turns.

- V_{ds} , V_{dr} d-axis stator and rotor voltages (V)
- V_{qs} , V_{qr} q-axis stator and rotor voltages (V)

 R_{ms} , R_{as} main winding and auxiliary winding stator resistance (Ω)

 R_{mr}, R_{ar} main winding and auxiliary winding rotor resistance (Ω)

 ψ_{ds}, ψ_{dr} d-axis stator and rotor flux linkage components (H.A)

 ψ_{qs}, ψ_{qr} q-axis stator and rotor flux linkage components (H.A)

 ω_r electrical angular velocity and it is equal to mechanical speed multiply the number of pole pairs



Figure 5-8: q-axis (main windings)



Figure 5-9: d-axis (auxiliary windings)

The model takes into account the three important terms in asynchronous machine models as stated in [5.3]. The terms are; the drop term *R.i*, the transient term $\frac{d\psi}{dt}$, and the speed voltage term $N\omega_r\psi$.

Electrical power and torque:

The instantaneous power input to the stator is equal to $P_s = v_{ms} i_{ms} + v_{as} i_{as}$ and in the d-q axes is equal to $P_s = (v_{ds} i_{ds} + v_{qs} i_{qs})$ (25)

The instantaneous power input to the rotor is $P_r = (v_{dr} i_{dr} + v_{qr} i_{qr})$, and the power associated with the speed voltage term $(N\omega_r \psi)$ is equal to

$$P_r = ((1/N)\psi_{qr}i_{dr} - N\psi_{dr}i_{qr})(p\theta_r)$$
⁽²⁶⁾

The electromagnetic torque developed within the machine is obtained as the power associated with the speed voltages term $(N\omega_r\psi)$ divided by the shaft speed in

mechanical radian per second [5.3]. The rotor speed is equal to $-(p\theta_r)(2/Pole)$, and the torque is equal to $T_e = ((1/N)\psi_{qr}i_{dr} - (N)\psi_{dr}i_{qr})\frac{Pole}{2}$. $T_e = P.N(\psi_{qr}.i_{dr}-\psi_{dr}.i_{qr})$ (27)

Microwind turbine model

The single-phase induction generator is assumed to be driven by a small size microwind turbine to deliver from (1-1.5kVA) output power based on the machine parameters and the mechanical speed. However, sometimes it is difficult to exactly identify the output power from a microgenerator wind turbine driven where the output power depends directly on a variable wind resource. Generally, the power produced by the wind generator depends on the average wind speed, the air density, and other factors. The electrical generated power can be calculated from the following formula [5.27]:

$$P = \frac{1}{2}\rho \times A \times V^3 \tag{28}$$

Where ρ is the air density, A is the area swept by the propellers, and V is the average wind speed.

The micro turbine model is developed in PSCAD, and it is assumed to be driven by a constant speed. Practical data regarding to the turbine dimensions and wind speed to provide power in range of few kilowatts is used for the model, and it is taken from the Swift Wind Energy System website [5.28]. From the power curve of the Swift device it has been identified that approximate average speed to provide from 1-1.5kVA power is around 16.5m/s. The other basic data used for the model is listed in Appendix C.



Figure 5- 10: (a) PSCAD single-phase induction machine model (b) PSCAD wind turbine model

Since the machine is used in the studies as grid-connected, its excitation is made by the reactive power drawn from the grid. Any operation in isolation from the grid is not considered, so no excitation capacitances are used, and in the simulation only a capacitor for the machine power factor correction is used. All stator and rotor parameters are listed in Table 25 in Appendix C and obtained from [5.29][5.30], and [5.31].

5.5 Transient studies

The purpose of the transient studies conducted in this section is to investigate the transient performance of a range of LV connected microgeneration with different technologies and sizes in response to realistic network faults and thereby ascertain the range of conditions under which microgeneration might be expected to trip. The transient studies are divided into two parts; fault studies, and simultaneous disconnection and reconnection of large numbers of microgeneration studies.

5.5.1 Fault studies

The fault studies investigate in detail the impact of different fault locations, typical fault clearance times and generator/prime mover technologies on the ability of grid-connected microgenerators to maintain stability during and after clearing of both transient local and remote faults on the system. Any protection associated with the microgeneration has not been included in order to demonstrate their inherent capability and response.

In order to investigate the impact of different fault locations on the microgeneration transient performance, three fault scenarios cases as shown in Figure 5- 3 are considered in the studies. A transient local fault is assumed in case 1 to occur within the premises (i.e. residential and commercial) where the microgenerator is connected. In case 2 a transient fault is applied on the LV adjacent feeder, and in case 3 the fault is applied on a remote location on MV side. For each case the transient response and performance of the two types of microgeneration technologies (i.e. microgenerator interfaced by a three-phase synchronous machine and single-phase induction machine) is examined.

A- Three-Phase Synchronous Machine for microgeneration application (28kVA)

This type of technology is considered, because most of CHP microgeneration driven by reciprocating engines and connected at commercial and industrial level are interfaced by three-phase synchronous generators. Therefore, the following studies present the investigation of the transient stability of a small diesel as an CHP example powered three-phase synchronous generator connected to the LV distribution network described

previously in Figure 5- 3. This will identify the resilience level of such technologies to ride through different transient disturbances on the system.

In this section the local and remote faults are considered to be three-phase to ground and the critical clearance time (CCT) is calculated during each case. The studies are performed for two values of combined inertia constant (H = 1s and 1.5s) and simulation results are shown for fault clearance times in excess of the CCT to illustrate the impact of generator pole slipping.

Case 1: Fault within LV Commercial Premises

The CCT for a three-phase fault applied within the same commercial premises as the generator was found by trial-and-error simulation studies to be 310ms and 336ms for the inertia constant values of 1s and 1.5s respectively. Figure 5- 11 illustrates the instability of the generator (H = 1s) by showing the machine angle responses for a fault duration larger than the CCT of the machine and applied at 20s. During the fault as illustrated in Figure 5- 11 the machine angle has fallen to zero, and the rotor has been accelerated up to 1.1pu due to the complete collapse of the machine terminal voltage as shown in Figure 5- 11c. When the fault is cleared after 350ms, the onset of instability can be observed from Figure 5- 11a where the rotor angle has increased rapidly to reach 180° within 80ms, and slipped at 1.1pu speed after the fault is cleared.

From the studies conducted in [5.6] it has been shown that in most of the cases for local fault the protection of distributed generation will operate around 100ms. So, faults within the commercial premises will be quickly cleared by the substantial fault current contribution from the mains supply and the low rating of the protection devices downstream. Thus wide instability arising from these events would be limited. It is expected that only a single machine may be tripped and such local fault will be cleared very quickly and may not impact the other machines connected nearby.



Figure 5- 11: The transient performance of 28kVA three-phase synch machine during local three-phase fault (a) machine angle, (b) shaft speed & (c) terminal voltage

Case 2: Fault on adjacent LV Circuit

In this case the fault is applied on the adjacent LV circuit as drawn in Figure 5-3. The fault is assumed to be applied at the end of adjacent LV feeder of a typical distribution network. The aim of this case is to quantify the resilience of the machine when a fault is experienced on the local LV distribution network. The results of the machine transient response with H=1s to such fault scenario are sketched in Figure 5-12. The fault is applied at 20 second and it lasts for 500msec as shown below on the figures. From a, b, and c figures below, it can be clearly observed that instability did not occur due to the relatively high retained voltage at the generator terminals.




Figure 5- 12: The transient performance of 28kVA three-phase synch machine during an adjacent three-phase fault (a) machine angle, (b) shaft speed & (c) terminal voltage

Case 3: Electrically Remote faults on MV Network

Two specific fault conditions are applied on the MV side of the secondary substation and the CCT of the machine is found for both cases with different inertia constants. The first fault condition is when a three-phase fault applied adjacent to the MV terminals of the secondary substation transformer. The second is when the same fault is applied at a remote location on MV circuit. These two fault scenarios are considered in order to address the fault ride through capabilities of the microgeneration due to remote faults where the protection (i.e. at MV level) could last few hundred milliseconds to clear the fault.

For the first fault condition, the CCTs are identified by the simulation studies as being 312ms and 340ms for the inertia constant values of 1s and 1.5s respectively. As for the second remote fault condition, the fault is assumed to be placed 500m far from the MV main bus along a length of cable as shown in Figure 5- 3. For the remote fault the CCTs of the generator are found be equal to 330ms and 353ms for H=1 and 1.5s respectively. Figure 5- 13 and Figure 5- 14 illustrate the transient instability response of the machine when the fault duration exceeds the machine CCT with the drop in terminal voltage again evident. When the fault is applied adjacent to the MV terminals of the substation at time=20s the voltage on the machine terminal falls to zero, and this has led the

machine rotor to speed up during the fault as shown in Figure 5- 13b, and after the fault is cleared the machine angle increases rapidly until the machine reaches 180° and slipped at speed 1.16pu, and the stability of the machine is lost. During the second fault condition when the fault is applied at a remote location on MV circuit, the machine has experienced the same performance but the maximum rotor speed that has been reached by the machine was smaller due to the 20% retained voltage on the machine terminals.



Figure 5- 13: The transient performance of 28kVA three-phase synch machine during MV transformer terminal fault - (a) machine angle, (b) shaft speed & (c) terminal voltage



Figure 5- 14: The transient performance of 28kVA three-phase synch machine during remote MV fault - (a) machine angle & (b) terminal voltage

B- Single-Phase Asynchronous Machine for microgeneration application

The following studies present the investigation of the transient performance of different size of small scale asynchronous generator. Two sizes of grid-exited asynchronous generator are used for the studies 1hp generator (746W) with power factor correction to provide 1kVA and 1.5kVA. These sizes are considered because they represent the typical size of small scale generators that could be connected at residential level, and also can be used to provide an understanding of how a grid-connected single-phase induction generator with different size can perform during fault conditions applied at different locations.

The same three cases regarding the fault locations applied for studies in section (I) are also applied in this section, and the fault type is considered to be a single-phase to earth at each location. The critical fault clearance times CCTs of the generators are found, and any nuisance tripping of the microgeneration that may occur due to different fault locations on the system is identified.

Case 1: Local fault within LV Residential Dwelling

In this case a solid single-phase fault is assumed to occur within the residential dwelling where the microgenerator is connected. The response of two different size microgenerators (1kVA & 1.5kVA) to the fault is examined, and the CCTs at each condition are found. The results of the studies are based on the comparison between the machine performance within the range of fault clearance less than the machine CCT and the machine performance after CCT is exceeded. The transient performance is examined in each case by assessing the machine output power, the machine speed, and the developed electromagnetic torque during and after clearing the fault.

Transient performance of 1kVA single-phase asynchronous generator

From the simulation studies, the 1kVA asynchronous generator output power during the fault has very quickly collapsed after the fault duration exceeds 83msec as shown in Figure 5- 15. So the machine can not ride through such fault if the fault lasts more than 83msec. This is evident by the machine developed electromagnetic torque shown in Figure 5- 16 where the torque recovers for the fault duration equal to 83msec, and it has

collapsed to zero after exceeding this duration. This in turn will lead to release a relatively large kinetic energy gained during the fault within period larger than the CCT. This energy speeds up the machine rotor to uncontrollable speed and instability occurs. Figure 5- 17 illustrates the machine rotor performance in terms of the slip and speed when the fault duration is less than CCT and when it is large than the CCT of the machine. When the fault duration exceeds the machine CCT insufficient electrical torque is developed which does not have any impact on damping the machine speed, and hence instability is experienced. Over-speed protection would be required to operate to avoid damage to the machine and to avoid drawing a comparatively large amount of reactive power from the network. So for such small scale microgenerator with quite small inertia it will be very difficult to ride through large local disturbances such solid phase to earth short-circuit, and the trip of the machine is necessary.



Figure 5- 15: The transient performance of 1kVA single-phase induction generator during and after a local fault: the real output power during stable and unstable operation after the fault



Figure 5-16: The electromagnetic developed torque of 1kVA single-phase induction

generator during stable and unstable operation



Figure 5- 17: 1kVA single-phase induction generator rotor performance: (a) the machine slip during stable and unstable operation & (b) the machine speed during stable and unstable operation

Transient performance of 1.5kVA single-phase asynchronous generator

The CCT of 1.5kVA generator during a local single-phase to earth fault has been found by the simulation studies to be equal to 93msec. The real and reactive output powers of the machine which reflect the machine performance before, during, and after the local fault are shown on Figure 5- 18. Also the comparison between the machine capability to ride through the fault and the machine incapability to do so is evidently explained by the performance of the developed electromagnetic torque shown on Figure 5- 19. The figure shows the collapse of the torque when the fault duration lasts more than 93msec. The impact of the developed torque during and after the fault on the machine rotor speed is shown on Figure 5- 20.



Figure 5- 18: The real and reactive output power of 1.5kVA single-phase induction generator during stable and unstable operation



Figure 5- 19: The electromagnetic developed torque of 1.5kVA single-phase induction generator during stable and unstable operation



Figure 5- 20: 1.5kVA single-phase induction generator rotor performance: (a) the machine slip during stable and unstable operation & (b) the machine speed during stable and unstable operation

Case 2: Fault on adjacent LV Circuit

In this case a single-phase fault is applied on an adjacent LV circuit as sketched in Figure 5-3. The fault at such location has impacted the microgenerator connected on the other LV feeder. The 1kVA machine terminal voltage drops up to 76% of the nominal voltage as shown in Figure 5-21. The results of the simulation studies have found that is the 76% drop in the machine terminal voltage stays longer than 142msec the machine will experience instability performance, and it will not be capable of delivering power to the network after the fault is cleared. Therefore, the machine CCT is equal to 142msec

for such type of fault. This is shown in Figure 5- 22. This is observed almost the same for 1.5kVA machine. The torque, slip, and the speed response during the adjacent fault are shown in Figure 5- 23 and Figure 5- 24 respectively. All variables undergo relatively small perturbations and return to their pre-fault values once the fault has been cleared before 142msec. However, this fault may not be seen as problematic if the local protection at the adjacent feeder is able to clear the fault within few milliseconds. In chapter four of the thesis a similar fault was cleared within 75msec. So faults occurs on LV side will be cleared very quickly because of the low operating rating of the protective devices at that level.



Figure 5-21: The machine terminal voltage response during adjacent fault



Figure 5- 22: The real and reactive output power of single-phase induction generator stable and unstable response to the adjacent fault



Figure 5- 23: The developed electromagnetic torque of single-phase induction generator stable and unstable response to the adjacent fault



Figure 5- 24: Single-phase induction generator rotor stable and unstable performance during adjacent fault: (a) the machine slip & (b) the machine rotor speed

Case 3: Electrically Remote Fault on MV Network

In this case the fault is applied at two locations on the MV side of the test network shown on Figure 5- 3. The first location is at the main 11kV bus, and the other is at remote location on MV circuit with length assumed to be 1500m. The length of the cable is assumed to be longer than the case study for three-phase microgenerator. This is because from the case 1 and 2 of this section the results show that small scale single-phase induction generator is very sensitive to fault conditions on the system, so if the further remote fault still has an impact on the generator performance then remedial solutions are vital. The transient response of the microgenerator with size 1kVA and 1.5kVA is investigated for both fault locations.

The fault is applied at MV bus

When the fault is applied at main 11kV bus, the voltage at LV falls to zero as shown on Figure 5- 25. The figure shows the voltage during the fault with two different durations. One is equal to the CCT of the microgenerator and the other is large than CCT, so the stable and unstable performance can be understood. The CCTs of 1kVA and 1.5kVA are found to be very close to each other and are equal to 78msec and 91msec respectively as shown below on the figures. The performance of each machine is determined by studying the response of the output power, developed torque, and slip and speed before, during, and after the fault and with two different durations as in Figure 5- 26, Figure 5- 27, and Figure 5- 28.



Figure 5- 25: The single-phase induction generator terminals voltage response to the fault at MV bus: (a) the terminal voltage of 1kVA machine & (b) the terminal voltage of 1.5kVA machine



Figure 5- 26: The real and reactive output power of single-phase induction generator stable and unstable response to the fault at MV bus: (a) the output powers of 1kVA machine & (b) the output powers of 1.5kVA machine



Figure 5- 27: The developed electromagnetic of single-phase induction generator stable and unstable response to the fault at MV bus: (a) the developed torque of 1kVA machine & (b) the developed torque of 1.5kVA machine



Figure 5- 28: The single-phase induction generator rotor stable and unstable performance during the fault at MV bus: (a) the 1kVA machine slip response & (b) the 1.5kVA machine slip response

The fault is applied at remote location on MV circuit

During this fault condition, there is a retained voltage at the terminal of the microgenerator. Figure 5- 29 below illustrates that the three-phase-to earth fault at 1500m far from the main MV bus has reduced the voltage on the machine terminal to 50% of the nominal value. This drop in the voltage is tested by the simulation on the transient performance of 1kVA which is more sensitive. The results have found that if such voltage dips lasts more than 96msec, the machine will definitely experience instability phenomena. The transient performance of the machine within the stability and instability margins is explained by the response of the machine output power, the

developed torque, and the speed to the applied fault condition. The response is shown in Figure 5- 30, Figure 5- 31, and Figure 5- 32.



Figure 5- 29: The single-phase induction generator terminals voltage response to the fault applied at remote location the MV circuit



Figure 5- 30: The real and reactive output powers of 1kVA single-phase induction generator stable and stable performance during the fault applied at remote location on the MV circuit



Figure 5- 31: The developed 1kVA single-phase machine torque response during the fault applied at remote location on MV circuit



Figure 5- 32: The single-phase induction generator rotor stable and unstable performance during the fault at remote location on MV circuit: (a) the 1kVA machine slip response & (b) the 1kVA machine speed response

The impact of the remote fault considered in case 3 has also been examined on a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration interfaced by single-phase induction generators. The studies have been conducted when 90% of microgeneration penetration in respect to the local load (i.e. 162kVA across the feeder as considered in chapter three) is connected to LV feeder at residential level. The total numbers of microgenerators that have been modelled and used in the studies to represent 90% of the local load of the LV feeder are 97 microgenerators. When the remote faults in case 3 were applied to the network all the microgeneration penetration has become unstable when the fault lasted more than 80msec. This means the instability of microgeneration has been noticed 20% less than the typical protection time if 100msec is assumed as the typical protection operating times.

Therefore, remote fault scenarios applied in case 3 can be seen as most problematic scenario compared to other two local scenarios. The main difference between the two cases (i.e. local and remote faults) is that during local faults the impact on the microgeneration transient performance remains local due to the fast operation of the local protective devices, while during the remote fault scenario where the protection takes relatively longer time to clear the fault a wide area of LV connected microgeneration would be affected, and most of the microgenerators connected downstream to the fault would simultaneously trip. The simultaneous disconnection as well as reconnection of large amount of microgeneration may impact the distribution network performance, therefore, the impact of unnecessary disconnection and reconnection of microgeneration to an LV feeder is studied in the next section.

5.5.2 Simultaneous microgeneration disconnection and reconnection studies

The voltage profile and the voltage fluctuation during disturbances should remain within acceptable limits. The fluctuation limits are defined in Engineering Recommendation P28 not to exceed 3% of the nominal voltage. From the transient performances studies in section (5.5), the single-phase induction microgenerators are more likely to suffer from remote faults and experience unnecessary trip. The tripping of these devices simultaneously may impact the voltage profile and voltage fluctuation at low voltage networks. Therefore, the studies in this section examine the impact of tripping a large

number of single-phase induction microgenerators within small area of distribution network at the same time due to transient instability. In addition, the simultaneous reconnection of a large penetration of single-phase induction microgeneration on voltage step changes at the point of the common coupling (PCC) is investigated.

The studies conducted the tripping and reconnection of the microgeneration penetration meeting 90% of the local load. All the microgenerators are connected in first case to one phase and the impact of tripping and reconnecting the microgenerators on the single phase voltage step and the voltage unbalance compared to other two phases is examined. The second case is when the microgenerators are equally distributed across all the three phases and the impact on the voltage step changes at PCC location is examined.

A- Studies of simultaneous disconnection of large amount of microgeneration impact on LV system

All the microgenerators are connected to phase C. Before the microgenerators are simultaneously disconnected from the feeder, the RMS voltage of all the three phases are measured during the simulation studies at the LV distribution board of the secondary substation in order to assess the impact of microgeneration on the voltage unbalance between the phases. Figure 5- 33 shows that phase C which accommodates the microgeneration has lower voltage, and this is because of the absorption of the reactive power from the grid by the induction machines. The difference between the average of all the three phase (239.0V) and individual phase C (238.2V) as shown in Figure 5- 33 is equal to 0.33% of the nominal voltage. This value is within the recommended limits for voltage unbalance in the UK which are defined in Engineering Recommendation P29 to not exceed the limit of 1.3% difference between the average of all three phase voltage.

When all the microgenerators are disconnected simultaneously at 1.5s from phase C the voltage on phase C is jumped up to be almost equal to other RMS voltages of phase A and B as shown on Figure 5- 33. However, the voltage step is only 1.3% and it is still within the statutory limits which are defied in Engineering Recommendation P28 to not exceed 3% of the nominal voltage. When the microgenerators are connected equally

across all three phases, so each feeder, the voltage unbalance between the phase is almost disappear, and the voltage steps still within the allowed limits and slightly lower than when all generators are connected to one phase. This is shown in Figure 5- 34.



Figure 5- 33: The RMS voltage unbalance at the PCC between phase C and other two phases A and B



Figure 5- 34: The voltage step changes of the three phases at the PCC due to simultaneous disconnection of large amount of LC connected microgeneration

B- Studies of simultaneous reconnection of large amount of microgeneration impact on LV system

If large amount of microgeneration are unnecessary disconnected due to transient fault condition on the system, then the impact of bringing heavy level of microgeneration back to the grid would require studies in order to widen the understanding of the impact of transient instability of microgeneration that may have on the system performance. In G83 it has been recommended that following a protection initiated disconnection, the microgeneration is to remain disconnected from the DNOs network until the voltage and frequency at the supply terminals has remained within the nominal limits for at least 3 minutes. In this section, two scenarios of reconnections are considered. One is when all the microgenerators are reconnected together simultaneously, and the other is when the reconnection is spread over a period of time. The study investigates the step changes in supply voltage experienced due to the reconnection of 90% microgeneration interfaced to the network by single-phase induction generators at residential level. The microgenerators are reconnected in one case to the same phase, and in other case to all the three phases.

When a large number of induction generators are connected to the mains at LV side, the machines will draw large amount of reactive power at the instant of the connection, and after short time when the machines run at required slip the drawn reactive power is reduced to certain level. During this period induction machines could impact the voltage profile at LV level. This is evident by the obtained results in this section. When all the microgenerators are connected simultaneously at time 1.5s to the LV feeder as shown in Figure 5-35, a voltage step has been observed. The step in voltage at the instant of the reconnection has reached -2.3% of the nominal voltage 240V as shown in Figure 5-35a. The voltage magnitude is reduced to 234.5V for few seconds before the voltage returns back to its normal as in the Figure 5-35 below. The change in the voltage steps is still within the allowed limit that is identified in Engineering Recommendation P28 not to be more than 3% of the nominal voltage. However, it is not negligible because the voltage step -2.3% is caused by microgeneration connected to only one feeder of the LV cell and meeting 90%. Another issue that may be caused by such voltage step is impacting traditional instantaneous overcurrent protection. Such an impact has not been considered in the thesis, and it could be investigated in future research. The simultaneous reconnection of the microgenerators has also impacted the sinusoidal waveform of the phase voltage as shown in Figure 5- 35b. Such impact may impair the quality of supply provided by the DNO to the other customers.





Figure 5- 35: The impact of simultaneous reconnection of large amount of microgeneration to one phase of the voltage performance at LV substation: (a) the impact on the RMS voltages & (b) the impact on the voltage waveforms

When all microgenerators are reconnected at the same moment to the three phase feeders together, the sinusoidal waveforms of all three phases are affected as shown below in Figure 5- 36. The results as in Figure 5- 36b have shown that the voltage step changes at PCC point can reach -1.13% of the nominal voltage. The microgeneration have taken 2.4s to reach their rating, and this has led the voltage to drop during this period due the reactive power drawn by the induction machine during starting.



Figure 5- 36: The impact of simultaneous reconnection of large amount of microgeneration across all three phases on the voltage performance at PCC: (a) the impact on the voltage waveform & (b) the impact on the RMS voltage

The effect of the spread of reconnection time on the voltage of the LV bus at the secondary substation has also been demonstrated. In the simulation studies 30% of the total microgeneration are reconnected simultaneously at time 1.5s, and after 0.5s another 30% are together connected to the system, and after another 0.5s extra 30% are connected simultaneously. During this spread of reconnection the voltage steps down to -1%, -1.5%, and -1.8% respectively as shown in Figure 5- 37a. This means the time of reconnecting large numbers of microgenerators is very important. For example, when all the penetration of local microgeneration is connected at the same time the voltage has dropped to -2.3%, and when the same amount of microgeneration is divided into three

groups and connected during spread of reconnection time, the impact has been found to be less, and the largest voltage steps has been found to be 1.8%. This is as result of connecting the second and the third penetration during the starting of the microgeneration of the first penetration. During the starting of microgeneration interfaced by induction machines, a large reactive power will be drawn until the machines reach steady state operation mode. So when other microgenerators are connected during this period the voltage step will be larger. For example, when 60% of total microgeneration are reconnected during the starting of already connected 30% of microgeneration as shown in Figure 5- 37b, the voltage step has reached -2.4% which is almost similar to the voltage step experienced when all the 90% of microgeneration are connected simultaneously. So, not only the level of the microgeneration penetration reconnections.

To prove this, the same amount of microgeneration shown in Figure 5- 37a have been reconnected within larger interval between the three reconnections as shown in Figure 5- 38. The results have shown that when the second and third microgeneration penetration are connected to the network at time equal to 3s and 6s respectively, the voltage steps have been found to be very much insignificant (-0.6%) compared to the previous as in Figure 5- 37. This means if a large penetration of microgeneration is disconnected due to unstable performance and then being reconnected again within very short period of time (i.e. during the starting period) the voltage steps may become an issue. If this is not considered then degradation in the quality of the supply may result.



(a) The impact of the spread of reconnection time of microgeneration with very small intervals on the RMS voltage of the LV bus at the secondary substation



(b) The impact simultaneous reconnection of 60% of microgeneration on the RMS voltage of the LV bus at the secondary substation

Figure 5- 37: The impact of reconnection of large amount of microgeneration with different penetration at different time



Figure 5- 38: The impact of the spread of reconnection time of microgeneration with large intervals on the RMS voltage of the LV bus at the secondary substation

5.6 Chapter summary

The studies of this chapter have investigated the transient performance of a range of LV connected small scale microgeneration technologies in response to realistic network faults applied at different locations. Two types of technologies have been considered: a small scale CHP based on diesel engine driving a three-phase synchronous machine connected within commercial premises; and a small microwind turbine interfaced directly within residential dwellings by a single-phase induction generator. The studies have provided an understanding of how LV connected microgeneration within a Highly Distributed Power Systems (HDPS) will respond to different faulted conditions on the system. The studies have specified the conditions under which circumstances that microgeneration will be unnecessarily tripped by unstable performance due to system transient disturbances and when they can survive the disturbances. The finding of the studies are summarised as follows:

• The transient stability phenomenon of LV connected microgeneration is a significant issue due to the nature of the microgeneration with very small inertia and limited controllability. In addition, the performance of the protection of traditional distribution systems is not sufficient enough for supporting the fault ride through capabilities of microgeneration with small scales and connected at LV distribution level.

- The transient stability of microgeneration is detrimentally affected by MV remote faults on urban network more than local faults. Local faults can be cleared very fast due to the low operating time of downstream protection, and their impact will be limited to very limited number of microgeneration. While MV remote faults on urban networks at two different locations at main MV bus and at 1.5km far from the MV bus have led to large voltage dips on the LV system which in turn have resulted in widespread instability of all the microgeneration connected downstream. In addition, the operating time of upstream protection at MV of urban network could last few hundreds milliseconds, this may not support the local generation transient stability. Based on the chapter literature review which is based on utility experience the typical operating time was chosen to be 100msec.
- The response of 28kVA three-phase microgenerator interfaced by synchronous generator at commercial level to the MV remote faults has shown that the machine will experience unstable operation if the fault lasts more than 330ms. Unstable operation of such machine still can be avoided, because based on typical protection time the fault will be cleared before 330ms.
- The MV remote fault impact has been studied on the transient performance of LV connected microgeneration interfaced by single-phase induction generators and meeting 90% of the local average load. It has been observed that all these microgeneration will go unstable following the remote fault in 20% less time than the typical protection operating time.
- The impact of simultaneous nuisance tripping of microgeneration meeting 90% of the local load on the local network performance has been demonstrated. Simultaneous disconnection and reconnection of this amount of local generation has impaired the network voltage at the main bus of the secondary substation and caused local power quality issue by forcing voltage unbalance and voltage steps to be close to the allowed limits identified in Engineering Recommendation P28 and

P29. When all the amount of microgeneration was reconnected simultaneously the voltage step has reached -2.3% which is just 0.7% under the normal limits -3%.

The effect of the spread of reconnection time on the voltage of the LV bus at the secondary substation has also been demonstrated. The results of the studies have found that the intervals of reconnecting large numbers of microgenerators are very important. When the total amount of microgeneration is divided into three groups and reconnected during spread of reconnection time, the impact on the local voltage profile has been found to be less compared to simultaneous reconnection. This is true when the intervals between the reconnections are larger than the starting time of the already connected microgeneration. However, when a high penetration of microgeneration is reconnected during the starting of other already connected microgeneration interfaced by induction machines where a large reactive power will be drawn, the voltage steps will be larger. Therefore, if a large penetration of microgeneration is disconnected due to unstable performance and then being reconnected again within very short period of time (i.e. during the starting period) the voltage steps may become an issue, and degradation in the quality of the supply may emerge. To avoid such operation, microgeneration with a high penetration should be reconnected within suitable intervals.

To sum up, a nuisance tripping of microgeneration as consequence of microgeneration instability due to remote MV faults on an urban network example has been experienced. This in turn would impose numbers of issues including the result in impaired local power quality due to voltage fluctuation. A source of interference between the local network performance and connected microgeneration under fault conditions as consequences of transient instability of the LV connected microgeneration has been observed. Therefore, a remedial measure by which the impact of remote faults at MV level on the microgeneration transient performance is reduced is vital in future power systems. The work in chapter six exclusively proposes the using of Resistive-type Superconducting Fault Current Limiters (RSFCLs) as remedial measures to improve significantly the fault ride through capabilities of a large penetration of LV connected microgeneration to remote MV faults.

5.7 Chapter References

- [5.1] Ramnarayan Patel, T. S. Bhatti and D. P. Kothari, "MATLAB/Simulink-based transient stability analysis of a multimachine power system", International Journal of Electrical Engineering Education 39/4, Centre of Energy Studies, Indian Institute of Technology, New Delhi, India.
- [5.2] Prabha Kundur (Canada), John Paserba (USA), Sylvain Viter (France), "Overview on Definition and Classification of Power System Stability", On behalf of IEEE/CIGRE Joint Task Force on Stability Terms and Definitions, Quality and Security of Electric Power Delivery Systems, CIGER/IEEE PES International Symposium, Oct. 2003.
- [5.3] P. Kundur, Power System Stability and Control, EPRI Power System Engineering Series, (Mc Graw-Hill, New York, 1994).
- [5.4] Hui-Min Tan, R. Zivanovic, "Transient Stability Sensitivity Analysis of a Simplified Power System", Power Engineering Conference, AUPEC 2007, Australasian Universities, pp. 1-7, 9-12 Dec. 2007.
- [5.5] Irving L. Kosow, Electric Machinery and Transformers, second edition, pp 340, 1999.
- [5.6] Xyngi, I. ; Ishchenko, A. ; Popov, M. ; van der Sluis, L. "Transient Stability Analysis of Distribution Network with Dispersed Generation", IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, pp. 1102-1104, May 2009.
- [5.7] P. M. Anderson and A. A. Fouad, Power System Control and Stability: Iowa University Press, 1977.
- [5.8] IEEE Committee Report, "Proposed terms and definitions for power system stability", IEEE Transactions, PAS-101, pp. 1894-1898, 1982.
- [5.9] Tomonobu Senjyu, Norihide Sueyoshi, Katsumi Uezato, Hideki Fujita, and Toshihisa Funabashi, "Transient Stability Analysis of Induction Generator Using Torque-Time Characteristic", the Fifth International Conference on Power Electronics and Drive Systems, PEDS2003, Vol.1, pp. 760-765, 17-20 Nov. 2003.
- [5.10] D. Seyoum, N. Hossien-Zadeh, and P. J. Wolfs, "The dynamic stability analysis of induction generators, Australasian Universities Power Engineering Conference, AUPEC 2004, Brisbane, Australia, 26-29 September 2004.

- [5.11] L. Shridhar, B. Singh, and C. S. Jha, "Transient performance of the self regulated short-shunt self excited induction generator," IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, vol. 10, no.2, pp. 261-267, June 1995.
- [5.12] R. C. Bansal, "Three-phase self-excited induction generators: an overview", IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, Vol. 20, No.2, June 2005.
- [5.13] Li Wang, and Ching-Huei Lee, "A novel analysis on the performance of an isolated self-excited induction generator", IEEE Transaction on Energy Conversion, Vol. 12, No. 2, June 1997.
- [5.14] M. S. Sarma, Electric Machines, Steady-State Theory and Dynamic Performance, USA: West Publishing Company, 1985.
- [5.15] DTI Power from the People: DTI Microgeneration Strategy. UK Department of Trade and Industry. Stationary Office, London. 2006
- [5.16] Ioanna Xyngi, Marjan Popov, Anton Ishchenko, Lou van der Sluis, "Protection, Transient Stability and Fault Ride-Through Issues in Distribution Networks with Dispersed Generation", The 43th International Universities Power Engineering Conference, 2208, UPEC, pp.1-5, 1-4 Sep. 2008.
- [5.17] Energy Networks Association (ana), Engineering Recommendation G59/1 for the connection of embedded generating plant to the public electricity suppliers' distribution systems, 1991, Engineering Directorate, ana, London.
- [5.18] K. Salman, I.M. Rida, "Investigating the Impact of Embedded Generation on Relay Settings of Utilities' Electrical Feeders", IEEE Trans. on Power Delivery, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 246-251, April 2001.
- [5.19] M. K. Donnelly, J. E. Dagle, D. J. Trudnowski, G. J. Rogres, "Impacts of the distributed utilities on transmission system stability", IEEE Trans. On Power Systems, pp 741-746, May 1996.
- [5.20] EMTDC TM, "Transient Analysis for PSCAD Power System Simulation", User Guide, Manitoba HVDC Research Centre, pp 101-103.
- [5.21] James Hunt, a UK-based writer on energy issues, Power-Gen worldwide, "Reciprocating engines for CHP - developments allow competition with gas turbines", available online at: http://www.powergenworldwide.com/index.html
- [5.22] The PSCAD Master Library-Machine section, EMTDC TM, Transient Analysis for PSCAD Power System Simulation tools, version 4.2.1.

- [5.23] IEEE Recommended Practice for Excitation System Models for Power System Stability Studies, IEEE Std 421.5-1992.
- [5.24] Cummins Generator Technologies, Cummins Inc, Stamford, data sheet number BCI164A available online at: http://www.cumminsgeneratortechnologies.com/en/download/datasheets/
- [5.25] P. C. Krause, O. Wasynczuk, S. D. Sudhoff, "Analysis of Electric Machinery and Drive Systems," 2nd ed., PP 141-154.
- [5.26] O. Ojo. "The Transient and Qualitative Performance of a Self-Excited Single Phase Induction Generator", IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, volume 10, No. 3, pp.493-501, Sep. 1995.
- [5.27] Fontes, N., Roque, A., Maia, J., "Micro Generation-Solar and Wind Hybrid System", the 5th International Conference on European Electricity Market 2008, pp.1-5, 28-30 May 2008.
- [5.28] Swift Wind Energy System, technical specifications of upwind horizontal axis microwind turbine, available online at: <u>http://www.renewabledevices.com/rd-swift-turbines/overview/</u>
- [5.29] Olorunfemi Ojo, Pbasohan Omozusi, Antonio Ginart, Ben Gonoh, "The operation of a stand-alone single-phase induction generator using a single-phase pulse-width modulated inverter with a battery supply", IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp 526-531 September 1999.
- [5.30] Sencer Unal, Mehmet Ozdemir, Sedat Sunter, "Voltage and frequency control of a single-phase self-excited asynchronous generator", International Aegean Conference on Electrical Machines and Power Electronics (ACEMP), Istanbul-Turkey, pp 509-514, May 2004.
- [5.31] M. M. R. Ahmed, "Improving connection and disconnection of a small scale distributed generator using solid-state controller", 13th International Power Electronics and Motion Control Conference (EPE-PEMC 2008), pp 1866-1871, 1-3 Sep. 2008.

Chapter Six: Analysis of Transient Performance Enhancement of LV Connected Microgeneration by Using Resistive-Type Superconducting Fault Current Limiters

6.1 Introduction

The studies in the previous chapters three, four, and five have found numbers of problems that can emerge within local distribution networks incorporated with a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration under transient fault conditions. It was found that adding heavy amount of generation at low voltage networks could result in the prospective short circuit current exceeding the rating of the switchgear connected to the network. This may cause damage to the installed equipment. Also it was found that remote faults on the MV distribution circuits would lead to undesirable and widespread tripping of all downstream connected small scale single-phase microgeneration. The results have shown that from technical perspective, disconnection or reconnection of considerable amount of microgeneration due to transient instability would impair the performance of the local distribution network by causing voltage unbalance and voltage steps to exceed the nominal limits, and this would impact the supply quality of most of the connected customers.

On the strength of the results obtained from the previous three chapters where the fault level can be an issue in urban networks due to microgeneration connection, and also the finding that MV remote faults' impact on the LV connected microgeneration is more severe than the local faults, and the high sensitivity of the microgeneration units weakening the stiffness of the host network performance, this chapter proposes a network solution that can manage these emerging problems. The proposed solution is based on using resistive-type superconducting fault current limiters (RSFCLs) by which the transient stability of a large number of LV connected microgeneration is significantly improved, and at the same time the impact of the units on the network performance such as the contribution to the fault level is managed.

The RSFCL is used because of its significant advantages compared to other measures which are discussed in detail in section (6.2). The section investigates the advantages of the usage of the transient characteristics of RSFCL as a remedial measure to improve the transient performance of large numbers of LV connected microgenerators. The main operation principles of RSFCL are discussed in section (6.3). Section (6.4) investigates practical locations of RSFCL in the distribution networks, and section (6.5) introduces a new analytical method that can used to determine the minimum resistive element of RSFCL that is required to ensure the stability of large numbers of single-phase induction microgenerators during remote faults. The effectiveness of the method is validated in section 6.6) by using detailed transient stability studies by using a digital simulation program PSCAD and detailed microgeneration transient stability.

6.2 Supporting transient performance of LV distribution networks incorporating a high penetration of microgeneration

Since improving the fault ride through capabilities of LV connected small scale microgeneration can play a significant role in supporting the performance of local distribution systems, enhancing the microgeneration fault ride through becomes highly desirable. In terms of improving the transient performance a number of solutions have been proposed and developed by different researchers. Some research such as in [6.1] and [6.2] have explained that any measures reducing the rotor acceleration or regulating the generator terminal voltage during the fault will improve the machine transient response. However, most of the measures that have been developed to enhance the transient performance of rotating machines as documented in numbers of articles are suitable for large distributed generators.

6.2.1 Examples of measures for transient performance improvement

Some examples of the developed measures for transient stability improvement of distribution networks integrated with distributed generation interfaced by rotating machines are outlined as following:

- The stability of an induction generator which is widely used to interface wind turbines into the grid can be improved by using braking resistors connected to the machine rotor windings such a scheme operates based on comparing the received signals to predetermined threshold values (e.g. machine speed and terminal voltage) [6.1][6.2].
- The transient stability of distributed generation interfaced by induction machines can be also improved by the employment of an electronically controlled external resistance connected to the machine rotor windings. This can reduce acceleration of the rotor during transient faults. The induction machines stability could also be improved by controlling and supporting the voltage applied to the rotor through a static converter [6.3].
- The use of novel fast clearance protection schemes to protect distributed generation could improve transient stability and also improve power quality by reducing voltage sag duration [6.4].
- Coordination of voltage sags at the machine terminals and the overcurrent protection of distributed generator in order to disconnect the machine in favour of other sensitive equipments can ride through voltage dips caused by faults [6.5].
- It has been proposed that the fault ride through capabilities could be improved by the adjustment of the generator under-voltage protection according to CCT-voltage dip curves. Using the curves would improve the machine transient stability performance during larger voltage dips [6.6].

- There are some other measures to improve the transient performance of rotating machines such as excitation, stabilizers, and governor controls which are used for relatively large synchronous machines [6.6][6.7].
- System reconfiguration can be used sometimes for transient stability improvement. For example such a scheme incorporating post fault switching could allow separation of two parallel lines that would increase the impedance of the network, and hence the voltage dips on the nearby machines would be less and the stress on the machine would be reduced.

From the above examples it can be very clearly seen that most of the measures if not all provide device level solutions. The techniques could be applicable to large machines where they have limited number on the system and their sizes allow some level of controllability. But it may become unrealistic to apply such solutions to each individual device of millions of microgenerators with few kilowatts ratings. Results in chapter five have evidently shown that small scale microgeneration particularly those interfaced by single-phase induction generators will reach their speed limits very fast. So applying corrective solutions to each individual device may not be financially viable and technically inefficient where the distribution networks cover normally very wide areas of the power systems. Also making a radical change in the existing protection of distribution systems to allow large amounts of distributed generation to ride through faults may require a wide area of system changes, and this could be a costly solution [6.5]. Another disadvantage of applying some of the above traditional methods for improving the system transient performance is consequently reducing the reliability level and at the same time increasing the losses. This has been shown in the case of the system reconfiguration method.

Therefore, the nature of microgeneration as sensitive units with poor transient performance, the high density of the units distributed over the LV networks, and the source of the biggest problem recognised here is as stemming from remote faults, necessitates a solution that considers all these factors. When a large penetration of
microgeneration is installed within LV distribution networks, network based solutions are preferable to individual device based solutions. This is because the network based solutions will improve the performance of a wider area of distribution networks, and hence support the performance of a higher penetration of local generation.

6.2.2 Using SFCL for improving the transient performance of active distribution networks

The thesis in this chapter proposes the usage of Superconducting Fault Current Limiter (SFCL) as remedial measure that would provide useful contribution to both the network performance and the microgeneration units in terms of transient performance. This is, mitigating the problems associated with the microgeneration transient stability issue, while also managing the fault level contribution made by microgeneration. This would help avoid the costly solutions such as upgrading equipment or reconfiguring distribution networks. The SFCL has numbers of useful characteristics that can support the system performance during fault conditions. These characteristics are discussed as follows:

- From technical perspective SFCLs can react within milliseconds, and this is necessary for an improved transient response.
- The SFCLs provide almost zero impedance during normal operation, and its impedance is developed as a limitation element during fault conditions based on the amount of the fault current. So the SFCL is a self-operated device that is controlled by the condition of the currents passing through it.
- SFCLs are feasible to be installed in urban and suburban distribution systems between the substation busbar and medium-voltage (MV) feeders [6.8]. For distribution level SFCL application, the heat management is less of a problem than SFCL application for transmission systems. Thus the SFCL is more practical to be first put in action in distribution systems [6.9].

- SFCL is a fast and an effective measure which forces the fault currents to be reduced providing additional headroom against switchgear ratings, and providing improved sag performance to consumers connected to unfaulted feeders. SFCL would help to avoid the replacement of the overdutied circuit breakers as well as the need for network reconfiguration (i.e. avoid split buses) which may reduce the reliability level and increase the losses [6.10].
- The application of the SFCL would not only decrease the stresses on devices but also offer a higher interconnection to secure the network, and it can be very effective means to enhance the power quality in terms of managing the voltage drops [6.9][6.10][6.11]. Offering a higher system interconnectivity and better power quality could be a real need for future power grids which would have extreme complexity.
- Another significant advantage of SFCLs application is the automatic recovery property which allows continuous operation of the limiter on the power system and removes the need for service calls following each fault limiting operation [6.12].

The SFCLs can be either inductive or resistive types, however, resistive types (RSFCL) have an added advantage of currently being more available for commercialization [6.13]. In addition to the lower cost compared with other SFCLs, RSFCL is the most attractive from the simplicity and the size (i.e. more compact) point of view [6.8]. This could be an important point when the limiter is equipped in urban networks where space plant can be an issue. Also resistive types not only restrain the fault currents but also consume electrical energy during the fault, suppressing the excessive kinetic energy of fault-contributing generators [6.13]. The RSFCL increases the decay speed of the fault current by reducing the time constant of the decay component of the fault currents, and it can also make the system less inductive [6.14]. Therefore, RSFCL type is considered to support the microgeneration ride through capabilities.

6.3 The principles of RSFCL supporting microgeneration fault ride through

The RSFCL limiter is a device that ideally should not impact the system by its presence in the case of normal operation. The basic principles for all types of RSFCL in terms of limiting the system fault current are relatively straightforward. During normal conditions the superconducting material of the RSFCL presents zero resistance. When the fault appears a high current flows and a high non-linear resistance is inherently developed within the path of the fault current to cause current limiting which minimises the fault current to the required level. Reduction in the fault current is directly resulting in reduction in the voltage dips on the nearby areas to the fault location. This will lead to improving the retained voltage on the terminals of microgeneration connected to the system, and hence reducing the acceleration force applied on the affected machine rotor and improving the transient performance of the machine.

The value of the RSFCL non-linear resistance is a function of different parameters, such as the current flows through the limiter (i.e. normal and fault current), the fault duration, and the superconducting materials which include the permissible temperature of the superconductor and the volume and the size of the superconductor [6.15]. Therefore, the limiter's resistance curve changes as a function of time, and the change is based on the change in the current magnitude and the temperature of the superconductor. So how much resistance the limiter can provide during the fault and how fast this resistance can be increased during the fault will dictate how significant the RSFCL to improve the microgeneration connected close to the faulted area. The RSFCL can provide a rapid action to limit the fault current within first peak, but on the other hand it can not recover rapidly from limiting state to superconducting state. It needs some time depends on the cooling down of the superconductor. The resistance profile of the limiter during the fault can be identified by the following equation [6.15].

$$R_{fcl} = \frac{V_s}{I_f} = \frac{V_s}{th.w.\sqrt{\frac{C_p.\Delta T}{\rho.\Delta t}}}$$
(29)

Where R_{fcl} is the FCL resistance V_s is the system RMS voltage

 ΔT is the maximum permissible temperature rise

- Δt is the fault duration
- ρ , th, and w are the resistivity, thickness and width of the superconductor
- C_p is the effective specific heat of the superconductor

RSFCL requirements

These are some of RSFCL ideal requirements when the limiter is used to support the transient performance of distribution systems [6.16]

- The limiter should not impact the protection coordination strategy.
- The limiter needs to react within the first peak of the fault current.
- The limiter should exhibit low impedance and low energy losses in normal operation.
- The limiter should provide a smooth and gradual change of impedance from the normal to fault mode and vice-versa.
- The limiter should contain fail-safe operation.

6.4 Practical locations of RSFCL in the distribution networks

The location of SFCL in distribution networks in order to manage the fault level issues and support the system stability is a significant issue to be addressed [6.17]. This is because, not all the locations of SFCL will enhance the transient stability of the distribution system, and particularly the stability of connected microgeneration. This can be explained further by the following examples which describe different SFCL locations, outline the impact of these locations on the stability performance and other side benefits, and identify the disadvantages and issues associated with these locations.

A- Generation connection

In this case the SFCL can be added in series with a particular connected generator if the infeed from the generator is expected to introduce a fault level problem as shown below in Figure 6- 1. According to [6.17] such SFCL application is normally applied in industrial, distributed generation, and transmission level. From stability perspective, if the generator is a synchronous machine, then the impedance between the generator and

the fault would be higher compared to not using SFCL, and this may increase the CCT of the generator. However, SFCL at this location will have a limited impact on the transient stability improvement of the generator. This is because the limiter is not located between the fault and the grid, and this will make the voltage of the main bust to drop to zero during the fault and hence impacting the machine performance.



Figure 6-1: SFCL is in series with grid-connected distributed generator

Adding SFCL to the location shown in Figure 6-1 is still useful from fault level perspective to avoid the replacement of the system equipments, but adding SFCL to improve the stability of each of the local generators will require large numbers of SFCLs, and this may not be seen as effective cost solutions.

B- Incoming MV feeders location



Figure 6-2: SFCL in series with the substation transformer

The SFCL can also be installed at the substation between the transformer and the main MV bus as shown in Figure 6-2. Any fault on MV side will be current limited by the SFCL, so the transformer and the bus are protected from a high fault level. In terms of

transient stability, there is no general improvement to the generator transient performance for faults on either the MV side or HV side. The limiter could only improve the transient stability of the connected generator if a fault occurs on the MV side of the transformer T2. So the limiter has limited scope or useful impact from the transient stability perspective. The main advantage of this configuration is using a single limiter to protect downstream feeders to the transformers, and this can save cost. However, the limiter can not reduce the fault contribution caused by the distributed generator shown in Figure 6-2.

C- Bus coupling connection



Figure 6- 3: SFCL bus coupling connection

Another possible application of SFCL is to be installed at the bus-tie location. This would increase the reliability of the system by avoiding the need to split buses in addition to limiting the fault contribution from the grid to faults at MV side [6.10]. The impact of the limiter on the fault level reduction would be less effective compared to the example in B. The grid fault contribution to MV fault would be limited by splitting the two transformers and hence the contribution to the fault would be dictated by the value of the transformer impedance. In terms of transient stability performance of the DG, for any faults on MV side of transformer T1 there will be no impact at all on the DG transient stability improvement. This is because the limiter is not in the position that would mitigate the voltage drop on bus 1 as shown in Figure 6- 3. For a fault at bus 2, the retained voltage on the grid side is determined by the transformer T2 impedance, and the SFCL will not provide a significant impact on improvement of the generator transient stability.

D- Outgoing MV Feeders location



Figure 6-4: SFCL connected at the beginning of MV feeders

When an SFCL is located at the beginning of each MV feeders as depicted in Figure 6-4, a significant improvement in fault level control and the transient performance of generation connected downstream to MV bus is obtained. The positive impact of the application would cover a wide area of disturbance. For example any fault on MV feeders would see its fault current controlled and the voltage dips on the main MV buses mitigated. This will help local microgeneration to ride through remote faults on the wider system. The only drawback of the application compared to the application in B (i.e. does not support microgeneration transient stability) is the cost, where more limiters are needed.

Location	Fault contribution management	Local generation transient				
	(fault on MV side)	stability improvement				
in series with distributed	Only fault contribution from	Limited impact and a				
generator	downstream is limited	single device solution				
in series with the substation	Only fault contribution from	Limited impact				
transformer	upstream is limited					
at bus coupling connection	The fault contribution from	Limited impact				
	upstream and downstream is limited					
at the beginning of MV feeders	The fault contribution from	Significant impact, and				
	upstream and downstream is limited	wide area solution				

Table 16: Different RSFCL locations added to MV distribution networks

The results from chapter five have shown that remote faults on MV networks can cause widespread tripping of all the LV connected microgeneration interfaced by single-phase induction generators. Also chapter three results have concluded that heavy penetration of microgeneration would increase the fault level at distribution networks to its limit for urban distribution network examples. Based on the comparison in Table 16 above, the most suitable location of SFCLs to mitigate these two significant problems is adding the limiters at the beginning of each MV feeders. Therefore, resistive-type SFCLs to be located at beginning of MV feeders are used in this thesis to improve the resilience level of an urban distribution network overlyed with multiple cells incorporating a high penetration of microgeneration as shown in Figure 6- 5.



Chapter Six: Analysis of Transient Performance Enhancement of LV Connected Microgeneration by Using Resistive-Type Fault Current Limiters

Figure 6- 5: An active urban distribution network with added RSFCLs and based on multiple cells

6.5 Theoretical analysis of microgeneration transient stability enhancement using RSFCL

The results in chapter five have shown that MV remote faults on distribution networks can lead to a widespread of disconnection of the LV connected microgeneration interfaced to the grid by single-phase induction generators due to the sensitivity of such small size machines to the voltage dips caused by remote faults. Therefore, this section proves how RSFCL can be used to improve the transient stability of such technologies by introducing a new mathematical approach that can be used to determine the minimum value of the resistive element of RSFCL device that needs to be reached by the limiter during the fault.

In this section the RSFCL is located between the MV buses and each of the MV outer feeders as shown above in Figure 6- 5. A test system as presented in Figure 6- 6 is used to analyse the effectiveness of RSFCL as a remedial measure to improve the transient performance of a single-phase LV-connected microgenerator unit. A three phase fault is assumed to occur on the feeder adjacent to where the microgenerator is connected as shown in Figure 6- 6 and the response of the connected unit to such a remote disturbance assessed with and without the RSFCL.



Figure 6- 6: Simplified diagram of a distribution power system with one LV-connected microgenerator



Figure 6-7: The equivalent circuit of the faulted network with inclusion of RSFCL

The equivalent circuit of the faulted network is drawn as in Figure 6-7 above. The Thevenin's equivalent circuit of the faulted network as viewed looking from the microgenerator terminals (i.e. points A-B) is calculated. The Thevenin voltage as viewed from the microgenerator terminals is:

$$\overline{V_{th}} = V_g \frac{R_{fcl}}{(R_{fcl} + R_g) + j(X_g)} = V_{th} e^{j\theta_{th}}$$
(30)

$$\left|\overline{V_{th}}\right| = V_{th} = V_g \frac{R_{fcl}}{\sqrt{(R_{fcl} + R_g)^2 + (X_g)^2}}$$
(31)

Where V_g is the grid voltage, and V_{th} is the retained voltage at the microgeneration terminals with the system faulted. R_g and X_g are the resistance and the reactance of the grid source. R_{fcl} is the developed resistance of the fault current limiter during the fault, and $\theta_{th} = \tan^{-1}(X_g/(R_{fcl} + R_g))$. The Thevenin impedance as viewed from the microgenerator terminals is:

$$Z_{th} = Z_L + Z_t + R_{fcl} // Z_g = R_{th} + jX_{th}$$
(32)

Where Z_L is the impedance of the LV cable and it is equal to $R_L + jX_L$, and Z_T is the impedance of the transformer and it is equal to the reactance jX_T .

$$Z_{th} = \frac{R_{fcl} (R_g + jX_g)}{(R_{fcl} + R_g) + jX_g} + R_L + j(X_t + X_L)$$
(33)

$$Z_{th} = \frac{R_{fcl}R_g + R_L(R_{fcl} + R_g) - X_g(X_t + X_L) + j(R_{fcl}X_g + R_LX_g + (R_{fcl} + R_g)(X_t + X_L))}{(R_{fcl} + R_g) + jX_g}$$
(34)

If the numerator and the denominator of the above equation (34) is multiplied by $(R_{fcl} + R_g) - jX_g$, then R_{th} and X_{th} can be found. The resulted denominator will be equal to $(R_{fcl} + R_g)^2 + X_g^2$, and the real part of the numerator is equal to $(R_g + R_L)R_{fcl}^2 + (R_g^2 + 2R_gR_L + X_g^2)R_{fcl} + R_L(R_g^2 + X_g^2)$ while the

imaginary part of the numerator is equal
to
$$(X_g + (X_t + X_L))R_{fcl}^2 + 2R_g(X_t + X_L)R_{fcl} + (R_g^2 + X_g^2)(X_t + X_L)$$
.

If
$$A_1 = (R_g + R_L)$$
 (35)

$$B_{1} = (R_{g}^{2} + 2R_{g}R_{L} + X_{g}^{2})$$
(36)

$$C_1 = R_L (R_g^2 + X_g^2)$$
(37)

$$A_{2} = (X_{g} + (X_{t} + X_{L}))$$
(38)

$$B_{2} = 2R_{g}(X_{t} + X_{L})$$
(39)

$$C_{2} = (R_{g}^{2} + X_{g}^{2})(X_{t} + X_{L})$$
(40)

Then the Z_{th} can be written as in the following equation (41).

$$Z_{th} = \frac{A_1 R_{fcl}^2 + B_1 R_{fcl} + C_1}{(R_{fcl} + R_g)^2 + (X_g)^2} + j \frac{A_2 R_{fcl}^2 + B_2 R_{fcl} + C_2}{(R_{fcl} + R_g)^2 + (X_g)^2} = R_{th} + j X_{th}$$
(41)

It can be seen that the R_{th} and X_{th} are functions of the resistance of the fault current limiter, and A1, B1, C1, A2, B2, and C2 are constants which consist of the parameters of the system. The faulted network in the diagram shown in Figure 6-7 can be reduced to its Thevenin's equivalent circuit as drawn below in Figure 6-8.



Figure 6-8: The Thevenin equivalent circuit of the faulted network shown in Figure 6-7

To represent the impact of the fault current limiter on the machine performance during fault conditions, the Thevenin equivalent circuit of the faulted network with the inclusion of the RSFCL as shown in Figure 6-7 can now be connected at points A and B to the equivalent circuit of the single-phase induction generator as shown in Figure 6-9.

The equivalent circuit used to represent the microgenerator is assumed to be a steady state single-phase machine model. This model is widely used with acceptable accuracy to determine the critical speed that can be reached by the machine rotor during the fault according to the results of the studies conducted in [6.18], [6.19], and [6.20]. In addition, the steady state single-phase machine model provides simplification in the derivative of the approach without significantly impacting the accuracy of the approach. This is the main reason why this model of the machine is used instead of a complete transient single-phase induction generator model which can make the derivative of the approach extremely complicated.

The steady state model of an induction machine as introduced in [6.21] is given in detail in Appendix D. The Figure 6- 9 shows the connection of the Thevenin's equivalent circuit of faulted network and the induction microgenerator.



Figure 6- 9: Thevenin's equivalent of faulted network with microgeneration interfaced by an induction machine

The dynamic performance of an induction machine as discussed in chapter five can be obtained with acceptable results by using the mathematical relationship between the developed electrical torque and the machine speed [6.20]. Figure 6- 10 shows the relationship between the torque and the slip of such a machine. Such characteristics have been used in [6.20] as an analytical method for identifying the stability margin of an induction machine.

In this chapter, the same characteristics are used to derive an analytical approach to identify the minimum value of the resistance (R_{fclmin}) that the RSFCL should have to ensure the transient stability of a high penetration of LV connected microgeneration interfaced by induction generators. The influence of RSFCL on the transient performance of an induction generator is investigated by comparing three different operating conditions of the system; pre-fault, during fault, and post-fault conditions. The investigation is conducted as follows.

A- Pre-fault condition

Before the fault occurs the limiter presents R_{fcl} equal to zero, and the connected induction generator operates on curve A as shown in Figure 6-10. Curve A represents the characteristics of the developed electrical machine torque T_e and the machine slip S when the mechanical torque T_m is assumed to be constant. The electrical torque is

changed by changing the machine speed, and it crosses the mechanical torque when $T_e = T_m$ at two points. The first crossing point is when the generator operates at the steady state slip S_0 , and the second crossing point is when the machine reaches its maximum slip (i.e. critical slip) S_{cr} as shown in Figure 6- 10. S_{cr} has been identified in many research efforts as a dynamic stability limit of induction generators, and based on its value, the critical fault clearance time of induction generators is calculated as in [6.20] and[6.22].



Figure 6-10: The impact of RSFCL on the stability margin of induction generator

B- During the fault condition

In the event of the fault and when there is no RSFCL, a sudden reduction in the machine electrical torque is experienced due to the drop in the machine terminal voltage as shown on curve B in Figure 6- 10, and as a consequence the machine rotor will rapidly speed up. If the slip exceeds S_{cr} then the machine will not return to stable operation after the clearance of the fault.

In the case with the RSFCL deployed, its resistance element R_{fcl} will start increasing from zero to its maximum value during the fault. The electrical torque T_e from the generator will fall to zero at the instant of the fault and then it will be re-developed due

to the increase in R_{fcl} . In order to ensure the transient stability and prevent the machine from reaching its stability limit, the value of R_{fcl} must be large enough to help the machine electrical torque to be developed until it exceeds the mechanical torque T_m and a damping torque is established. Therefore, the minimum value of R_{fcl} for applying a damping torque during the fault is defined at $T_e = T_m$. The value of this resistance needs to be reached by the limiter within a time before the CCT, and as soon as this value is reached the stability of the induction machine can be maintained even if the fault lasts more than the CCT. Also at this point the machine slip will reach its maximum value $S_{f \max}$ as shown on curve C in Figure 6-10. This slip will be then decreased when $T_e \ge T_m$. When R_{fcl} reaches its maximum during the fault the machine will operate stably and the slip will be reduced to a new value S_1 as shown in Figure 6-10. This value is much smaller than S_{cr} . As a result, the action of applying a damping torque during the fault period will hold the machine speed to be within the stability limit (i.e. $S_0 < slip < S_{cr}$). This will ensure the transient stability of the generator regardless of the fault clearance time, because whenever the fault is cleared the rotor speed is always less than its stability limit, and after the fault the speed will be controlled by the post-fault damping torque.

The required minimum value of R_{fcl} to maintain the transient stability of the machine is defined to be $R_{fcl \min}$ and it can be determined as follows.

When $T_e = T_m$ during the fault, R_{fcl} is equal to $R_{fcl\min}$ and the slip is equal to $S_{f\max}$. This will correspond to R_r/S of the machine steady state equivalent circuit shown in Figure 6-9 being at its smallest value and the converted electrical power in (38) being at its largest value.

$$P_{\max} = I_r^2 \frac{R_r}{S_{\max}} = \omega T_e = \omega T_m$$
(42)

Where I_r is the magnitude of the rotor current, and ω is the machine speed.

The machine magnetization reactance X_m is normally significantly larger than the rotor reactance X_r , and this can be noticed from real data of different machines as reported in [6.23] and [6.24]. Therefore, for simplification purpose, the X_m shown in Figure 6-9 is assumed to be infinite, so the circuit can be simplified and reduced as shown below in Figure 6-11.



Figure 6- 11: Simplified circuit diagram of an induction machine connected to the grid

By using the maximum power transfer theorem [6.25], the maximum power that can be delivered will occur when the load reactance is made as close to the Thevenin reactance as possible and the load resistance is set to the following value:

$$\frac{R_r}{S\max} = \sqrt{(R_{th} + R_s)^2 + (X_{th} + X_{load})^2}$$

From Figure 6-11, the $X_{load} = X_r + X_s$. Thus the maximum power is delivered when

$$\frac{R_r}{S\max} = \sqrt{(R_{th\min} + R_s)^2 + (X_{th\min} + X_r + X_s)^2}$$
(43)

Where $R_{th \min}$, and $X_{th \min}$ are the real, and imaginary parts of Thevenin's impedance respectively when $R_{fcl} = R_{fcl \min}$.

The rotor current I_r will be at its maximum when the machine slip reaches its largest value. I_r can be easily calculated as following:

$$|I_r| = \frac{V_{th\min}}{\sqrt{(R_s + \frac{R_r}{S_{\max}} + R_{th\min})^2 + (X_s + X_r + X_{th\min})^2}}$$
(44)

By substituting the Value of I_r from (44) in (42), the following equation is obtained:

$$T_{e} = T_{m} = \frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}\omega} \cdot \frac{V_{thmin}^{2}}{\left(R_{s} + \frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}} + R_{thmin}\right)^{2} + \left(X_{s} + X_{r} + X_{thmin}\right)^{2}}$$
(45)

$$\left[\left(\frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}} + (R_{s} + R_{thmin})\right)^{2} + \left(\left(X_{s} + X_{r}\right) + X_{thmin}\right)^{2}\right] = \frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}} \frac{V_{thmin}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}$$

$$\left(\frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}}\right)^{2} + 2\frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}}(R_{s} + R_{thmin}) + (R_{s} + R_{thmin})^{2} + \left[X_{thmin} + \left(X_{s} + X_{r}\right)\right]^{2} = \frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}} \frac{V_{thmin}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}$$

$$\left(\frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}}\right)^{2} + \left(R_{s} + R_{thmin}\right)^{2} + \left[X_{thmin} + \left(X_{s} + X_{r}\right)\right]^{2} = \frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}} \frac{V_{thmin}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}} - 2\frac{R_{r}}{S_{\max}}(R_{s} + R_{thmin})$$

$$(46)$$

By substituting the value of $\frac{R_r}{S_{\text{max}}}$ from (43) in the equation (46), the following equation

is resulted.

$$2(R_{thmin} + R_s)^2 + 2(X_{thmin} + X_s + X_r)^2 = \sqrt{(R_{thmin} + R_s)^2 + (X_{thmin} + X_s + X_r)^2} \left[\frac{V_{thmin}^2}{\omega T_m} - 2(R_s + R_{thmin})\right]$$
(47)

Taking the square of the two sides of the equation (47)

$$[(R_{llmin} + R_s)^2 + (X_{llmin} + X_s + X_r)^2]^2 = (R_{llmin} + R_s)^2 + (X_{llmin} + X_s + X_r)^2 [\frac{V_{llmin}^2}{2\omega T_m} - (R_s + R_{llmin})^2]^2$$

$$(R_{th\min} + R_s)^4 + 2(R_{th\min} + R_s)^2 (X_{th\min} + X_s + X_r)^2 + (X_{th\min} + X_s + X_r)^4 = (\frac{V_{th\min}^2}{2\omega T_m})^2 (R_{th\min} + R_s)^2 - \frac{V_{th\min}^2}{\omega T_m} (R_s + R_{th\min})^3 + (R_s + R_{th\min})^4 + (X_{th\min} + X_s + X_r)^2 [(\frac{V_{th\min}^2}{2\omega T_m})^2 - \frac{V_{th\min}^2}{\omega T_m} (R_s + R_{th\min}) + (R_s + R_{th\min})^2]$$

$$(X_{thmin} + X_s + X_r)^{2} [(R_{thmin} + R_s)^{2} + (X_{thmin} + X_s + X_r)^{2}] - \frac{V_{thmin}^{2}}{\omega T_m} [\frac{V_{thmin}^{2}}{2\omega T_m} - (R_s + R_{thmin})] [(X_{thmin} + X_s + X_r)^{2} + (R_{thmin} + R_s)^{2}] = 0$$

$$[(R_{thmin} + R_s)^{2} + (X_{thmin} + X_s + X_r)^{2}] [(X_{thmin} + X_s + X_r)^{2} - \frac{V_{thmin}^{2}}{\omega T_m} [\frac{V_{thmin}^{2}}{2\omega T_m} - (R_s + R_{thmin})] = 0$$
(48)

From equation (48) it can be seen that $(R_{thmin} + R_s)^2 + (X_{thmin} + X_s + X_r)^2 = 0$ or $[(X_{thmin} + X_s + X_r)^2 - \frac{V_{thmin}^2}{\omega T_m} [\frac{V_{thmin}^2}{2\omega T_m} - (R_s + R_{thmin})] = 0$ (49)

By substituting the values of $V_{th \min}$ from (27) and $R_{th \min}$ and $X_{th \min}$ from (41) in (49) the following equation is resulted.

$$\left(\frac{A_{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}}{(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}}\right)^{2} + 2\frac{A_{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}}{(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}}(X_{s} + X_{r}) + (X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} - V_{g}^{4}\frac{R_{fcl}^{4}\min}{(2\omega T_{m})^{2}[(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]^{2}} + V_{g}^{2}\frac{R_{fcl}^{2}\min}{\omega T_{m}[(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]}R_{s} + (50)$$

$$V_{g}^{2}\frac{R_{fcl}^{2}\min}{\omega T_{m}[(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]}\frac{A_{1}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{1}R_{fcl} + C_{1}}{(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}} = 0$$

From (50) the following fourth order equation (51) (i.e. function of R_{fclmin}) is obtained. The details of the derivative steps are given in Appendix (F).

$$F(R_{fcl\min}) = D_1 R_{fcl\min}^4 + D_2 R_{fcl\min}^3 + D_3 R_{fcl\min}^2 + D_4 R_{fcl\min} + D_5 = 0$$
(51)

Where the coefficients *D1*, *D2*, *D3*, *D4*, and *D5* are constants, and can be calculated from the following formulae.

$$D_{1} = A_{2}^{2} + 2A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r}) + (X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} - V_{g}^{4} \frac{1}{(2\omega T_{m})^{2}} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}} R_{s} + A_{1} \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}$$
(52)

$$D_{2} = 2A_{2}B_{2} + 4A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g} + 2B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r}) + 4R_{g}(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} + 2\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}R_{s}R_{g} + B_{1}\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}$$
(53)

$$D_{3} = (2C_{2}A_{2} + B_{2}^{2}) + 2A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(R_{g}^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}) + 4B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g} + 2C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r}) + 2(R_{g}^{2} + X_{g}^{2})(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} + 4R_{g}^{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega I_{m}}R_{s}R_{g}^{2} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega I_{m}}R_{s}(X_{g})^{2} + C_{1}\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega I_{m}}$$
(54)

$$D_4 = 2B_2C_2 + 2R_g^2B_2(X_s + X_r) + 4C_2(X_s + X_r)R_g + 2B_2(X_s + X_r)(X_g)^2 + 4R_g(R_g^2 + X_g^2)(X_s + X_r)^2$$
(55)

$$D_5 = C_2^2 + 2C_2(X_s + X_r)R_g^2 + 2C_2(X_s + X_r)(X_g)^2 + (X_s + X_r)^2(R_g^2 + X_g^2)^2$$
(56)

A1, B1, C1, A2, B2, and *C2* are constants which consist of the parameters of the system, and their formulae are given above in equations from (35) to (40).

The numerical solution of the equation (51) to find R_{fclmin} can be obtained by two ways. One is by applying Newton's method (an iterative process) [6.26] as in (57) until the desired accuracy is obtained for the resultant function of R_{fclmin} (i.e. F(R_{fclmin})=0). This has been conducted by using MATLAB to solve the equation.

$$\binom{R}{fcl\min}_{n+1}^{n+1} = \binom{R}{fcl\min}_{n}^{n} - \frac{\frac{F(R_{fcl\min})_{n}}{F'(R_{fcl\min})_{n}}}{F'(R_{fcl\min})_{n}}$$
For $n=0, 1, 2, 3, \dots$
(57)

The second is by calculating directly the roots of the equation. These roots can be easily found by using MATLAB for example, and from the obtained roots, the most suitable values of R_{fclmin} can be chosen. The obtained R_{fclmin} from the solution of equation (51) will be the minimum value of the resistance element of the SFCL that will ensure the transient stability of LV connected induction microgeneration.

C- Post fault condition

During the fault the machine is held within a stable region $T_e \ge T_m$ due to the applied damping torque as result of the RSFCL performance during the fault. So, whenever the

fault is cleared the rotor speed will be forced to slow down and return to its new steady state operating mode as shown on curve C in Figure 6- 10.

The R_{fclmin} identified in equation (51) is an important criterion to ensure that the LV connected induction microgenerator will converge to its equilibrium regardless the fault duration. This is because when the fault is cleared the machine post fault state will be within the transient stability region. So the RSFCL would have a critical value of resistance that should be reached to ensure that the limiter can be used for improving the transient stability of the downstream microgeneration or its performance would be limited only to limiting the perspective fault current.

6.6 RSFCL application for distribution systems transient stability enhancement

The main aim of studies is to investigate the effectiveness of using RSFCL as remedial measures by which the transient stability of a large penetration of LV connected microgeneration is significantly improved, and at the same time the increase in the fault level is curtailed. For a passive distribution network when an RSFCL is used to limit the fault current contribution from the grid, the limiter is designed based on the fault current that will pass through the limiter. The amount of the fault current is directly impacted by the X/R ratio of the grid source. However, for an active distribution network the mathematical approach as given in equation (51) shows that when the RSFCL is used to improve the transient stability of a small scale grid-connected induction microgenerator, the parameters of the machine as well as the parameters of the network (i.e. X/R ratio and short circuit capacity) will impact the minimum required value of the resistive element of the RSFCL. So if the same limiter is added to different distribution networks with different source impedances to improve the transient performance of same induction microgenerators, the impact on the machines transient stability will be different. In order to investigate these issues and the significance of the RSFCL transient performance on the transient stability improvement of distribution systems as well as validating the developed approach (51), the test network 2 and induction microgenerator transient models that were developed previously in chapter five are used in the studies of this chapter.

The RSFCLs are located as shown on the test network 2 diagram as in Figure 6- 12, and the studies are divided into three main sections: examining the RSFCL performance during the fault, evaluating the impact of RSFCL on the transient performance of LV connected microgeneration, and lastly investigating the significance of R_{fclmin} value on the transient stability of LV connected microgeneration. In addition, the impact of distribution systems with different X/R ratio and different machines with different parameters on the R_{fclmin} value is also investigated. The last section of the studies is also used for validating the mathematical approach developed by formula (51) for identifying the value of R_{fclmin} .



Figure 6-12: Test network 2 incorporated with RSFCL

6.7 RSFCL Model

The limiter is modelled to change its state at the instant of the fault (i.e. when the current exceeds the appropriate threshold) to limit the first peak of the fault current (peak make). The threshold value of the fault current to initiate the RSFCL is chosen to be larger than twice the full load current which is normally considered as the minimum required current for relays to operate. In [6.27] which investigates the dependence of critical current density on the Joule heat for a RSFCL, the critical current is identified based on the critical temperature of the limiter to be equal to 2.35 times the load current. Also in [6.28] and [6.29] it has been stated that the superconductor of RSFCL would be designed to have critical current from 2 to 3 times the full load current. Therefore, within the model of RSFCL developed in this section, the critical current of the RSFCL is chosen to be 3 times the full load current.

RSFCL in each phase is modelled by using a variable nonlinear resistance connected in series with an ammeter as shown in Figure 6-13, and located as in Figure 6-12. When the fault current exceeds the activation value, the resistance R will be changed nonlinearly as a function of time as shown in Figure 6-14. The resistance versus time curve is based on the model that has been developed in [6.30] to represent the transient characteristics of RSFCL as a function of fault duration time, fault current, and temperature. The resistive element of the limiter within the model reaches its maximum values within 20msec. The model of the resistive element of the limiter in [6.30] is derived by scaling the resistive characteristic produced by experimental work reported in [6.31] in defining the nonlinearity of RSFCL. The nonlinear RSFCL model is used because a linear model is not sufficient to represents the RSFCL transient characteristics [6.30]. Because the faulted feeder will be disconnected by the main breaker as shown in Figure 6-12, the recovery time of the limiter connected to the faulted feeder will have no impact on the system. Also since the limiters are added to MV feeder, and the chapter three studies have proven that the contribution from LV microgeneration to a fault at MV side will be very limited due to the presence of MV/LV transformers, and hence the reverse current provided by downstream microgeneration will not be strong enough to activate the limiters of the health feeders. This means there will be also no impact of the recovery of time the limiter of the healthy feeders because they will not be activated. Therefore the impact of the recovery time of RSFCL is ignored in the studies of this chapter.



Figure 6-13: Resistive-type superconducting fault current limiter model



Figure 6-14: The Resistive SFCL characteristics during the fault [6.30].

6.8 Transient studies

A three-phase to ground fault is assumed to be applied on the feeder at MV side as shown in Figure 6- 12. The fault is applied at time t=3.08ms with fault duration equal to 1s and voltage angle=0 to obtain the maximum asymmetrical current within the first half cycle. The fault duration of 1s is chosen to exceed the microgeneration fault critical clearance times that were found in chapter five (79msec). The simulation studies allow the quantification of the response of the RSFCL transient model on the applied fault, and the resulting influence on the transient stability of the LV connected microgenerator.

6.8.1 RSFCL Response during fault on MV circuit

Figure 6- 15 shows two results of the fault current with and without adding RSFCL at the beginning of the MV faulted feeder of the distribution network shown in Figure 6-

Chapter Six: Analysis of Transient Performance Enhancement of LV Connected Microgeneration by Using Resistive-Type Fault Current Limiters

12. Without adding RSFCL, the peak value of the transient fault current (peak make) has reached 22kA peak within first cycle. With RSFCL insertion, the results have shown no pre-fault effect, and when the protected circuit is faulted, the limiter is initiated when the fault current reaches 848.5A (peak). The first peak of the fault current is reduced by the limiter to 15kA, and when the values of the resistive element is developed according to the resistance time curve shown in Figure 6- 14, the dc component of the fault current has been rapidly removed by the limiter, and the fault current is reduced further to be 4.09kA. The limiter has provided a reduction factor ($I_{fault} / I_{limited}$) equal to 1.4 on the peak make, and reduction factor equal to 3.09 on the peak break.



Figure 6-15: Fault currents with and without the inclusion of RSFCL

The results above have shown how significant the usage of the RSFCL in limiting the perspective fault current. This would lead to numbers of advantages. For example, the reduction in the fault level even if the fault current has not exceeded the short circuit limit would reduce the stress of the heat on the protected system component, and this in turn could make the component lasts longer. Another advantage is, by using RSFCL to reduce the fault current, lower rating equipment with smaller size can be installed in small spaces. Such applications can be very important in urban areas where no many spaces are available and the cost of the land is normally very expensive. From the technical perspective, reduction in the fault current is actually resulting in reduction in the voltage dips on the nearby areas to the fault location. This can be seen as a significant measure to improve the power quality.

6.8.2 Impact of RSFCL on LV-Connected Microgeneration Transient Stability

The following presents the investigation of the impact of using RSFCL on the fault ride through capabilities of LV-connected microgeneration with different sizes. The investigation is initially achieved by studying the influence of the transient characteristics of RSFCL based on the resistance time curve shown in Figure 6- 14 on the transient response of the output power and the machine slip of 1.5kVA single-phase induction generator. The same data for the machine which was used in chapter five and available in appendix C is used within the study.

Figure 6- 16 below illustrates the transient response of grid-excited 1.5kVA single-phase induction generator connected at residential level to remote MV fault as shown on the test network 2 depicted in Figure 6- 12. The response is tested with and without adding RSFCL to the network. When there no RSFCL is deployed, the machine output power falls to zero during the fault, due to the 100% drop in the machine terminal voltage. This has led to a high acceleration of the machine rotor during the fault period as explained in Figure 6- 16b. When the fault is cleared the machine has lost its transient stability and its output power has collapsed as shown in Figure 6- 16a.

When the RSFCL is added to MV feeders and with the same fault condition, the results in Figure 6- 16 have shown a very significant improvement in the fault ride through capabilities of the downstream connected microgenerator. This is because the RSFCL during the fault period has reduced the drop in the downstream voltage, and hence the machine has experienced a retained voltage on its terminals. This retained voltage has made the machine to be capable of still providing output power, and its rotor has not been accelerated to uncontrollable level as shown in Figure 6- 16. Because the retained voltage is less than 1pu, the machine speed during the fault has been increased (i.e. within stability limits) slightly higher than the normal speed as sketched in Figure 6-16b. This increase caused the output power during the fault to be higher than the rated power until the fault is cleared. When the fault is cleared after 1s, the microgenerator has maintained its transient stability, and the machine has returned to its normal stable operation as shown in Figure 6- 16 below.



Figure 6- 16: The transient performance of grid-excited 1.5kVA 1-phase induction generator with and without using RSFCL

The results in above subsections have shown that adding RSFCL to MV feeders will remarkably limit the fault level at MV side and at the same time significantly improve the transient stability of downstream connected microgeneration during remote faults. However, the transient stability of the microgenerator has been improved because the resistance of the RSFCL has reached its maximum value 3 Ω within 20msec. This value of the resistance is larger than the required R_{fclmin} to ensure the stability of the microgenerator, and also the resistance of the limiter has exceeded the R_{fclmin} before the CCT of the machine which is equal to 79msec. Therefore, it is important to identify the

critical value that the resistance time curve of the RSFCL should reach before the critical clearance time of the downstream microgenerator in order to ensure the capability of the microgenerator to overcome transient remote faults. This can emphasise the importance of the analytical approach described in equation (51) within this chapter to determine R_{fclmin} .

6.8.3 The significance of *Rfclmin* value on the transient stability of LV connected microgeneration

RSFCL can not always improve the transient stability of connected microgeneration, even if it is sufficient for limiting the fault current. So the transient studies in this section is to quantify the significance of determining the R_{fclmin} within the resistance time curve of RSFCL on the transient performance of LV-connected microgeneration. Four singlephase induction microgenerators 1.5kVA, 1kVA (1hp), 700W, and 1.1kW are used within the studies to evaluate the impact of R_{fclmin} on their transient stability. Different size of microgeneration with different transient parameters have been used in order to quantified the impact of different machine parameters on the value of R_{fclmin} .The transient parameters of the microgenerators are obtained from [6.32], [6.33], [6.34], and [6.35]. The parameters from these sources have been evaluated by different simulation and experimental tests such as applying DC voltage to the main and auxiliary windings of single-phase induction machines to identify the windings resistances, and stand-still test, synchronous speed test, and steady state test to identify the windings and magnetizing reactance of the machines. All the machine parameters are listed in Appendix E.

The R_{fclmin} of RSFCL for transient stability of each machine to be maintained is determined within the simulation studies by trial-and-error, and listed below in Table 17. Then the values of R_{fclmin} are set as endpoints that the resistance time curves of RSFCL should reach before the CCT. Based on determined R_{fclmin} , the real resistance time curve shown in Figure 6- 14 is scaled to provide new resistance time curves with endpoints equal to R_{fclmin} that ensure the stability of each of the four microgenerators as depicted in Figure 6- 17. R_{fclmin} can be reached within 20msec similar to the curve in Figure 6-14.

Microgeneration size	1.5kVA	1kVA	700W	1.1kW
$R_{fcl\min}$ (ohm)	1.19	1.31	1.218	1.485

Table 17: The required value of R_{fclmin} of RSFCL for transient stability of each machine to be maintained



Figure 6-17: Different Resistance time curves of RSFCL during fault condition

The curves sketched in the above figure are used to evaluate the impact of different RSFCL with different resistance time curves characteristics on the transient stability of small scale induction microgenerators. During the simulation studies, the curve A with smallest resistance profile as shown in Figure 6- 17 has been found to be sufficient to maintain the transient stability of the microgenerator 1.5kVA when R_{fclmin} reached 1.19 Ω within 20msec which is smaller than the machine CCT which is equal to 79msec. The results below represent three different areas of investigation. One is when there is no RSFCL added to the system, the other is when the RSFCL is added and its resistance profile (i.e. curve A) reaches the required R_{fclmin} before the CCT of the microgenerator, and the third is when the maximum value of the RSFCL resistance time curve does not reach the value of R_{fclmin} as identified in Table 17 before the machine CCT.

In the first case as shown below in Figure 6- 18, the voltage at the terminals of the microgenerator is dropped to zero when there is no RSFCL applied. This has led the machine to experience unstable performance since the applied fault duration is larger than the CCT of the machine (i.e. 1s fault duration and the CCT was found 79msec). Figure 6- 19 shows such performance.



Figure 6- 18: The terminal voltages of grid-excited 1.5kVA 1-phase induction generator impacted by remote fault on MV circuit

When RSFCL is added and the maximum value of its resistance time curve to be reached within 20ms has been set to be equal to R_{fclmin} , the microgenerator has been held at its critical speed after 20msec of the fault occurrence until the fault is cleared after 1s. Within this period (i.e. 20msec to 1s) the retained voltage has been dropped to its critical value which was found to be 83% of the nominal voltage. Therefore, if an RSFCL with resistance profile has values less than the profile shown on curve A in Figure 6- 17, the machine will exceed its critical speed and the transient stability of the machine will be lost. This phenomena has been considered in the simulation studies by adding a RSFCL with resistance profile that has maximum resistance less than R_{fclmin} , and the results as shown in Figure 6- 19 have proven that a limiter with such transient characteristics is not a sufficient to maintain the transient stability of 1.5kVA single

phase induction microgenerator. However, the limiter is still sufficient for limiting the fault current down to 25% of the perspective fault current.



Figure 6- 19: The transient performance of grid-excited 1.5kVA 1-phase induction generator with and without using RSFCL

The results shown below in Figure 6- 20, Figure 6- 21, and Figure 6- 22 prove that based on the parameters of LV connected microgeneration machines, the RSFCL transient characteristics can be designed to ensure that the resistance of the limiter versus in time during the fault includes the R_{fclmin} that is required for stability improvement. For example during the studies, the RSFCL with curve A characteristics as shown in Figure 6- 17 was found sufficient to maintain the stability of the 1.5kVA and it is not sufficient for maintaining the stability of the other three machines as shown in figures (6-20 to 622). This has been found because of the influence of the differences in the machines stator and rotor parameters on the R_{fclmin} of the limiter.



Figure 6- 20: The transient performance of grid-excited 1kVA 1-phase induction generator with and without using RSFCL: (a) the real power output, & (b) the slip of the machine



Figure 6- 21: The transient performance of grid-excited 700W 1-phase induction generator with and without using RSFCL:



Figure 6- 22: The transient performance of grid-excited 1.1kW 1-phase induction generator with and without using RSFCL

The results of this section bring very interesting findings to identify at which conditions the RSFCL can provide two useful functions, managing the increase in the fault level and at the same time providing an enhancement of transient stability of downstream connected microgeneration, and at which condition the limiter performs only its main function (i.e. limiting the fault current). So if RSFCLs are applied for the future power system as remedial measures to improve the transient system performance, its design should consider the transient stability improvement and fault limiting functions.

6.8.4 Evaluation of the proposed analytical method to calculate R_{fclmin}

Identifying R_{fclmin} by using simulation programmes by systematically change parameters it consumes time, and requires detailed transient models and informative studies. Therefore, the analytical approach described by equation (51) can be used as a useful approach to identify the required value of R_{fclmin} based on the characteristics of the host system and the connected microgeneration. This section of studies contains two phases. One is the investigation of the impact of different distribution systems with different characteristics on the R_{fclmin} of RSFCL that can ensure the transient stability of downstream microgeneration. This can be useful to identify which RSFCL can be added to the host system to enhance the transient stability of the microgenerators connected to the system. The second phase is the investigation of the impact of different single-phase induction microgenerators with different parameters on the R_{fclmin} of RSFCL in order to identify which parameters have most impact on the R_{fclmin} value, and hence limiter design.

A- Impact of different host systems with different characteristics on R_{fclmin}

Figure 6- 23 is used to explain the concept of this section. It is assumed that identical two microgenerators are connected to different distribution systems with different parameters as shown as grid 1 and 2 in the figure below, and the transient stability of the machines connected to each system is required to be improved by RSFCL. In this case adding identical RSFCLs to each system may not give the same performance. Because the R_{fclmin} to maintain the stability of the microgenerator can be influenced by the system parameters (i.e. X and R of the system).



Figure 6-23: RSFCL added to two systems with different characteristics

To quantify the impact of different systems with different characteristics on the value of R_{fclmin} , 1kVA machines with the same parameters listed in appendix E are assumed to be connected to 11 distribution networks based on actual data with different grid parameters based on different X/R ratios at 11kV substations. The X/R ratios of the tested systems are taken from 11 actual different distribution networks operated by ScottishPower [6.36] and their data are listed in Table 18. All the parameters of the machines, LV cable, and MV/LV transformer are kept constant and only the resistance and the reactance of the used system sources R_g and X_g respectively are different for each system.

X/R	14.99	14.81	19.13	15.07	12.64	9.41	6.48	5.48	7.15	3.86	2.56
Fault	449.8	213.4	198.7	159.6	158.8	157.2	152.4	143.2	121.9	115	114
level											
(MVA)											
Rg(Ω)	0.018	0.038	0.035	0.052	0.06	0.0813	0.121	0.15	0.137	0.294	0.38
$Xg(\Omega)$	0.268	0.566	0.608	0.78	0.759	0.7655	0.785	0.831	0.982	1.01	0.98
$Zg(\Omega)$	0.269	0.567	0.609	0.758	0.762	0.7698	0.794	0.845	0.992	1.052	1.06
R_{fclmin}	1.65	3.497	3.51	4.804	4.94	5.21	6.945	8.107	8.216	13.92	17.4
(Ω)											

Table 18: Actual values of different source impedances of different 11kV substation and the calculated values of the R_{fclmin}

The R_g and X_g of each of the systems are calculated from the actual X/R ratios and the actual fault levels at the 11kV substations of the chosen networks as tabulated in Distribution Long Term Development Statement for ScottishPower Distribution [6.36]. Based on R_g and X_g values, the R_{fclmin} is calculated in each case from the approach given in equation (51) and the values are listed above in Table 18. The value of R_{fclmin} represents the required value of the resistance of the RSFCL that needs to be reached before the critical clearance time of the microgenerator (i.e. CCT from chapter five= 79msec). The results in Figure 6- 24 below show that MV distribution networks with higher source impedances will require an RSFCL with a higher resistive time curve in order to maintain the transient stability of 1kVA microgenerator connected at LV
side. For example, the substation with lowest source impedances (0.269 Ω) requires RSFCL limiter with $R_{fclmin} < 2\Omega$, while the substation with the largest source impedance as shown in Figure 6- 24 (1.06 Ω) requires a limiter with $R_{fclmin} > 17\Omega$.



Figure 6- 24: The impact of different source impedances of different distribution networks on the value of R_{fclmin}

For those 11kV substations have source impedances higher than 0.8Ω and require RSFCL with R_{fclmin} higher than 8Ω , the limiter may have a side effect on the performance of the systems. For example, if R_{fclmin} is compared to the maximum value of the actual RSFCL resistance profile (3 Ω) identified above in Figure 6- 14, the R_{fclmin} can be considered relatively high. Large R_{fclmin} may lead to increase the recovery time of the limiter where higher resistance to be reached by the limiter needs higher temperature which makes the limiter requires longer time to dissipate the heat. Also inserting a higher resistance during the fault duration will increase the reduction in the fault current and this may delay the operating times of overcurrent relays of the MV feeders. Therefore, identifying R_{fclmin} can give an indication at which condition and for which network RSFCL can be suitable for improving the transient stability and managing the increase in the fault level. For an RSFCL to be designed to support the transient performance of distribution networks, it may recommend the evaluation of a combination of the RSFCL impact on fault level, transient stability performance, and

protection performance of the networks. This evaluation has not been considered in the thesis, and it will be considered in the future work.

B- Impact of microgeneration with different parameters on *R*_{fclmin}

In this phase, only the microgenerator parameters are hypothetically changed, and their influence on the R_{fclmin} is examined. From formula (51) and from the simplified network shown early in the chapter in Figure 6- 11, it can be seen that the three machine parameters Xs, Xr, and Rs may impact the value of R_{fclmin} . The R_{fclmin} is calculated from the equation (51) in one case when the (Xs+Xr) is constant and Rs is changed, and in the second case when Rs is constant and (Xs+Xr) is changed, and the results are tabulated below in Table 19 and 20.

 $(Xs+Xr)=2\Omega$

Rs (Ω)	0	0.5	1	1.5	2	2.5	3	3.5	4
$R_{fcl\min}(\Omega)$	0.605	0.375	0.2904	0.2299	0.1936	0.1815	0.1573	0.1452	0.133

Table 19: The impact of the change in the stator resistance on the value of R_{fclmin} Rs=0 Ω

Xs+Xr (Ω)	0	1	1.5	2	2.2	2.25	2.3	2.4	2.45	2.5	2.55	2.56	2.57
$R_{fcl \min}$ (Ω)	0.007	0.229	0.363	0.605	0.834	0.92	1.041	1.428	1.815	2.613	5.832	8.312	15.66

Table 20: The impact of the change in the stator reactance on the value of R_{fclmin}

Chapter Six: Analysis of Transient Performance Enhancement of LV Connected Microgeneration by Using Resistive-Type Fault Current Limiters



Figure 6-25: The impact of the changes in the parameters Xs & Xr on the R_{fclmin}

The results above as in table 17 and 18 and shown in Figure 6- 25 can clearly illustrate that the change in the stator and rotor parameters of single-phase induction microgenerators would lead to a significant change in the required value of R_{fclmin} . It can be seen that higher reactances would require higher R_{fclmin} , and the relationship between the R_{fclmin} and Xs and Xr is nonlinear. After Xs+Xr reaches 2.5 Ω , any a slight increase in the reactances would lead R_{fclmin} to be very large, and unrealistic R_{fclmin} values compared to the actual RSFCL resistance profile as depicted in Figure 6- 14 has been experienced when Xs+Xr is equal to 2.57 Ω . While the increase in the value of the machine stator resistance has led to gradual decrease in R_{fclmin} as in Table 19.

The results from Figure 6- 24 and Figure 6- 25 can explain that the R_{fclmin} of RSFCL limiter would be significantly impacted by the grid impedances and the machine characteristics.

6.8.5 Validation of the mathematical approach (32) to identify $R_{fcl \min}$

To validate the approach developed in section 6.5 and described by equation (51), the same four machines with practical data as explained in section 6.8.3 are used within the repeated simulation studies to identify the values of R_{fclmin} , and these values are

Chapter Six: Analysis of Transient Performance Enhancement of LV Connected Microgeneration by Using Resistive-Type Fault Current Limiters

compared to the R_{fclmin} calculated from (51). Table 21 contains all the values of R_{fclmin} obtained by the mathematical equations by using steady state machine parameters, and contains the values of R_{fclmin} obtained from transient studies of the four machines.

Rating	1.5kVA	1hp	700W	1.1Kw
$R_{fcl\min}(\Omega)$ from the simulation studies	1.19	1.31	1.22	1.485
$R_{fcl\min}(\Omega)$ calculated from the approach (51)	1.561	1.65	1.621	1.76
Error %	23	20	24	15.6

Table 21: The minimum required values of R_{fclmin} to maintain the stability of LV connected 1-phase induction microgenerators

It is clear from the results in Table 21 that the values of R_{fclmin} across the two methods the repeated transient stability studies and the analytical approach are similar but the difference is not negligible. The source of the difference is mainly because of the following reasons. In the mathematical approach a steady state equivalent circuit model is used to represent the machine, and also the values of the magnetizing reactances are neglected during the derivation of the approach for reasons of simplicity. While for the transient simulation studies a detailed transient model of the machine and a typical distribution network is used for determining the value of R_{fclmin} .

The simulation results have proven that the developed mathematical method has acceptable feasibility for identifying the minimum required resistance that needs to be reached by the limiter in order to maintain the transient stability of LV connected microgeneration. The error between R_{jclmin} calculated from the mathematical method and R_{jclmin} obtained from the simulation is in such a direction that stability is not impaired. This can be explained from Table 21 where the calculated R_{jclmin} is higher than the obtained R_{jclmin} from the studies for all four microgenerators, and this means if the calculated R_{jclmin} is used instead of R_{jclmin} obtained from the simulation, the transient stability of tested microgenerators still can be improved. Therefore, the resulted error here is, however, not a significant deterrent to the validity of the analytical approach.

The obtained results from the approach are still considered acceptable, and the advantages of the analytical method outstrip the observed disadvantages. These are summarised below:

- The proposed analytical approach is based on equation solution and not trial-anderror simulation studies. Therefore, it is no longer dependent on digital transient simulation programs and detailed microgeneration transient models. Solution speed is therefore significantly improved compared to consuming time in modelling and running and repeating simulation studies several times, and hence reducing the time required for each investigation.
- For the analytical approach only steady state machine data is required, while a full set of transient data is needed for the alternative simulation based method. Since the obtained results from the approach in relative to simulation results are acceptable, this gives another advantage of using the approach in terms of simplification of data requirements.
- Another advantage that makes the analytical approach preferable as a simple guide to identify R_{fclmin} is, only limited parameters are required. The approach can also give an indication about the suitable RSFCL for different distribution systems based on the system parameters.

The main limitation of the approach is; for example if the RSFCL is design based on a certain size of machine, and the customer has changed his generator with different characteristics, then the already calculated R_{fclmin} may not provide the same transient stability performance for the new machine. Therefore, when R_{fclmin} is determined it should consider the smallest typical size of machines that are expected to be connected at domestic level.

6.9 Balancing the benefits of using RSFCLs and the added cost

The studies in chapters three and five have shown that there are two sources of the problem when the system incorporated with heavy level of microgeneration and operates under fault conditions. One is the contribution of microgeneration to the prospective fault current which can lead to fault level issues in urban network examples. The other is the impact of the network performance during fault conditions on the transient stability of LV connected microgeneration units, where unnecessary disconnection of large penetration of such units was experienced in the studies. In G83 under the network design consideration section, it has been stated that in the event that the connection of new small scale embedded generation causes or is expected to cause operational difficulties for the DNO, the DNO in co-operation with the Installer/Manufacturer shall agree how the best to alleviate these difficulties [6.37]. So, problems caused by adding new microgeneration would greatly make it imperative that the existing distribution systems require some reinforcement so that the uptake of microgeneration can be motivated. Therefore, using RSFCL as a remedial measure to mitigate the problems associated with connecting a large amount of microgeneration will benefit both, the system operator and the microgenerator owner by providing the following benefits:

- Curtailing the increased fault level. This can have technical and economic benefits by reducing the stress on the system and protecting the system. In addition, enabling the use of equipments with lower short circuit rating and smaller size, so save in the cost of the equipment and in the cost of the space can be made. Additional cost saving can be achieved by elimination or reduction of the replacement of system equipments.
- Improving the power quality by limiting the expansion of the disturbances and mitigating the voltage dips on the system.
- Supporting the stability of the system by improving the fault ride through capabilities of a large penetration of microgeneration distributed across the low voltage systems. This will maximise the benefits of microgeneration by avoiding

their unnecessary trip, so the impact of their tripping on the system can be avoided, the hours of totally depending on electricity from the grid will be reduced (i.e. more money could be saved), and the trust in such technologies could be increased. In addition, keeping renewable and low carbon microgeneration to be connected as long as possible will potentially contribute to the saving in primary energy and tackling climate change.

• Improving the system reliability by avoiding the split systems.

However, the benefits provided by the RSFCL should be balanced in practice with the cost of installing the limiters. According to the US Department of Energy (DOE), utilities pay hundreds of millions of dollars each year to maintain and add new circuit breakers to their systems to protect their grids [6.38]. The DOE believes that investing in smart technology such as FCL can save billions of dollars on transmission and distribution equipments [6.38]. In addition, fault level managed by FCL could save up to 30% of the capital investment compared to other measures [6.30]. Also, when the limiter is installed in an urban distribution network, the high cost of space for installing higher rating equipment can be reduced. So the utilities would benefit from installing SFCL. Some companies have already started installing SFCLs into medium voltage (11kV) substations in order to optimize the performance and the safety of the local power network [6.39]. This can justify the usage of RSFCL as a remedial to enhance the transient performance of distribution networks incorporating a large amount of local generation. Also taking account during the limiter design of the values of R_{fclmin} that is required for stability enhancement to be included in the limiter resistance time characteristics will increase the benefits of the limiter, and hence the cost may be justified. So since the benefits are shared between the utilities and the owner of local generation the question is who will pay for this new added component?

Under the general arrangement section of Engineering Recommendation G59/1 (i.e. recommendation for the connection of the embedded generation to the public electricity system) has clearly reported that if it is necessary for a DNO to provide extra electrical

plant, or for any other works to be carried out to enable the installation of embedded generation, the DNO may require payments in respect of any expenditure incurred in carrying out this work [6.40]. So if there is fault level issue caused by adding local generation, the DNOs may see the problem comes from the customers who own generators. On the other hand, if numbers of customers' generators are disconnected due to remote faults on the system, the customers would say why my generator is disconnected due to someone else fault? So this question would be open, and could be investigated in further research on how to share the cost based on the level of the gained benefits.

6.10 Chapter summary

On the strength of the results of this chapter, the MV distribution networks can be equipped with resistive- type superconducting fault current limiters (RSFCLs) to help the increased fault level to be controlled and at the same time help microgeneration cope with external transient disturbances on remote locations of the host network. In addition to limiting fault currents, the results of the studies have proven that RSFCL can significantly improve the transient stability of LV-connected microgeneration. In order to achieve that the investigation of the chapter has found that the most appropriate locations of RSFCLs to be deployed to the network is at MV substations in series with outgoing MV feeders. The RSFCLs at such locations have shown a considerable improvement in the cells resilience levels by providing additional headroom against switchgear short-circuit ratings, and at the same time limiting the impact within the faulted cell and providing improved voltage sag performance to consumers connected to unfaulted cells.

The effectiveness of the RSFCLs located at the ongoing MV feeders on the microgeneration transient performance were tested by using developed transient models including RSFCL transient model based on real data of its resistance profile. Informative transient studies were conducted, and the results have shown that the RSFCL is a significant device that can enhance the fault ride through capabilities of small scale microgenerators during remote faults. The device could be seen as an important element

that may take a place in the future power grids for improving distribution networks transient performance if the benefits and cost are balanced.

A new mathematical approach was developed in this chapter in order to determine the minimum required value of the resistive element of the resistance time curve of RSFCL by which the transient stability of downstream connected single-phase induction microgenerators can be improved. The approach is based on equation solution, and it was developed to determine the value of R_{fclmin} when the machine reached its critical speed. The value of R_{fclmin} would be determined by the system parameters and machine steady state parameters. The results have shown that when the resistance of the RSFCL was equal to R_{fclmin} , a damping torque on the machine during the fault was applied, and this could hold the machine speed to be within the stability limit until the fault is cleared. This has assured that the post-fault electric torque to be always equal or higher than the mechanical torque, so there was no impact of the fault duration on the machine transient performance when $R_{fcl} > R_{fclmin}$. When $R_{fcl} < R_{fclmin}$, the limiter has presented a very limited impact on the microgeneration transient stability improvement, and the machine performance was highly dictated by the fault duration.

The mathematical method was tested on different single-phase induction machines with different parameters, and the method was validated by using the time-domain PSCAD/EMTDC simulation. The calculated R_{fclmin} from the method and simulated results compared and found to be close. The obtained results have shown that using the developed mathematical approach is an effective method to calculate R_{fclmin} and reduce the reliance on detailed transient models and studies to calculate R_{fclmin} . However, because the error between the R_{fclmin} calculated from the approach (51) and the R_{fclmin} obtained from the simulation studies is about 20%, so it should be realised that further improvement for the mathematical approach is necessary to reduce such error that has resulted.

6.11 Chapter References

- [6.1] E.J. Coster, J.M.A. Myrzik, W.L. Kling, "Transient stability of distributed generation in MV-Ring networks", in proc. 2008 Transmission and Distribution Conference and Exposition, T&D. IEEE/PES. Chicago, pp.1 – 7, 21-24 April 2008.
- [6.2] W. Freitas, A. Morelato, W. Xu, "Improvement of Induction Generator Stability Using Braking Resistors", IEEE Tran. on Power Systems, Volume 19, No. 2, pp. 1247-1249, May 2004.
- [6.3] V. Akhmatove, H. Knudsen, A. H. Nielsen, J. K. Pedersen, N. K. Poulsen."Modelling and transient stability of large wind farms", Elect. Power Energy Syst., volume 25, No.1, 2003, pp. 123-144
- [6.4] R. C. Dugan and T. E. McDermott, "Distributed generation and power quality", in proc. Power Quality Assoc. (PQA) North America, Memphis, TN, 2000, pp. 343-357.
- [6.5] J. Carlos Gomes, M. Morcos, "Coordination of Voltage Sag and Overcurrent Protection in DG Systems", IEEE Tran. On Power Del. Vol. 20, No. 1, Jan 2005, pp 214-218
- [6.6] Ioanna Xyngi, Marjan Popov, Anton Ishchenko, Lou van der Sluis, "Protection, Transient Stability and Fault Ride-Through Issues in Distribution Networks with Dispersed Generation", The 43th International Universities Power Engineering Conference, 2208, UPEC, pp.1-5, 1-4 Sep. 2008.
- [6.7] P. Kundur, Power System Stability and Control. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1994.
- [6.8] A.B. Abbott, D. A Robinson, S. Perera, F. A. Darmann, C. J. Hawley, and T. P. Beales, "Simulation of HTS Saturable Core-Type FCLs for MV Distribution Systems", IEEE Trans. on Power Delivery, Vol.21 No. 2, April 2006.
- [6.9] Lin Ye, M. Majoros, T. Coombs, A. M. Campbell, "System Studies of the Superconducting Fault Current Limiter in Electrical Distribution Grids", IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity, Vol. 17, No 2, June 2007.
- [6.10] L. Ye, L. Z. Lin, and K. P. Juengst, "Application studies of superconducting fault current limiter in electric power systems", IEEE Trans. Applied Superconductivity, Vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 900-903, March 2002.

- [6.11] M. Sjostrom et al., "Enhancement of power system transient stability using superconducting fault current limiters", IEEE Trans. Applied Superconductivity, Vol. 9, no. 2, pp.900-903, March 2002.
- [6.12] M. M. A. Salama, H. Temraz, A. Y. Chikhani, M. A. Bayoumi, "Fault-Current Limiter with Thyristor-Controlled Impedance", IEEE Tran. On Power Del. Vol. 8, No. 3, July 1993, pp. 1518-1528.
- [6.13] B. W. Lee, J. Sim, K. B. Park, and I. S. Oh, "Practical Application Issues of Superconducting Fault Current Limiters for Electric Power Systems", IEEE Trans. on Applied Superconductivity, vol. 18, No. 2, June 2008.
- [6.14] P. G. Slade et al., "requirements for a distribution fault current limiters", IEEE Trans. Power Delivery, vol. 7, no.2, pp. 507-515, April 1992.
- [6.15] Swarn S. Kalsi, and Alex Malozemoff, "HTS Fault Current Limiter Concept", Power Wngineering Society General Meeting, IEEE, vol. 2, pp. 1426-1430, June 2004.
- [6.16] W. Paul and M. Chen et al., "Superconducting fault current limiter applications, technical & economical benefits and simulations & test results", in CIGRE, Paris, France, pp. 1-8, Session 13-2001.
- [6.17] BERR Emerging Energy Technologies Programme, PB Power, A. Neumann, "Application of fault current limiters", 2007.
- [6.18] Irving L. Kosow, Electric Machinery and Transformers, second edition, pp 340, 1999.
- [6.19] V. Akhmatov, H. Knudsen, M. Bruntt, A. H> Nielsen, J. K. Pedersen, and N. K. Poulsen, "A dynamic stability limit of grid-connected induction generators", in Proc, IASTED International Conference of Power and Energy, Marbella, Spain, pp.235-244, 2000.
- [6.20] A. P. Grilo, A. A. Mota, L. T. Mota, W. Freitas, "An Analytical Method for Analysis of Large-Disturbance Stability of Induction Generators", IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, Vol. 22, No. 4, November 2007.
- [6.21] Iriving L. Kosow, Electric Machinary and Transformers, 2nd Edition, pp. 305-308,1999.

- [6.22] K.C. Divya, P.S.N Rao, "Study of dynamic behavior of grid connected induction generators", IEEE Power Engineering General Meeting, vol. 2, pp.2200-2205, Jun 2004.
- [6.23] Arvind K. Tiwari, S. S. Murthy, B. Singh, and L. Shridhar, "Design-based performance evaluation of two-winding capacitor self-excited single-phase induction generator", Electric Power Systems Research 67 (2003) 89-97, February 2003. Available online at <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>.
- [6.24] S. N. Mahato, M. P. Sharma, S. P. Singh, "Transient performance of a singlephase self-regulated self-excited induction generator using a three-phase machine", ELSEVIER, ScienceDirect, Electric Power System Research 77, Sep 2006, available online at <u>www.sciencedirect.com</u>
- [6.25] Robert L. Boylestad, "Introductory circuit analysis", Pearson Education International, 10th Edition 2003, pp.817-822.
- [6.26] Robert. A. Adams, Calculus a complete course, ISBN 0-32-27000-2, Newton's Method, pp. 744-746, 6th ed. 2006.
- [6.27] H. Shimizu, Y. Yokomize, T. Matsumura, and N. Murayama, "Proposal of Flux Flow Resistance Type Fault Current Limiter Using Bi2223 High Tc Superconducting Bulk", IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity, vol. 12, No. 1, pp. 876-879, March 2002.
- [6.28] World Technology (WTEC) Division, Hyper-Librarian, "FAULT-CURRENT LIMITERS (FCL)", Published in September 1997 available online at: <u>http://www.wtec.org/loyola/scpa/04_03.htm</u>
- [6.29] M. Alizadeh Sangari, M. H. Varahram, I. Kheirizad, M. A. Khaburi, "Application Scheme of Resistive type Superconducting Fault Current Limiters to Protect 63/20 kV West Ardabil Distribution Substation from Symmetrical Short Circuit Faults", 2nd Power Systems Protection & Control Conference, Tahran.
- [6.30] Nand K. Singh, Ryan M. Tumilty, Graeme M. Burt, Chris G. Bright, Cornel C. Brozio, D. A. Roberts, Alexander C. Smith, and Mark Husband, "System-Level Studies of a MgB2 Superconducting Fault-Current Limiter in an Active

Distribution Network", IEEE Transaction on Applied Superconductivity, vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 54-60, April 2010.

- [6.31] OLIVER Andrew, SMITH Alexander C., HUSBAND Mark, BAILEY Malcolm, YALI FENG, "Assessment of Small Bend Diameter Magnesium Diboride Wire for a Superconducting Fault Current Limiter Application", in Proc. ASC2008 Applied Superconductivity Conference, Chicago, August 2008.
- [6.32] Sencer Unal, Mehmet Ozdemir, Sedat Sunter, "Voltage and frequency control of a single-phase self-excited asynchronous generator", International Aegean Conference on Electrical Machines and Power Electronics (ACEMP), Istanbul-Turkey, pp 509-514, May 2004.
- [6.33] Y. H. A. Rahim, A. I. Alolah, and R. I. Al-mudaiheem, "Performance of single phase induction generators", IEEE Tran. on Energy Conversion, Vol. 8 No. 3, pp. 389-395, September 1993.
- [6.34] S. N. Mahato, M. P. Sharma, and S. P. Singh, "Transient analysis of a singlephase self-excited induction generator using a three-phase machine feeding dynamic load", 2006.
- [6.35] Shilpkar, L.B, Singh, B., "Steady-state analysis of single-phase self-excited induction generator", Proceedings of Generation, Transmission and Distribution, Vol. 146, Issue: 5, pp. 421 – 427, 1999.
- [6.36] Distribution Long Term Development Statement for ScottichPower Distribution LTD-Year 2006/07 to 2010/11, Nov. 2006.
- [6.37] Engineering Recommendation G83/1 Recommendations for the connection of small scale embedded generators (up to 16A per phase) in parallel with public low-voltage distribution networks", Energy Networks Association, London UK 2002.
- [6.38] Superconductivity newsletter update, "Fault Current Limiters: An overview, available at: <u>http://www.superconductivitynewsupdate.com</u>
- [6.39] Nexans, press release, , "Nexans supplies innovative superconducting fault current limiter to applied superconductor Ltd for pilot UK installation", Paris, 26 February 2009, available at: <u>http://www.nexans.co.uk/Corporate/2009/Nexans_F</u> <u>CL1%20for%20ASL_GB_Short.pdf</u>

- [6.40] Energy Networks Association (ENA), Engineering Recommendation G59/1 for the connection of embedded generating plant to the public electricity suppliers' distribution systems, 1991, Engineering Directorate, ana, London.
- [6.41] J. R. S. S. Kumara, A. Atputharajah, J. B. Ekanayake, and F. J. Mumford, "Over Current Protection Coordination of Distribution Networks with Fault Current Limiters", IEEE Power Engineering Society General Meeting, pp. July 2006.
- [6.42] F. J. Mumford, and T. W. Preston, "Superconducting Fault Current Limiters-State of Art", VI SEPOPE, Salvador Brazil, 24-29 May 1998.
- [6.43] J. L. Rasolonjanahary, J. Sturgess, and E. Chong, "Design and Construction of a Magnetic Fault Current Limiter", Ukmag Society Meeting Stamford, UK, 12 October 2005.

Chapter Seven: Conclusions and future work

7.1 Conclusions

Moving to a low carbon environment, and reducing the reliance on large thermal power plants, whilst at the same time improving the sustainability of power systems, has motivated an increased interest in the integration of distributed energy resources (DERs) including microgeneration. Adding a high penetration of such technologies to a power system that has not been designed to accommodate such devices will bring a great change to the configuration of the host system. It becomes vital for such substantial amounts of microgeneration among other decentralised resources to be controlled so the local constraints are removed and the wider system is supported by the new devices aggregated response. In addition, for the support to be realised the characterisation behaviour of such penetrations requires to be understood under different system conditions to ensure benefits of DERs to be delivered.

Therefore in order to maximise the benefits of DERs, and minimise the adverse impacts that DERs may have on the system performance, this thesis presented three main contributions to support future attainment of sustainable power systems. Firstly a new conceptual control structure for a system incorporating a high penetration of DERs was developed. Secondly, the resilience level of an urban distribution network accommodating large amount of microgeneration as well as the resilience levels of microgeneration during large transient disturbances was evaluated and quantified. This included the increased fault level due to the presence of microgeneration, the impact of LV connected microgeneration on traditional LV protection performance, and the transient stability issues of LV connected microgeneration. Thirdly, a network technical solution that can support enhanced transient stability of a large number of LV connected microgenerators was introduced and demonstrated.

The system control structure based on a cell concept was proposed in the thesis as an alternative approach that can facilitate the management of the spread of heavy volumes of distributed energy resources (DERs). The proposed control structure built in hierarchical form consists of four main control levels starting from an individual device control level up to multi-cell control levels. Such hierarchical structure increases the possibility of exploiting the useful ancillary services features of local DER units in support of local and wider system. The structure also provides better coordination between DERs by allowing the inputs from DERs and groups of cells to be transferred as collective actions when it moves from a local to a wider system level.

Under fault conditions the impact of different penetrations of domestic and commercial scale microgeneration on the fault level of a typical HV-LV urban distribution network based on actual data was quantified. The results have proven that when the microgeneration have met 100% of the local domestic average load of the network, the fault level was increased by 24% of its original value at the main LV bus. Such increase forced the typical network to operate very close to its limit by lowering the fault level headroom from 26.28% to 8.2%. 65% of the contribution to the increase in the fault level was made by local microgeneration connected to the faulted cell, and the rest caused by microgeneration connected to the other adjacent LV cells. When larger microgenerators of commercial scale were added to the network with different penetrations, the available fault level headroom was significantly reduced to 2.3% when the penetration reached 100% of commercial average loads. From studying the impact of different penetrations of microgeneration on the fault level at the secondary LV bus, it has been found that the relationship between the microgeneration penetration and increased fault level is linear. Each 1kVA increase in local generation will lead to 0.0042MVA increase in the fault level at the main bus of the LV secondary substation.

Operating distribution networks very close to their short circuit limits due to lowering significantly their fault level headrooms by the connection of microgeneration (i.e. reduction up to 2/3 found by the studies based on actual data) stresses the network resulting in shorter component lifetimes to be experienced. This will increase the cost associated with connection of microgeneration as well as the cost of the space which can

be an issue in urban substations. Therefore operating close to the short circuit rating can obstruct the spread of more microgeneration uptake at LV and DGs at MV level. For safe operation and to avoid setting-back the growth of microgeneration across LV distribution networks, managing the increase in the fault level due to microgeneration integration must be introduced.

The protection issues associated with an urban example of low voltage distribution network with a high penetration of microgeneration were outlined by the studies of the thesis. The obtained results have shown that with the existing arrangement of LV protection schemes, microgeneration can cause numbers of protection issues during upstream faults. For upstream faults, the results have shown that when the upstream fault on the main LV bus is cleared from the grid side, the downstream microgeneration continue to supply the fault by reverse fault current. The reverse fault current has led to blowing the feeder fuse within 5 seconds when 100% penetration of microgeneration was connected. So, downstream microgeneration must be disconnected before this time for such load, otherwise a healthy feeder can be disconnected and extra fuse can be lost due to nuisance blowing.

The minimum amount of microgeneration penetration that can cause the reverse fault current to exceed the fuse threshold current was identified by the studies to be 47% of microgeneration, and this penetration will require about 15 minutes for blowing the fuse. If the microgeneration do not themselves sense the loss of the grid, then safety issue can be caused by feeding the fault on the system for a long period of time. If the amount of microgeneration is less than 47%, the fuse will not detect the reverse fault current and the fault would be supplied until the microgeneration trip by their own protection. Supplying upstream faults by reverse current for a few seconds can also cause a delay in the restoration time, by impacting the quick reconnection of the system by the reclosers used for quick removal of temporary faults. This may impact sensitive equipment connected to the system. Furthermore, if the reverse current caused LV fuses to blow the time of the power cut will increase due to the request to replace the fuse unit. This can cause issues of undesirable features for future systems where sustainability of supply and the ability of privately owned generators to provide local energy needs during the

power outage are one of future power systems objectives, and yet these would be countered by these effects.

The transient performance of a range of technologies of LV connected small scale microgeneration in response to realistic urban distribution network faults applied at different locations was examined. Two types of technologies were considered: a small scale CHP driving a three-phase synchronous machine connected within commercial premises; and a small microwind turbine interfaced directly within residential dwellings by a single-phase induction generator. The studies outlined under which circumstances such technologies with low inertia and limited controllability can be unnecessarily tripped due to unstable performance caused by system fault conditions.

The studies found that the transient stability of microgeneration is detrimentally affected by MV remote faults on urban distribution networks more than local faults. Local faults can be cleared very fast due to the low operating time of downstream protection, and their impact is limited to very limited number of microgenerators. While MV remote faults on urban networks at two different locations at the main MV bus and at remote location from the MV bus led to large voltage dips on the LV circuits resulting in instable performance of all the LV connected microgeneration interfaced by singlephase induction generators and meeting 90% of the local domestic average loads. It was observed that all these microgeneration will go unstable following the remote fault within 79-83msec. This is 17 to 21% less time than typical protection operating time. This was compared to a typical operating time of upstream protection devices at MV side equal to 100msec based on utilities experience.

The nuisance tripping as consequence of microgeneration instability due to remote MV faults has imposed numbers of issues including the result in impaired local power quality due to voltage fluctuation. Simultaneous disconnection and reconnection of microgeneration meeting 90% of the local load has impaired the network voltage at the main bus of the secondary substation (i.e. LV bus) by forcing voltage unbalance and voltage steps to be very close to the allowed limits identified in Engineering Recommendation P28 and P29. When all the amount of the LV connected

microgeneration tripped due to instability caused by remote faults and reconnected simultaneously, the voltage step reached -2.3% which is just 0.7% under the normal limits.

The effect of the spread of reconnection time on the voltage of the LV bus at the secondary substation has also been demonstrated, and the results of the thesis studies have found that the intervals of reconnecting large numbers of microgenerators are very important. When the total amount of microgeneration is reconnected during spread of reconnection time, the impact on the local voltage profile is less compared to simultaneous reconnection if the intervals between the reconnections are larger than the starting time of the already connected microgeneration. When a high penetration of microgeneration is reconnected during the starting of other already connected microgeneration interfaced by induction machines where a large reactive power will be drawn, the larger voltage steps will emerge. Therefore, if a large penetration of microgeneration is disconnected due to unstable performance and reconnected again within very short period of time (i.e. during the starting period), the interaction between the already connected microgeneration and still starting and the new reconnected microgeneration can lead to voltage steps to become an issue, and degradation in the quality of the supply may emerge. To avoid such operation, microgeneration with a high penetration should be reconnected within suitable intervals.

To reduce the impact of remote faults at MV level on the microgeneration transient performance, the thesis proposed a network solution based on using superconducting fault current limiters (RSFCLs). The thesis has found that the most appropriate locations of the limiters to be deployed to the network to improve microgeneration transient stability are at MV substations in series with outgoing MV feeders. The limiters at these locations can significantly help the increased fault level to be controlled by providing additional headroom against switchgear short-circuit ratings, and at the same time help downstream connected microgeneration cope with external transient disturbances on the remote locations of the host network. The effectiveness of the RSFCLs on fault level limitation and microgeneration transient stability improvement were tested by conducting informative transient studies by using developed microgeneration transient

models and RSFCL transient model with real resistance-time characteristics. The results of the studies have shown that the limiter can provide a reduction factor in the fault current $(I_{fault} / I_{limited})$ up to 1.4 of the fault current peak make and 3.09 of the fault current peak break. This in turn will lead to numbers of advantages such as reducing the stress of the heat on the protected system component which helps the component to last longer, and reduces the need for larger component with larger rating, so smaller space will be required and the cost of land which is a significant issue in urban areas can be reduced. In addition, reduction in the fault current resulting in reduction in the voltage dips on the nearby areas to the fault location, and this can be seen as a significant measure to improve system power quality.

Using RSFCL as a solution to provide improved voltage sag performance to consumers connected to unfaulted cells has been shown to significantly enhance microgeneration stability and ensure they ride through remote faults. By using an example of RSFCL with resistance-time curve based on real data, the results of transient studies have shown that the transient stability of LV connected microgeneration has been significantly improved following remote faults. This is because the rise in the limiter resistance during the fault duration will improve the retained voltage on the microgenerators terminals. Improved terminals voltage and machines rotor speed are intrinsically related, and hence the acceleration in rotor speed of single-phase induction microgenerators is reduced when terminal voltages are improved. Improving the resilience level of the faulted cell by using RSFCL will improve the fault ride through capabilities, and hence no massive disconnection of microgeneration will happen due remote faults, and power quality issues caused by voltage steps can be avoided.

In order to ensure RSFCL will provide the required retained voltage, and hence a damping torque on microgenerators interfaced by single-phase induction generators to be applied during remote faults and stability to be maintained, the thesis has introduced a new mathematical approach to determine at which condition RSFCL can maintain the transient stability of LV connected microgeneration by calculating the minimum required value of the resistive element of RSFCL (R_{fclmin}) to meet such purpose. The

approach is based on equation solution, and it can be used to determine the value of R_{fclmin} from the host system parameters and microgenerator steady state parameters. R_{fclmin} is calculated from the developed approach when the machine reaches its critical speed, so as soon the resistance-time curve of RSFCL reaches this value the transient stability of the connected induction microgenerator is maintained regardless the fault duration.

The results from the transient studies have shown that when the resistance of the RSFCL is equal to R_{fclmin} , a damping torque on the machine during the fault is applied, and this makes the machine speed to be within the stability limits until the fault is cleared. The R_{fclmin} has assured that the post-fault electric torque to be always equal or higher than the mechanical torque, and whenever the fault is cleared the stability will be maintained.

The mathematical approach to identify R_{fclmin} of RSFCL has been tested on different single-phase induction machines with different parameters, and the method has been validated by comparing the effectiveness of calculated R_{fclmin} from the approach to R_{fclmin} obtained by trial-and-error from detailed simulation transient studies by using the time-domain PSCAD/EMTDC simulation program. The calculated R_{fclmin} from the method and simulated results compared and found to be close. The obtained results have shown that using the developed mathematical approach is an effective method to calculate R_{fclmin} .

The developed method to determine R_{fclmin} has offered numbers of advantages such as; a simple method to identify the resistance required to be developed by the limiter to ensure the transient stability of a large penetration of downstream connected microgeneration, and this will offer another added function of RSFCL by improving local system transient performance as well as fault level control. Another advantage of the method is to offer recommendation of the characteristics of the limiter that will suit a certain system to ensure the stability of LV microgeneration. This is because the analysis

has shown that different systems with different short-circuit grid impedances will require different R_{fclmin} to maintain the stability of the connected microgeneration. In addition, the approach reduces the reliance on detailed transient models and informative transient studies to calculate R_{fclmin} . By using the developed method to calculate R_{fclmin} and ensuring the RSFCL response during the fault reaches the required value, failure to clear remote faults quickly are no longer result in complete unnecessary disconnection of substantial amount of microgeneration connected to low voltage distribution networks. Furthermore, the impact of this method is to help RSFCL designers to consider the required transient characteristics of RSFCL for system transient stability improvement rather than just considering the characteristics that suit fault level limitations.

By proposing a new system control structure based on a cell concept as one of the solutions that can deliver the objectives of future power systems, and understanding the transient behavioural characteristics of a system incorporating a high penetration of microgeneration and quantifying the resilience level of the microgeneration that can be connected at LV level, and introducing a network solution based on using RSFCL to improve the transient stability of large amount of LV connected microgeneration the thesis has offered very valuable contributions that can support future sustainable power systems.

7.2 Future work

Based on the work presented in this thesis, the following points summarise the future work that can be conducted to increase the uptake of more renewable and low carbon microgeneration which has the potential to contribute positively to future sustainable power systems:

- Demonstrating the cell concept by developing necessary dynamic decentralised control measures by which the negative impacts of local generation and dynamic loads on the system transient performance are minimised.
- 2- Evaluating the extent of the impact of tripping a high penetration of microgeneration on the system wide stability. Two emerging areas that may potentially be affected by microgeneration response under transient disturbances that require further research are: system frequency stability issue, and system transient stability issues.

The impact of microgeneration response during transient disturbances on low frequency events is important to be understood in order to protect a large number of consumers from being disconnected by lowering the frequency further and initiating under frequency load shedding schemes (UFLS) due to the trip of a high penetration of microgeneration.

In terms of system transient stability performance, most of the current approaches such as time domain simulation tools to analyse transient stability phenomena and identify the system transient stability boundaries use classical models to represent the system generators and constant impedances to represent the system loads. When large amount of microgeneration are added to distribution systems, such assumption may not be valid since the devices will impact the characteristics of distribution systems. Such new characteristics may impact the wider system stability margins. So, it may become important to investigate the impact of active distribution networks with different characteristics to traditional distribution networks due to the presence of a significant penetration of microgeneration on the wider system transient stability.

- 3- The impact of voltage steps caused by reconnection of a high penetration of microgeneration interfaced by single-phase induction generators on the performance of instantaneous overcurrent protection of low voltage feeders would require further investigation. This is because inrush currents caused by microgeneration reconnection may cause low set instantaneous overcurrent elements to unnecessarily trip. The impact of "cold load pickup" on the instantaneous overcurrent protection has received some research, and the impact of microgeneration reconnection would be an interesting area that needs further attention in order to make sure that undesirable protection performance will not result.
- 4- The interaction between the impact RSFCLs on the microgeneration stability performance and the existing protection performance will need to be investigated. This is because for traditional RSFCLs applications, only the interaction between protection and fault current limitation has been considered. So it is important to ensure that the minimum required value of the resistive element of RSFCLs to improve downstream connected microgeneration will not impact the operating time of the host system protection schemes.
- 5- In spite of the advantages that RSFCLs can offer as has been proven by this thesis, the devices are still considered as expensive elements. Therefore, balance between the cost and the benefits of RSFCLs needs further investigation so the cost can be justified, and how to share the cost based on the level of the gained benefits can be proposed.

Та	Н	Xd	Xd'	Xd''	Td0'	Td0''	Xq	Xq''	Tq0''	X1
(s)	(s)	pu	pu	pu	(s)	(s)	pu	pu	(s)	pu
0.004	1	2.637	0.269	0.172	0.338	0.0307	1.335	0.301	0.041	0.05
9										4

Appendix A: The parameters of 28kVA 3-phase synchronous generator

Table 22: The impedances and time constants parameters of 28kVA 3-phase

synchronous generator

AC1A Exciter Parameters	Values
Regulator gain (KA)	400 pu
Regulator time constant (Ta)	0.02s
Max reg. internal voltage (Vamax)	14.5 pu
Min reg. internal voltage (Vamin)	-14.5 pu
Max reg. output voltage (Vrmax)	3.95 pu
Min reg. internal voltage (Vrmin)	-3.85
Rate feedback gain (KF)	0.03 pu
Rate feedback time constant (TF)	1.0 s
Exciter time constant (TE)	0.80 s
Exciter constant related to field (KE)	1.0 pu
Field circuit commutating reactance	0.2 pu
Demagnitizing factor (KD)	0.38 pu
Saturation at VE1 (SE(VE1)	0.1 pu
Exciter voltage for SE1 (VE1)	4.18 pu
Saturation at VE2 (SE(VE2)	0.03 pu
Exciter voltage for SE1 (VE2)	3.14 pu

Table 23: AC1A Exciter Parameters

Woodward governor parameters	values
Gain G	1
Lead time constant T	0.25s
Lag time constant T	0.039s
Time constant of the actuator T	0.009s
Engine time delay (Td)	0.025s

Table 24: Woodward governor parameters

Appendix B: Transient model details of single-phase induction machine

The basic equations of single-phase machine stator and rotor voltages:

Voltage equations of the main and auxiliary windings can be written as follows:



Figure 1: Voltage across winding carrying ac current

$$V_{ms} = p \psi_{ms} + R_{ms} i_{ms} \tag{58}$$

$$V_{as} = p \psi_{as} + R_{sa} i_{as} \tag{59}$$

 V_{ms} is the voltage across the stator main winding.

 $V_{\mbox{\scriptsize as}}$ is the voltage across the stator auxiliary winding .

 ψ is the flux linkage of the winding indicated by subscript ms for the main, and as for the auxiliary of the stator.

 R_{sm} is the stator main winding resistance.

 R_{sa} is the stator auxiliary winding resistance.

p is the differential operator d/dt.

The flux linkage equations of the stator main and auxiliary winding can be derived as follows:

The flux linkage of stator main windings:

$$\Psi_{ms} = L_{msms}i_{ms} + L_{msmr}(i_{mr}\cos\theta_r) + L_{msar}(i_{ar}\cos(\frac{\pi}{2} - \theta_r))$$
(60)

$$\Psi_{ms} = L_{msms}i_{ms} + L_{msmr}(i_{mr}\cos\theta) - L_{msar}(i_{ar}\sin\theta)$$
(61)

Where, L_{msms} is the self-inductance of the stator main winding.

 L_{msmr} is the mutual inductance between the stator main winding and the rotor winding referred to the stator main winding.

 L_{msar} is the mutual inductance between the stator main winding and the rotor windings referred to the stator auxiliary windings.

The flux linkage of stator auxiliary windings:

$$\Psi_{as} = L_{asas}i_{as} + L_{asms}i_{ms} + L_{asmr}(i_{mr}\cos(\frac{\pi}{2} - \theta) - L_{asar}i_{ar}\cos\theta$$
(62)

$$\psi_{as} = L_{asas}i_{as} - L_{asmr}(i_{mr}\sin\theta) + L_{asar}(i_{ar}\cos\theta)$$
(63)

Where L_{asas} is the self-inductance of the stator auxiliary winding.

 L_{asmr} is the mutual inductance between the stator auxiliary winding and the rotor winding referred to the stator main winding.

 L_{asar} is the mutual inductance between the stator auxiliary winding and the rotor windings referred to the stator auxiliary windings.

It is assumed that the current induced in the shorted rotor windings produce a field with the same number of poles as that produced by the stator. So, rotor winding is considered to be modelled of the same number of stator windings (i.e. main and auxiliary windings). The rotor voltage equations and rotor flux linkage can be written as follows:

Voltage equations of the rotor windings referred to the main and auxiliary windings:

$$V_{mr} = p \psi_{mr} + R_{mr} i_{mr}$$
(64)

$$V_{ar} = p \psi_{ar} + R_{ar} i_{ar} \tag{65}$$

 R_{mr} is the main winding rotor resistance.

 ψ_{mr} is the flux linkage of the rotor main winding.

 R_{ar} is the auxiliary winding rotor resistance.

 ψ_{ar} is the flux linkage of the rotor auxiliary winding.

Flux linkage equations of the rotor referred to main and auxiliary:

$$\Psi_{mr} = L_{nrnr}i_{mr} + L_{mrms}i_{ms} + L_{mras}i_{as} \tag{66}$$

$$\Psi_{ar} = L_{arar}i_{ar} + L_{arms}i_{ms} + L_{aras}i_{as}$$
(67)

The d-q transformation

The following mathematical equations reflect transformations of the ab variables to d-q frame values applied to the single phase induction generator. The variables represent

voltages, currents and the flux linkages. All q variables refer to the main winding and d variables to the auxillary winding.

For the stator quantities:

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_{qs} \\ V_{ds} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} V_{as} \\ V_{bs} \end{bmatrix}$$
(68)

For the rotor quantities:

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_{qr} \\ V_{dr} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \theta_r & -\sin \theta_r \\ -\sin \theta_r & -\cos \theta_r \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} V_{mr} \\ V_{ar} \end{bmatrix}$$
(69)

All the quantities are referred to the stator main and the auxiliary winding axes.

Stator main (ms) and auxiliary winding (as) transformation to d-q components

 V_{qs} is on the same axis of the main winding, and V_{ds} is on the same axis of the auxiliary windings, and the angle between the main and the auxiliary winding axis is 90°. Thus the currents, voltages and flux linkage variables of the stator main and auxiliary windings can be transformed to d-q axes as follows:

Currents:

$$i_{qs} = i_{ms} \tag{70}$$

$$i_{ds} = -i_{as} \tag{71}$$

Flux linkages:

$$\psi_{qs} = \psi_{ms}$$

$$\psi_{ms} = L_{msms}i_{ms} + L_{msmr}(i_{mr}\cos\theta) - L_{msar}(i_{ar}\sin\theta)$$

$$\psi_{qs} = L_{msms}i_{qs} + L_{msmr}(i_{mr}\cos\theta) - L_{msar}(i_{ar}\sin\theta)$$
(72)

$$\psi_{ds} = -\psi_{as}$$

$$\psi_{ds} = L_{asas}i_{ds} + L_{asmr}(i_{mr}\sin\theta) + L_{asar}(i_{ar}\cos\theta)$$
(73)

Voltages:

$$V_{ms} = p \psi_{ms} + R_{ms} i_{ms}$$

$$V_{as} = p \psi_{as} + R_{as} i_{as}$$

$$V_{qs} = V_{ms} = R_{ms} i_{ms} + p \psi_{ms}$$

$$V_{ds} = -V_{as} = -R_{as} i_{as} - p \psi_{as}$$

$$V_{qs} = R_{ms}i_{qs} + p\psi_{qs} \tag{74}$$

$$V_{ds} = -R_{as}i_{ds} - p\psi_{ds} \tag{75}$$

Rotor main (mr) and auxiliary winding (ar) transformation to d-q components

The rotor of an induction machine does not have a fixed speed, and the d-q transformation for the rotor quantities should consider this fact. As mentioned aearly in this section, the θ_r is the angle by which the rotor winding axis leads q-axis. If the rotor rotates at slip *S*, then the rotor speed is equal to $S\omega_s$. So the speed will impact the angle between the rotor main winding and the q axis winding. The relationship between the induction machine rotor speed and this angle can be found from the equation below.

$$\frac{d\theta_r}{dt} = S\omega_s = p\theta_r = \omega_r \tag{76}$$

$$\theta = \omega_s t - \theta_r \tag{77}$$

By using the transformation of rotor quantities referred to the main and auxiliary of the stator to d-q frame of single phase machine as in (65) the d-q rotor currents, voltages and flux linkages can be written as follows:

d-q rotor currents components:

$$i_{qr} = i_{mr} \cos \theta_r - i_{ar} \sin \theta_r \tag{78}$$

$$i_{dr} = -i_{mr}\sin\theta_r - i_{ar}\cos\theta_r \tag{79}$$

d-q rotor flux linkage components:

$$\psi_{qr} = \psi_{mr} \cos \theta_r - \psi_{ar} \sin \theta_r \tag{80}$$

$$\psi_{dr} = -\psi_{mr}\sin\theta_r - \psi_{ar}\cos\theta_r \tag{81}$$

Where $\psi_{mr} = L_{nrnr}i_{mr} + L_{mrms}i_{ms} + L_{mras}i_{as}$ and $\psi_{ar} = L_{arar}i_{ar} + L_{arms}i_{ms} + L_{aras}i_{as}$

d-q rotor voltages components:

$$V_{qr} = R_{mr}i_{qr} + p\psi_{qr} + p\theta_r\psi_{dr}$$
(82)

$$V_{dr} = R_{ar}i_{dr} + p\psi_{dr} + p\theta_r\psi_{qr}$$
(83)

Appendix C: Transient paramaeters of single-phase induction machines

kVA	Rqs	Rds	Rqr	Rdr	Xqs	Xds	Xqr	Xdr	Xmqs	Xmds	J
	(Ω)	Kg.m2									
1kVA	4	4	3.29	5	4.5	6.95	6.95	6.95	135	77	0.0146
1.5kVA	2.2	7.62	1.3	3.5	5	2.5	6.95	6.95	180	100	0.029

V=230, N=1, and the number of the poles =4

Table 25: Tranient stability data of 1kVA and 5kVA single-phase induction machines

Data of a typical small scale wind turbin that

Average wind speed	16.5m/s
Rotor radius	1m
Rotor area	3.4m2
Air density	1.229 [kg/m^3]

Appendix D: Steady state model of single-phase induction machines

Steady state equivalent circuit of an induction machine:

During the steady state operation the transient term $p \psi$ is equal to zero. Therefore the equations of the stator d and q axes of the voltages of the transient equivelant circuit of an induction machine as discussed previously in appendix B five can be rewritten as following.

$$V_{ds} = R_s i_{ds} + p \psi_{ds} - \omega_s \psi_{qs} = R_s i_{ds} - \omega_s (L_{ss} i_{qs} - L_m i_{qr})$$

$$V_{qs} = R_s i_{qs} + p \psi_{qs} + \omega_s \psi_{ds} = R_s i_{qs} + \omega_s (L_{ss} i_{ds} + L_m i_{dr})$$

$$V_{s} = V_{ds} + jV_{qs} = R_{s}(i_{ds} + ji_{qs}) + \omega_{s}L_{ss}(ji_{ds} - i_{qs}) + \omega_{s}L_{m}(ji_{dr} - i_{qr})$$
$$V_{s} = R_{s}(i_{ds} + ji_{qs}) + j\omega_{s}L_{ss}(i_{ds} + ji_{qs}) + j\omega_{s}L_{m}(i_{dr} + ji_{qr}) = R_{s}I_{s} + j\omega_{s}L_{ss}I_{s} + j\omega_{s}L_{m}I_{r}$$

By adding the term jL_mI_s and $-jL_mI_s$ to the equation the Vs will be equal to $V_s = R_sI_s + j\omega_s(L_{ss} - L_m)I_s + j\omega_sL_m(I_s + I_r)$

The steady state voltage of the stator will be equal to

$$V_{s} = R_{s}I_{s} + jX_{s}I_{s} + jX_{m}(I_{s} + I_{r})$$
(84)

Where R_s is the stator, $X_s = \omega_s (L_{ss} - L_m)$ is the stator leakage reactance, and $X_m = \omega_s L_m$ is the magnetizing reactance.

The rotor d and q voltages Vdr and Vqr are equal to zero since the rotor circuits are shorted, therefore the d and q voltages can be written as follows:

$$V_{dr} = 0 = R_{r}i_{dr} - S\omega_{s}\psi_{qr} = R_{r}i_{dr} - S\omega_{s}(L_{rr}i_{qr} - L_{m}i_{qs})$$

$$V_{qr} = 0 = R_{r}i_{qr} + S\omega_{s} = R_{r}i_{qr} + S\omega_{s}(L_{rr}i_{dr} + L_{m}i_{ds})$$

$$V_{r} = V_{dr} + jV_{qr} = 0 = R_{r}(i_{dr} + ji_{qr}) + jS\omega_{s}L_{rr}(i_{dr} + ji_{qr}) + jS\omega_{s}L_{m}(i_{ds} + ji_{qs})$$

Dividing the equation by the slip S

$$V_{r} = V_{dr} + jV_{qr} = 0 = \frac{R_{r}}{S}I_{r} + j\omega_{s}L_{rr}I_{r} + j\omega_{s}L_{m}I_{s}$$

$$V_{r} = \frac{R_{r}}{S}I_{r} + j\omega_{s}(L_{rr} - L_{m})I_{r} + j\omega_{s}L_{m}(I_{s} + I_{r})$$

$$V_{r} = \frac{R_{r}}{S}I_{r} + jX_{r}I_{r} + jX_{m}(I_{s} + I_{r})$$
(85)

Where R_r is rotor resistance and $X_r = \omega_s (L_{rr} - L_m)$ is the rotor leakage reactance.

From the equations (84) and (85) the steady state equivalent circuit with all the values referred to the stator can be drawn as in the figure below.



Figure B-1: The steady state equivalent circuit of an induction machine

The power transferred across the air-gap is $P_{ag} = \frac{R_r}{S} I_r^2$, and the rotor resistance loss is equal to $P_{lr} = R_r I_r^2$. Appendix E: Steady state and transient parameters of single-phase induction machines with different ratings

Rating	Rg	Xg	Xt	Rl	Xl	Rs	Xs	Xr	Rr	Xm
	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)
1.5kVA	0.018	0.2684	0.0182	0.0117	0.0035	4.03	7.38	8.92	5.98	155.4
1hp	0.018	0.2684	0.0182	0.0117	0.0035	2.87	2.282	2.211	1.49	122
700W	0.018	0.2684	0.0182	0.0117	0.0035	4.0	4.5	4.5	3.29	129
1.1Kw	0.018	0.2684	0.0182	0.0117	0.0035	2.556	2.02	1.244	3.733	152.4

Table 26: Steady state data of numbers of single-phase induction generators with different ratings used for calculating $R_{fcl \min}$ from equation (51)

Rating	Rsm	Rsa	Rrm	Rra	Xsm	Xsa	Xrm	Xra	Xsm	Xsa
	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)	(Ω)
1.5kVA	2.2	4	3.29	5	2.5	6.95	6.95	6.95	135	77
1hp	3.14	11.22	4.37	8.01	3.99	6.433	3.99	6.433	122	76.65
700W	4.0	5.0	3.4	3.4	4.5	6.95	4.5	4.5	100	90
1.1kW	2.2	7.62	3.5	1.3	3.97	2.97	0.87	0.78	32	24

Table 27: Transient data of numbers of single-phase induction generators with different ratings used with transient simulation studies to identify R_{fclmin}

Appendix F: Derivative of the mathematical approach to identify the values of R_{fclmin}

By substituting the values of V_{thmin} from (31) and R_{thmin} and X_{thmin} from (41) in (49) above the following equation is resulted.

$$\left(\frac{A_{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}}{(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}}\right)^{2} + 2\frac{A_{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}}{(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}}(X_{s} + X_{r}) + (X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} - V_{g}^{4}\frac{R_{fcl}^{4}\min}{(2\omega T_{m})^{2}[(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]^{2}} + V_{g}^{2}\frac{R_{fcl}^{2}\min}{\omega T_{m}[(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]}R_{s} + \left(86\right)$$

$$V_{g}^{2}\frac{R_{fcl}^{2}\min}{\omega T_{m}[(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]}\frac{A_{1}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{1}R_{fcl} + C_{1}}{(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}} = 0$$

$$[A_{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}]^{2} + 2[(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}](X_{s} + X_{r})[A_{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}] + [(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]^{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} - V_{g}^{4}\frac{R_{fcl\min}^{4}}{(2\omega T_{m})^{2}} + V_{g}^{2}[(R_{fcl} + R_{g})^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]\frac{R_{fcl\min}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}R_{s} + V_{g}^{2}\frac{R_{fcl\min}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}[A_{1}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{1}R_{fcl} + C_{1}] = 0$$
(87)

$$A_{2}^{2}R_{fcl}^{4} + 2A_{2}B_{2}R_{fcl}^{3} + (2C_{2}A_{2} + B_{2}^{2})R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2B_{2}C_{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}^{2} + 2[A_{2}R_{fcl}^{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2R_{fcl}R_{g} + R_{g}^{2}) + B_{2}R_{fcl}(X_{s} + X_{r})(R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2R_{fcl}R_{g} + R_{g}^{2}) + C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2R_{fcl}R_{g} + R_{g}^{2}) + A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(R_{g}^{2})^{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}] + [R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2R_{fcl}R_{g} + R_{g}^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]^{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} - V_{g}^{4}\frac{R_{fclmin}^{4}}{(2\alpha T_{m})^{2}} + V_{g}^{2}[R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2R_{fcl}R_{g} + R_{g}^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]\frac{R_{fclmin}^{2}}{\alpha T_{m}}R_{s} + V_{g}^{2}\frac{R_{fclmin}^{2}}{\alpha T_{m}}[A_{1}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{1}R_{fcl} + C_{1}] = 0$$

$$(88)$$

$$A_{2}^{2}R_{fcl}^{4} + 2A_{2}B_{2}R_{fcl}^{3} + (2C_{2}A_{2} + B_{2}^{2})R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2B_{2}C_{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}^{2} + 2[A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fclmin}^{4} + 2A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}R_{fcl}^{3} + A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}^{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fclmin}^{3} + 2B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}R_{fclmin}^{3} + 2B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}R_{fclmin}^{2} + R_{g}^{2}B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fclmin}) + C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fcl}R_{g} + C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}^{2} + 2C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fcl}R_{g} + C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}^{2} + A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}] + [R_{fclmin}^{4} + 2R_{fclmin}^{2}(2R_{fcl}R_{g} + R_{g}^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}) + (2R_{fcl}R_{g} + R_{g}^{2} + (X_{g})^{2})^{2}](X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} - V_{g}^{4}\frac{R_{fclmin}^{4}}{(2\alpha T_{m})^{2}} + V_{g}^{2}[R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2R_{fcl}R_{g} + R_{g}^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}]\frac{R_{fclmin}^{2}}{\alpha T_{m}}R_{s} + V_{g}^{2}\frac{R_{fclmin}^{2}[A_{r}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{1}R_{fcl} + C_{1}] = 0$$

$$(89)$$

$$\begin{aligned} A_{2}^{2}R_{fcl}^{4} + 2A_{2}B_{2}R_{fcl}^{3} + (2C_{2}A_{2} + B_{2}^{2})R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2B_{2}C_{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}^{2} + \\ 2[A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fclmin}^{4} + 2A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}R_{fcl}^{3} + A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}^{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fclmin}^{3} + \\ 2B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}R_{fclmin}^{2} + R_{g}^{2}B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fclmin}) + \\ C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fclmin}^{2} + 2C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{fcl}R_{g} + C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}^{2} + \\ A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}R_{fcl}^{2} + B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}R_{fcl} + C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2}] + \\ [(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2}R_{fclmin}^{4} + 4R_{g}R_{fclmin}^{3}(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} + 2R_{fclmin}^{2}(R_{g}^{2} + X_{g}^{2})(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} + \\ 4R_{g}^{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2}R_{fclmin}^{2} + 4R_{fcl}R_{g}(R_{g}^{2} + X_{g}^{2})(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} + (X_{s} + X_{r})^{2}(R_{g}^{2} + X_{g}^{2})^{2}] - \\ V_{g}^{4}\frac{R_{fclmin}^{4}}{(2\omega f_{m})^{2}} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{s}R_{fclmin}^{4} + 2\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{s}R_{fclmin}^{3}R_{g} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{g}R_{g}^{2}R_{fclmin}^{2} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{g}(R_{g}^{2} + X_{g}^{2})(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2}(R_{g}^{2} + R_{g}^{2})^{2}] - \\ V_{g}^{4}\frac{R_{fclmin}^{4}}{(2\omega f_{m})^{2}} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{s}R_{fclmin}^{4} + 2\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{s}R_{fclmin}^{3}R_{g} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{g}R_{g}^{2}R_{fclmin}^{2} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{g}(R_{g}^{2} + R_{g}^{2})^{2}] - \\ A_{1}\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{fcl}^{4} + B_{1}\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{s}R_{fclmin}^{4} + C_{1}\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega f_{m}}R_{g}^{2}R_{fclmin}^{2} = 0 \end{aligned}$$

 $[A_{2}^{2}+2A_{2}(X_{s}+X_{r})+(X_{s}+X_{r})^{2}-V_{g}^{4}\frac{1}{(2\omega T_{m})^{2}}+\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}R_{s}+A_{1}\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}]R_{fcl}^{4}+$

$$[2A_{2}B_{2}+4A_{2}(X_{s}+X_{r})R_{g}+2B_{2}(X_{s}+X_{r})+4R_{g}(X_{s}+X_{r})^{2}+2\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}R_{s}R_{g}+B_{1}\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}]R_{fclmin}^{3}+$$

$$(2C_{2}A_{2}+B_{2}^{2})+2A_{2}(X_{s}+X_{r})(R_{g}^{2}+(X_{g})^{2})+4B_{2}(X_{s}+X_{r})R_{g}+2C_{2}(X_{s}+X_{r})+$$

$$2(R_{g}^{2}+X_{g}^{2})(X_{s}+X_{r})^{2}+4R_{g}^{2}(X_{s}+X_{r})^{2}+\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}R_{s}R_{g}^{2}+\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}R_{s}(X_{g})^{2}+C_{1}\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}]R_{fclmin}^{2}+$$

 $2B_{2}C_{2} + 2R_{g}^{2}B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r}) + 4C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g} + 2B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2} + 4R_{g}(R_{g}^{2} + X_{g}^{2})(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2}]R_{fclmin} + C_{2}^{2} + 2C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g}^{2} + 2C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(X_{g})^{2} + (X_{s} + X_{r})^{2}(R_{g}^{2} + X_{g}^{2})^{2} = 0$

$$F(R_{fcl\min}) = D_1 R_{fcl\min}^4 + D_2 R_{fcl\min}^3 + D_3 R_{fcl\min}^2 + D_4 R_{fcl\min} + D_5 = 0$$

Where the coefficients *D1*, *D2*, *D3*, *D4*, and *D5* are constants, and can be calculated from the following formulae.

$$D_{1} = A_{2}^{2} + 2A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r}) + (X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} - V_{g}^{4} \frac{1}{(2\omega T_{m})^{2}} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}} R_{s} + A_{1} \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}$$

$$D_2 = 2A_2B_2 + 4A_2(X_s + X_r)R_g + 2B_2(X_s + X_r) + 4R_g(X_s + X_r)^2 + 2\frac{V_g^2}{\omega T_m}R_sR_g + B_1\frac{V_g^2}{\omega T_m}$$

$$D_{3} = (2C_{2}A_{2} + B_{2}^{2}) + 2A_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})(R_{g}^{2} + (X_{g})^{2}) + 4B_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})R_{g} + 2C_{2}(X_{s} + X_{r}) + 2(R_{g}^{2} + X_{g}^{2})(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} + 4R_{g}^{2}(X_{s} + X_{r})^{2} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}R_{s}R_{g}^{2} + \frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}R_{s}(X_{g})^{2} + C_{1}\frac{V_{g}^{2}}{\omega T_{m}}$$

$$D_4 = 2B_2C_2 + 2R_g^2B_2(X_s + X_r) + 4C_2(X_s + X_r)R_g + 2B_2(X_s + X_r)(X_g)^2 + 4R_g(R_g^2 + X_g^2)(X_s + X_r)^2$$

$$D_5 = C_2^2 + 2C_2(X_s + X_r)R_g^2 + 2C_2(X_s + X_r)(X_g)^2 + (X_s + X_r)^2(R_g^2 + X_g^2)^2$$

A1, B1, C1, A2, B2, and *C2* are constants which consist of the parameters of the system, and their formulae are given above in equations (35) to (40).